Public Document Pack

PLANNING COMMITTEE C
Date of Meeting: THURSDAY, 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 TIME 7.30 PM
PLACE:

HYBRID MEETING: COUNCIL CHAMBER AND
REMOTE

Members of the Committee are summoned to attend this meeting:
Membership
Councillors:
Olurotimi Ogunbadewa (Chair)
Stephen Penfold (Vice-Chair)
Peter Bernards
Mark Ingleby
Silvana Kelleher
Louise Krupski
Hilary Moore
John Paschoud
James Rathbone
Joani Reid
The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however, occasionally committees
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in
additional formats on request.

Kim Wright
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Date: Tuesday, 21 September
2021

For further information please contact:
Claudette Minott Committee Officer
2nd Floor Civic Suite
Catford Road SE6 4RU
Email: committee@lewisham.gov.uk

Order Of Business
Item
No

Title of Report

Ward

Page
No.

1.

Declarations of Interests

1-4

2.

Minutes

5 - 14

3.

229 DEPTFORD HIGH STREET, LONDON,
SE8 3NT - DC/21/120773

Lewisham
Central

15 - 66

4.

28 DUNDALK ROAD, LONDON, SE4 2JL DC/21/120302

Telegraph Hill

67 - 110

5.

40 DEPTFORD HIGH STREET SE8 - CHANGE
OF USE - DC/21/121022

New Cross

111 - 148

6.

40 DEPTFORD HIGH STREET SE8 SHOPFRONT - DC/21/121020

New Cross

149 - 176

7.

39-43 EDDYSTONE ROAD SE4 DC/20/119755

Crofton Park

177 - 240

8.

29-35 TRANQUIL VALE, LONDON, SE3 0BU DC/21/121861

Lewisham
Central

241 - 286

Agenda Item 1
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

Class

PART 1

Date: 30 September 2021

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
(1)

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct :-

(2)

(a)

Disclosable pecuniary interests

(b)

Other registerable interests

(c)

Non-registerable interests

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit
or gain.

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other
than by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for
inclusion in the register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying
out duties as a member or towards your election expenses (including
payment or financial benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which
they are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for
goods, services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge,
the Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant
person* is a partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or
land in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i)

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that body; or
Page 1

(ii)

if the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person* has a beneficial interest exceeds
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the
following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you
were appointed or nominated by the Council;

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public
opinion or policy, including any political party;

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25.

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate
more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but
which is not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for
example a matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child
attends).

(5)

Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in
consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below
applies.

Page 2

(6)

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable
interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the
advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests
the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence
or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need
not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories
There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.
These include:(a)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception);

(b)

School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of
which you are a governor;

(c)

Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt;

(d)

Allowances, payment or indemnity for members;

(e)

Ceremonial honours for members;

(f)

Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception).

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title

MINUTES

Ward
Contributors
Class

PART 1

Date 30 September 2021

MINUTES
To approve the minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee C held on the 22 July
2021.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

LEWISHAM COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE C
THURSDAY, 22 JULY 2021 AT 7. PM
MINUTES
MEMBERS PRESENT:
Attendance:
In Person: Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa (Chair), Stephen
Penfold, Mark Ingleby, Silvana Kelleher, Louise Krupski,
Hilary Moore, John Paschoud, James Rathbone
Remotely: Councillors: Peter Bernards
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE:
OFFICERS: Head of Development Management (HDM), Planning Officers,
Committee Officer.
ALSO PRESENT: Paula Young, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services
Item
No.
1

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Kelleher advised the Committee that she had attended a
meeting in relation to Item 3. It was advised that as a result of the
meeting, the Councillor had already made up her mind on the
application. Councillor Kelleher recused herself from the
consideration and voting of Item 3 on the meeting Agenda.
Councillor Rathbone advised the Committee that the application site
to be considered at Item 4, on the meeting Agenda was in his Ward.
The Councillor also advised that he had referred the application to
Planning Committee.
Prior to the Planning Officers presentations, the Officer provided a
brief supporting commentary. The Officer advised Members the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) had been updated on
the 20 July 2021. It was advised that officers were satisfied that all
Page 1 of 8
Page 7

applications to be heard at the meeting, remained consistent with the
updated NPPF guidance.
2

Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee C held on
the 20 May 2021 and Planning Committee C (Council AGM), held on
26 May 2021 be agreed and signed as a correct record.

36 Scawen Road, London, SE8 5AE
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the alterations, restoration and
conversion of the existing house at 36 Scawen Road SE8 to provide:
 2 houses with alterations to the roof to form a crown roof with
side and rear dormers, together with the construction of 5, three
and four storey houses, a children play area, allotments and a
wildlife corridor around the site.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:








Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Transport
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

Following the Officers presentation, no questions were put to the
Officer by Members.
The applicant addressed the Committee and described the
application site. The application site was described as a ‘special
project’ that would focus on food, cooking and food security. The
applicant advised the Committee the development was their home.
As a publican, they also wanted to provide their head chefs with
accommodation. The applicant noted that the chefs ran ‘field
kitchens’ to teach young people from the local community how to

Page 2 of 8
Page 8

cook. Allotments would also be onsite, so members of the local
community could learn how to grow produce.
Members were advised that emphasis would be placed on ensuring
sustainability. The applicant advised consideration would be given to
how materials could be sourced and wastage disposed of in a
sustainable manner. Members were assured that the development
would use resources in ‘clever, intelligent’ ways. The applicant gave
a historical account of the application site. The applicant described
the various community based organisations, they would be involved
in. They stated they were looking forward to doing ‘amazing’ things in
the community.
Member’s questions put to the applicant related to materials and
design.
The applicant provided a brief history of how materials were obtained
from fallen buildings, during World War 2 and used to reconstruct the
current building.
The applicant noted the concern raised regarding the arched window.
It was advised that the window could not be restored and it also did
not form part of the original building.
During the Member’s discussion, praise was given to the applicants
plans for the proposed development.
The Committee considered the submissions made at the meeting,
and
RESOLVED – unanimously
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
GRANT planning permission for the alterations, restoration and
conversion of the existing house at 36 Scawen Road SE8 to provide:


2 houses with alterations to the roof to form a crown roof with
side and rear dormers, together with the construction of 5, three
and four storey houses, a children play area, allotments and a
wildlife corridor around the site.

Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report.
4

34-40 Eastdown Park SE13
Page 3 of 8
Page 9

The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the demolition of existing
buildings and construction of a part 4, part 5 storey building at 34/40
Eastdown Park SE13 to provide:
 18 split level flats (Use Class C3), together with 3, two storey
three bedroom houses (Use Class C3) and provision of shared
communal garden, amenity space, associated hard and soft
landscaping, cycle parking and bin storage.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment
Planning Obligations

Afterwards, members’ questions related to overheating, PTAL
ratings, highways agreement, overlooking, financial viability, heating
system, sunlight and daylight report, and density.
Members were assured by the Officer that an Overheating
Assessment would be secured by a planning condition, which would
require it to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. It was noted that the mitigation measures
identified by the assessment report, would need to be installed before
the first occupation of the development, following approval.
The Officer advised the Committee they would double check the
PTAL rating for the proposal outlined in the Officer’s report.
Members were advised by the Officer that with regard to healthy
streets, the local authority’s highways officers had conducted an
assessment of the local pedestrian environment and identified
required improvements. The Officer assured the Committee that the
developer had agreed to comply with the recommended mitigation
measures. The Officer confirmed that the mitigation measures
identified from the assessment report could be secured by legal
agreement.

Page 4 of 8
Page 10

The Committee were provided with further clarification, by the Officer
via the Officer’s presentation slides, that there would be no
overlooking from the development onto the nearby Wisteria Road.
The Committee were assured that a periodic financial viability review
of the application would be conducted. It would be agreed with the
developer that if the development generated a higher surplus profit
than anticipated, it would be redirected towards building affordable
housing.
Members were advised by the Officer that Sustainability Officers had
accepted the proposed energy strategy, as connection to a heat
network was not possible. It was noted that this was not a reasonable
ground for refusing the application.
Members were advised that the daylight and sunlight report
submitted, found there was a reduction in light with regard to small
areas of the neighbouring gardens, exceeding BRE standards for
overshadowing of amenity spaces
The Officer informed the Committee there was no reduction in
density. Members were advised that an increase in height was not
considered appropriate. The Committee were advised that officers
were satisfied that it was an appropriate density.
The Officer confirmed to Members that it was not possible for the
developer to insert another floor onto the proposed development.
Members were advised by the Officer, to consider the application
before them. As there was no alternative proposal to what was put
before them for consideration.
The applicant addressed the Committee, describing the proposal.
Members were advised of the developer’s 18 year experience in the
building industry. The applicant emphasised that the developer cared
about the properties they built. In particular the importance of light
and space contributing to well-being was noted. The Committee were
also advised that consultation had been conducted within the local
community. The proposal was described by the applicant as a most
‘important project’ and noted it was ‘challenging’ due to the current
pandemic and its effects on property values. The applicant assured
Members that ‘robust’ materials would be utilised. Also that energy
pumps and panels would as sustainable as possible. Members were
informed of the communal garden and the importance of shared
amenity space for communities. The applicant advised community
space would be ensured, if the application were approved.
The following questions from members related to heating, tenure,
materials and green space management.
Page 5 of 8
Page 11

The applicant advised the Committee the development entailed 18
apartments. There was not enough space for air source heat pumps
to service them all. Therefore, it was more appropriate to use panels
instead.
Members were informed by the applicant that the development would
be built for sale. However, the developer would be open to the
development of rental opportunities, available to ‘wider occupiers’.
The applicant reassured the Committee that a landscape architect
would be appointed to manage the green space. The developer
would spend time finding the right company. The applicant provided
assurance to Members that the right strategies would be put in place.
No representatives with objections, were present at the meeting.
During the Members discussion, concern was raised with regard to
heating. It was felt that the materials used attributed to deforestation
and was not sustainable. There was also the view that the developer
could have used pumps, but had chosen not to. A Member of the
Committee felt ‘inclined’ to refuse approval of the proposal.
The applicant noted the concern and advised the Committee of
materials that would reduce CO2 emissions, noting ‘efficient’
concrete that keep the development cool in the summer and at stable
temperature in the winter. The applicant advised that the materials
were efficient, as they were factory made.
Another Member felt the use of heat pumps would have been more
consistent and efficient. It was not felt the proposed electrical heating
would be appropriate for the development and should be viewed as a
‘last resort’. The opinion was that the choice to use panels was cost
related.
The applicant stated that heat pumps had been used in previous
projects, the developer worked on. But it was felt pumps were less
appropriate for the apartments due to their size. Therefore, the use of
heat pumps had been redirected to larger schemes. The applicant
felt the agreed energy strategy was appropriate for the proposed
development.
Members voted on the recommendation in the report with a result of
5 in favour of the proposal and 3 against. It was
RESOLVED
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
Page 6 of 8
Page 12

GRANT planning permission for the demolition of existing buildings
and construction of a part 4, part 5 storey building at 34/40 Eastdown
Park SE13 to provide:
 18 split level flats (Use Class C3), together with 3, two storey
three bedroom houses (Use Class C3) and provision of shared
communal garden, amenity space, associated hard and soft
landscaping, cycle parking and bin storage.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report.
5

21 Wisteria Road, London, SE13 5HW
The item was removed from the Agenda.

6

16 Reynard Close, London, SE4 2DF
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the construction of a single
storey rear extension at 16 Reynard Close, SE4, and all other
associated works.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
 Principle of Development
 Urban Design
 Impact on Adjoining Properties
The following members’ question related to scale, light and elevation
limits.
The Officer provided clarification to Members with regard to scale,
light and elevation limitations, as outlined in the Officer’s report.
The Officer confirmed that officers felt the measurements clarified,
were acceptable.
The applicant was in attendance at the meeting, but did not address
the Committee.
No representatives with objections, were present at the meeting.
Members agreed the Officer’s recommendation. It was
RESOLVED
Page 7 of 8
Page 13

That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
GRANT planning permission for the construction of a single storey
rear extension at 16 Reynard Close, SE4, and all other associated
works.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report.
The meeting closed at 9.13 pm

Chair
_________________________

Page 8 of 8
Page 14

Agenda Item 3
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

229 Deptford High Street, London, SE8 3NT
Evelyn
Alfie Williams
PART 1

30 September 2021

Reg. Nos.

DC/21/120773

Application dated

08 March 2021

Applicant

Simply Planning Limited on behalf of Visionbel Limited

Proposal

Reinstatement and re-development of the
demolished building at 229 Deptford High Street
SE8, to deliver three-storey with mansard roof
mixed-use development comprising 223sqm of
flexible commercial floorspace on the ground floor
(Use Class E) and five self-contained residential flats
(3x 1B/2P; 2x 2B/3P) on the upper floors (Use Class
C3) together with cycle parking, refuse storage and
all other associated works.

Background Papers

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports and documents
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

Designation

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Air Quality Management Area
Area of Archaeological Priority
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum
Flood Risk 2
Major District Centre
Shopping Non-Core Area
PTAL 5

Screening

Not applicable

SUMMARY
This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal.
The report has been brought before Committee for a decision as the Deptford Society
has raised an objection.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use
The application site is a 0.0176-hectare plot located at the south-west corner of the
junction of Evelyn Street and Deptford High Street. The application site address is known
as 229 Deptford High Street. Drawing 1 shows the application site in red.

Page 15

Figure 1: Site location plan

The building that previously stood on the site was three storeys in height, with basement
of typical late Georgian character with 6/6 timber sash windows and diminishing
proportions rising up the elevation. It had been a prominent and historic three storey
corner building, with the ground floor historically in use as a public house known as
Noah’s Ark, and most recently in use as an office space. Its front elevation was finished
in stucco and the side and rear elevations in stock brick, with a historic but non-original
public house frontage at ground floor. At present the property is surrounded in scaffold
and hoarding following demolition works to the upper floors.
Surrounding development
To the north and east the site is surrounded by Evelyn Street and Deptford High Street.
To the south is No. 227 Deptford High Street, which is Grade II listed. To the west there
is an existing car wash which has a planning permission for mix-use development under
reference DC/19/111176.
Character of area
This application site is located at the end of Deptford High Street, which is a mixed-use
road with retail, cafés, restaurants and bars, typically with residential uses above.
Heritage/archaeology
The application site falls within the Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Church
Conservation Area (the CA), at its very northern end. The CA boundary wraps around
the west side of no.229’s site, and on the north side of Evelyn Street extends only as far
as to include the former Harp PH.

Page 16

No 227 immediately adjacent to the application site is listed at grade II. The statutory list
description notes that it dates to 1791-2 and was constructed as a house and shop, with
improvements carried out in 1801-2 and 1822-3, probably including a two storey timber
framed bake house at the rear of the plot.
The application site is also located in an area of archaeological priority.
Natural environments
The application site is located within the Environmental Agency Flood Zone 3, however
the site benefits from flood defences.
Transport
The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 5 on a scale of 1-6b,
1 being lowest and 6b the highest. It is less than 321m from Deptford Station.

PLANNING HISTORY
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The planning history records for the site are available on the Council records. Below is
the summary of the planning history for the site including the description of development
as publicised, reference number to the application and important dates in the
determination of the application.
Application reference DC/96/039992 for “certificate of lawful development for use of part
of Noah’s Ark Public House for Class A2 purposes (bar area and first floor function
rooms) was approved in February 1996. The applicant was advised that the change of
use of the residential accommodation to office purposes falling within either Class A2 or
B1 would require planning permission. The applicant was also advised that an office
operating an appointments only system would be held to fall within Class B1 rather than
Class A2. The certificate was granted.
Application reference DC/96/040529 for “change of use of the Noah’s Ark Public House
to a Solicitor’s office (Use Class A2)” was approved in August 1996.
Application reference DC/17/103142 for “prior approval for the change of use from Use
Class B1(a) (offices) to Use Class C3 (residential) in the form of 11 single person
occupancy studio flats/maisonettes over the lower ground, ground, first and second
floors of 229 Deptford High Street, SE8 pursuant to Class O, Part 3, Schedule 2 of the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as
amended)” was received on 22/08/2017 and was approved on 17/10/2017 subject to
conditions.
Application reference DC/18/109377 for “the construction of a mansard roof extension at
229 Deptford High Street, SE8 to provide a self-contained two bed flat” was submitted on
14/11/2018 and approved on 12/07/2019 subject to conditions.
Application DC/18/109981 for “the installation of new and replacement windows, doors
and fascia board to the front and rear elevations of 229 Deptford High Street, SE8,
together with the re-rendering of the external walls” was submitted on 07/01/2019 and
approved on 15/03/2019.

Page 17

PRE-APPLICATION
Concept pre-planning application reference PRE/20/115973 was submitted on
31/03/2020 to set out the Councils expectations regarding proposed development at 229
Deptford High Street. The applicant was informed that the Councils expectation for the
building would be for it to be brought back to its original form externally. The proposal to
provide a mix-use development with commercial space on ground floor and residential
on floors above was supported.
Pre-planning application reference PRE/20/116738 was submitted on 26/06/2020 and it
followed concept meeting (reference PRE/20/115973). This pre-application advice
assessed the amended floor plans, proposed elevations and appearance of the building.
The submitted scheme for comment had a number of critical issues which needed to be
resolved. The applicant was advised to carry out a thorough assessment of the preexisting building and assess its significance and importance in the conservation area.
Officers also raised concerns to the proposed provision of 1b/1p units; standard of
residential accommodation; provision of cycle parking and servicing.
Pre-planning application reference PRE/20/117619 was submitted on 18/08/2020 and it
followed the previous two pre-planning applications (reference PRE/20/115973 and
PRE/20116738). The scheme that was submitted failed to deliver a building of sufficient
quality to the one that was demolished without the benefit of planning permission. The
applicant was advised to review the rear elevation, mansard roof extension, and
standard of residential accommodation.
Pre-planning application reference PRE/20/118904 was submitted on 11/11/2020 and it
followed the previous three pre-planning applications (reference PRE/20/115973;
PRE/20116738; and PRE/20/117619). The scheme positively responded to issues
raised at the last pre-application meeting. However, there were a couple of areas that
required further work before planning application can be submitted such as information
on materials and additional drawings that were not provided with the submission.

ENFORCEMENT
ENF/19/00375: Enforcement investigation into demolition works at 229 Deptford High
Street – investigation ongoing.

NEIGHBOURING SITES
Application reference DC/19/111176 at 402-404 Evelyn Street was for “the construction
of a three storey building on the site of 402-404 Evelyn Street, SE8, to provide 4
commercial units at ground floor, 2 one bedroom and 6 two bedroom self-contained flats
on the upper floors, together with the provision of green roof, bin storage and cycle
parking spaces to the rear” was received on 26/02/2019 and approved at planning
committee on 10/09/2019.

PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
The proposed is to reinstate, refurbish and renew the pre-existing building at the
application site, to provide a mixed-use commercial and residential development. The
scheme would effectively re-build the demolished building with further modifications.
The proposal seeks to replicate the demolished building in a scholarly and historically
accurate manner, reintroducing active commercial units at ground floor, restoring the
Page 18

historic building frontage, reinstating the upper floors and replicating the appearance of
the pre-existing rear elevation with some changes to accommodate the residential use.
The scheme would provide two duplex commercial units, located over basement and
ground floor, and five self-contained flats, located at first floor and above.
The scheme would provide separate cycling and waste storage are from commercial and
residential use at ground floor.
Access to the ground floor commercial units has been improved to ensure that both units
can be accessed by those with any disabilities.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND AMENDMENTS
Amendments have been made to the application and revised information submitted as
set out below.



Detailed drawing of the windows including raised stucco window surrounds on the
front façade.



Detailed information about the proposed materials to be used in construction of the
replacement building including the use of lime render for the front façade.



Information about the areas of the existing building that will be retained and
restored including details for the shopfront.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
The Council undertook statutory public consultation on the planning application and in
line with our Statement of Community Involvement letters were sent to neighbouring
properties and businesses. In total 14 letters were sent.
In addition, a public notice was displayed outside the application site. A press notification
was also issued on 10/04/2019.

RESPONSES FROM THE PUBLIC
None received.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
Lewisham Conservation: following revisions they raised no objection to the proposed
development.
Lewisham Environmental Health (Air Quality): no objection subject to addition of
planning conditions.
Lewisham Urban Design: no response received.
Lewisham Highways: no response received.

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
Ward Councillors: no response received.
Page 19

The Deptford Society: objects to the application on the grounds that the current
proposals exclude reinstatement of any of the original facade detailing and
embellishments at upper floor levels; the proposal fails to protect and enhance the
character of the Conservation Area; an objection to the proposed external materials, see
paras 67-78 below.
Deptford High Street Association: no response received.
Deptford Folk: no response received.
Environmental Agency: Advised that the site is covered by the EA’s Flood Risk Standing
Advice. This means you do not have to consult us directly and can use our standing
advice to manage flood risk for this planning application.
Historic England: Advised that on the basis of the information available to date, HE do
not need to be notified or consulted further on this application under the relevant
statutory provisions.
TfL: no response received.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.
Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.
The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE
The National Policy and Guidance comprises:





National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)
Page 20

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
Lewisham SPG/SPD:




Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)
Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Conservation Area Appraisal (December 2019)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues are:










Principle of Development
Urban Design and Heritage
Housing
Transport Impact
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment
Planning Obligations

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
The lawful land use of the application site and the building prior to its demolition was
office (Use Class B1 (a)). This is evident in the planning history and planning
assessment of prior approval application reference DC/17/103142 approved on
17/10/2017. Officer report for the application stated that “Officers have undertaken a site
visit and this, together with the supporting documents (various bills, statements / invoices
and Council Tax and Business Rates Valuation documents) suggest that much of the
building that the application relates to has been in, and continues to be in, B1(a) office
use.” As the prior approval for change of use to residential has not been implemented,
the previous use remains the main land use for the site. There was approximately
522.5sqm of office space before the building was demolished.
The redevelopment of the site would replace the existing land use with 223sqm of
commercial, business and service (Use Class E) floor space and 303sqm of residential
(Use Class C3) floor space (5 flats).
Loss of existing employment (Use Class B) space on site
Policy
Page 21

CS Glossary defines employment as uses which fall within B1, B2 and B8 of the Use
Class Order. Therefore, LP Policy E4, CS Policy 5 and DMLP Policy DM11 are relevant.
These policies seek to protect employment uses on the smaller sites in office, industrial
and warehouse/storage use and builders and scaffolding yards in and around town
centres, district and local hubs and also those embedded in residential areas.
Discussion
The proposal is for a predominantly residential scheme, including some commercial,
business, and service (Use Class E) floor space. The loss of office floorspace is
generally resisted subject to an assessment against DMP 11. The site lies within a
District Centre accessible to and for a range of employment opportunities, services and
facilities. Therefore, part 2 of DMP 11 is relevant. DMP 11.2 states that redevelopment of
a site on a commercial street frontage will be supported where a business use is
retained on the ground floor, and a business and/or residential development is provided
on upper floors, as is the case with this scheme.
DMP 11.2 goes on to state that the number of jobs created by the proposal should
outweigh the loss of the employment site, and results in no net loss of job. It is not clear
whether the proposal would result in a net loss of jobs given that there is no end user
identified for the proposed commercial unit. However, in this case any loss of
employment would be offset by general compliance with the spatial priorities of the
borough and enhancement to the vitality and viability of the town centre given that the
site is located in Regeneration and Growth Area as identified in the CS Spatial Policy 2,
Deptford, Deptford Creekside, New Cross/New Cross Gate.
CS Spatial Policy 2, Deptford, Deptford Creekside, New Cross/New Cross Gate, Clause
2, supports a vibrant network of town centres, the location for major new retail and
leisure development within this area, including their contribution to the local nigh-time
economy. As such, the proposed use would be consistent with the expectations for the
site. The proposed commercial use would contribute towards the local economy, while it
would bring two modern and well-sized commercial units. This brings a welcome active
frontage to this prominent location.
Officers have also given significant weight to the proposed outcome of the scheme,
which sets out to restore the building following the demolition works carried out in 2019.
This is supported by para 199 of the NPPF, which states that great weight should be
given to an asset's conservation.
Provision of residential accommodation
Policy
National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land. Indeed, the London Plan makes housing a priority
The Core Strategy recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.
LPP H2 states that boroughs should increase the contribution of small sites (below 0.25
hectares) to meeting London’s housing needs and sets a ten-year target for Lewisham of
3,790 new homes.
Discussion
Page 22

The scheme would provide five additional residential dwellings. Although the contribution
to the overall housing market would be small, this is a welcome contribution to the
current annual target for Lewisham.
Principle of development conclusions
In light of the above, the principle of change of use of the site from office to residential
(Use Class C3) on the upper floors is accepted. The development would be consistent
with the Development Plan, subject to details.

URBAN DESIGN AND HERITAGE
Urban Design Policy
The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high-quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.
LP Policy D4, CS Policy 15 and DMLP DM30, required that all new developments
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity.
Heritage Policy
Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a duty on the part of LPA’s when considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a conservation area to pay ‘special attention’
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that
conservation area
Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.
LP Policy HC1, CS Policy 15, DMLP Policy 36 and 37 are relevant. These policies seek
to ensure that heritage assets are protected so that they may continue to contribute to
the richness of the borough’s historical environment and inform future development and
regeneration.
Discussion
The Noah’s Ark pub was a landmark historic building in the conservation area with its
sweeping facade and enhanced detailing of window surrounds and pediments, it
celebrated the northern end of the High Street.
The building that previously stood on the site was the northern most building in a group
of 7 (nos. 217 - 229 Deptford High Street), which are bookended by the White Swan
public house at the southern end and the former Noah’s Ark at the northern end. This
group is of fine townscape character, each building of differing height and width. This is
a characteristic in this conservation area, but with unifying characteristics of building line,
materiality, stucco cornice, multi paned sash windows and shop fronts at ground floor.
Photo 1 below shows the pre-existing building, prior to its demolition in late 2019.

Page 23

Over the years as a consequence of unsympathetic refurbishments, some of the
detailing (for instance window surrounds at upper floor levels) and a large pediment at
parapet level was lost.
Figure 2: Pre-existing building at 229 Deptford High Street

The proposed mass, height and scale of the development would match that of the
demolished building with approved mansard roof extension (see reference
DC/18/109981). The proposal would consist of three parts, the retention and
refurbishment of the ground floor (all parts below the red dotted line would be r repaired
and refurbished to match existing and new glazing installed within the doors and
windows), the reinstatement of first and second floor that were demolished to match preexisting façade, and construction of mansard roof extension as previously approved.
Figure 3: Proposed front elevation (see drawing 0226 Rev P02)

The ground floor elevation has been designed to restore and reflect the character of the
original pub front whilst providing the necessary access to the proposed mixed-use
Page 24

building. However, all features such as case iron grille (to allow for MVHR ventilation),
stained glass panels, decorative lights and brass letters would be refurbished or
reinstated. The elevation would retain traditional proportions for the stall rises,
fenestration, fascia and pilasters to ensure the proposal is contextually accurate.
The upper floors (first and second floor) would reflect the detailing, proportions and
window openings of the pre-existing building, except that two formerly ‘blind’ windows
would be opened with timber sash windows that match those in the other openings. All
windows would be timber, an improvement to pre-existing UPVC windows.
The mansard roof extension would reflect the design that was approved under
application reference DC/18/109981. The roof would be covered in natural slate with
timber and lead covered dormer windows. The dormer windows would align with
windows on the lower floors and they would be of appropriate size.
Figure 4: Pre-existing rear elevation (see drawing 373D.EX.112)

Due to the curved nature of the site and the building on surrounding sites, the rear
elevation is not readily visible as part of a streetscene. The rear elevation of the preexisting building is typical of a building of the time, lacking the formality of the front
elevation and having a back-of-house character. The rear elevation provided evidence
of its internal layout, including staircases, with its fenestration pattern as well as
extension history.
Figure 5: Proposed rear elevation (see drawing 0227 Rev P01)

Page 25

The proposed rear elevation has taken cues from the original elevation. It employs
irregular window positions and differing proportions of the windows as well as replicating
the detailing including window arches and timber sash windows.
The proposal includes a small rear extension at ground floor to provide more usable floor
space internally. The extension would also allow one of the proposed flats to have a
small private terrace.
The existing relationship and position between the application building and the
neighbouring site at No 227 Deptford High Street would be retained and the relationship
between the site and the building would be the same.
The Conservation Officer has reviewed the revised information and raised no objection
to the proposed materials as stated in the submitted drawings. Officers also consider
that the revisions address the objection submitted by the Deptford Society, particularly in
regard to the use of an appropriate render for the front façade and the restatement of
raised stucco to the window surrounds. A condition will be added to ensure that the
building is constructed in accordance with the provided information.

Urban design and heritage conclusion
The urban design of the proposed building is acceptable and it would result in suitable
design building, subject to adding a condition about the proposed material.
Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings and
conservation areas in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
and the relevant paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic
environment, are satisfied the proposal would restore a historically appropriate building
to the site to a high standards and it would result in enhancement in the conservation
area.

HOUSING
Housing mix
Policy
LP Policy H10 details that schemes should consist of a range of unit sizes. The policy
sets out the criteria to determine appropriate mix of unit sizes including: local evidence of
need; requirement to deliver inclusive neighbourhoods; deliver a range of unit types at
different price points; mix of use in the scheme; range of tenures; the nature and location
of the site; housing potential.
Discussion
The proposed development would provide private/open market units only. There is no
requirement for the development to provide affordable housing as the scheme is not a
major development of 10 or more units. Table 1 below shows the proposed unit mix.
Table 1: Proposed unit mix

Unit

No. of units

%

Habitable room

%

1B2P

3

60%

6

50%

2B3P

2

40%

6

50%

Page 26

TOTAL

5

100%

12

100%

The proposed housing mix is appropriate for the site location and it responds to the
identified housing need in Lewisham. The scheme would provide an appropriate mix of
dwellings for the size of the application site.

Internal and external space standards
Policy
NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users.
LP Policy D6 and Table 3.1 sets minimum standards for new housing developments.
This is supported by CS Policy 15 and DMLP Policy 32.
Table 3 below sets out proposed dwelling sizes in regards to the minimum internal space
standard that needs to be provided.
Table 2: Minimum internal space standards for new dwelling as set in Table 3.1 in the London Plan
(March 2021)

Type of dwelling
No of
bedrooms
(b)

No. of
persons (p)

Minimum gross internal floor (GIA) area and
storage
Built-in storage
Private
1 storey
amenity space
dwelling
(sqm)
(sqm)
(sqm)

1b

2p

50

1.5

5

2b

3p

61

2

6

In addition to above table LP Policy D6 requires single bedrooms to have a floor area of
at least 7.5sqm and double bedrooms to have a floor area of at least 11.5sqm. The
minimum floor to ceiling height must be 2.5m for at least 75 per cent of the GIA.
Discussion
The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes in regards to the internal and external
space that would be provided.
Table 3: Proposed internal space standards

Type of dwelling

Proposed GIA, storage, bedrooms and outdoor
space

Unit

No of
bedrooms

No. of
persons

Floor
area
(sqm)

Bedroom size
(sqm)

Outdoor
space
(sqm)

Built-in
storage
(sqm)

1.01

1b

2p

63

Double – 12.7

0

0.6

1.02

2b

3p

62

Single – 7.8

3.5

2.1

0

1.5

Double – 12.8
2.01

1b

2p

59
Page 27

Double – 12.7

2.02

1b

2p

50

Double – 11.3

0

1.1

3.01

2b

3p

69

Single – 7.7

0

1

Double – 11.7

All proposed houses would meet the requirements of LP Policy D6 in terms of total
floorspace and bedroom size. The bedrooms would also be policy compliant in terms of
the width of the rooms. In addition the proposed units would be well laid-out, have
generous proportions.
Flat 1.01, 2.02 and 3.01 would fail to provider required built-in storage space. Apart from
unit 2.02, the flats would be oversized and the shortfall can be accommodated
elsewhere in the flats by putting storage furniture. This would not warrant a reason for
refusal.
All flats would fail to provide the required amount of private outdoor space. Officers note
that the applicant was expected to restore the building close to its original form. The
provision of external private amenity space would prevent that. Therefore in this case the
lack of provision of private outdoor space is considered acceptable.
The floor to ceiling height of the dwellings would be 2.5m as shown on the submitted
section drawing.

Outlook, Privacy and Overheating
Policy
DMLP Policy 32 expects all new development to provide a satisfactory level of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for both its future residents.
Discussion
The main outlook from the proposed dwellings would be north-east, towards the front of
the site and Evelyn Street. All flats would have secondary outlook towards north-west
and the rear of the site.
The dwellings would benefit from good levels of privacy. The application building would
be situated approximately 16m from building at No’s 2-4 Kings Street the closest building
to the north, and approximately 34m from residential flats on Grinling Place located to
the rear (west) of the site. These separation distances are considered to be acceptable
to ensure that no overlooking, loss of privacy and loss of outlook would occurs.
The application site is located within the Evelyn Street corridor, an area of Air Quality
management. A priority is therefore to provide development, through construction and
build, which minimises emissions through effective planning policy, development control
and environmental protection enforcement. The amenity of future residents should also
be considered, in terms of the potential impact of air quality. Future occupiers would be
able to open the windows or use mechanical ventilation. The proposed design would
give giving them an option on how to ventilate their properties. A suitable designed and
positioned ventilation system should be secured by a planning condition.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy
DM Policy 31 (1) (b) expects new development to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of natural
lighting for its future residents.
Page 28

Discussion
Officers consider the daylight and sunlight levels would be acceptable. No assessment
has been provided but it is not considered necessary for this scheme given its modest
scale and its design, namely double aspect to all units.

Noise and disturbance
Policy
NPPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create
additional noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing
acoustic environment.
LP Policy D13 states that where new noise-sensitive land uses are proposed in proximity
to existing noise generating uses, development is required to robustly demonstrate how
such conflict between uses can be mitigated. The policy also aims to safeguard the
ongoing operation of existing uses.
Discussion
The application site is located within the Evelyn Street corridor. No assessment has
been provided that would review noise to future occupiers. To ensure that a suitable
standard of residential amenity is provided, a condition would be added requiring that all
of the windows on the Evelyn Street elevation are fitted with acoustic double-glazing. A
similar condition was added on the neighbouring site at No’s 402-404 Evelyn Street
approved under DC/19/111176.
The use of the ground floor space is not likely to generate levels of noise in excess of
what is to be expected within this densely populated and busy location. Therefore, the
principle of a mixed-use building with residential accommodation above is supported.
However, Class E encompasses a large range of uses with differing potential noise
levels. For that reason a condition would be imposed securing a scheme of noise
insulation between the ground and upper floors. The developer would be required to
ensure that the combined rating noise from all of the building services plant on the
development does not exceed the typical ambient background noise levels. A condition
should be added requiring that noise levels are 5dB below the background noise level.

Housing conclusion
On balance, the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LP Policy D6 and DMLP Policy 32.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy
Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of paragraph 104. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

Page 29

Para 111 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.
The Core Strategy, at Objective 9 and CS Policy 14, reflects the national and regional
priorities.

Local Transport Network
Policy
The NPPF at paragraph 104 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion
The application site has a PTAL of 5, which is a very good level of public transport
accessibility. Officers are satisfied that the modest scale of development would prevent
the need for any mitigation in terms of increased transport capacity and that any impacts
to the local transport network could be accommodated within the existing transport
services and infrastructure.

Cycling
Policy
Residential development is required to provide cycle parking in accordance with the
requirements of Policy T5 and Table 10.2 of the London Plan.
Table 4: London Plan Table 10.2 Minimum cycle parking

Use Class

Long stay

Short-stay

C3

 1.5 spaces per 1b/2b

5 to 40 dwellings: 2
spaces

Dwellings (all)

 2 spaces per all other dwelling
B1

Office

1 space per 75sqm

First 5000sqm: 1
space per 500

Discussion
The proposed development generates a requirement for 7.5 long-stay and 1 short-stay
residential cycle parking spaces and 3 long-stay and 1 short-stay commercial, business
and service cycle parking spaces.
The cycle storage for residential use would provide space for eight bicycles. The spaces
will be in the form of two-tier racks, which will be gas assisted. A condition requiring that
the mechanism is retained and well maintained in perpetuity of the development is
recommended.
The cycle storage for commercial use would provide space for four bicycles, two in each
store/unit. The cycle spaces would be located in a store room located to the rear of the
commercial space. A condition requiring that the cycle storage is maintained as a cycle
storage in perpetuity of the development is recommended.
The scheme does not meet the threshold for short-stay spaces. Whilst this is
unfortunate, officers acknowledge the constraints of the site and note that there are
Page 30

several short-stay Sheffield stands immediately outside the application site on Deptford
High Street. This is unobjectionable and accepted on balance.

Private cars
Policy
LP Policy T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a
restrained approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent
excessive car parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport
use.
LP Policy T6.1 and Table 10.3 states that maximum residential parking for sites in PTAL
5 and above should be car free.
Discussion
The proposal site is located within a highly accessible public transport zone (PTAL 5)
and as such the development would be expected to be car free. Submitted layout plans
show that the site would not have any car parking. That is consistent with the parking
policies in the London Plan. The proposal is not likely to result in an unacceptable impact
to parking capacity in the surrounding area given the modest scale of development.

Servicing and refuse
LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.
CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.
Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion
The scheme would provide separate residential and commercial refuse store, which
would be secured at ground floor level and accessible from the pavement of Evelyn
Street. Each refuse store would be provided with two 1,100l Eurobins (one for general
waste and mixed dry recycling). The number and size of the proposed bins would be
sufficient of number of residents and employees. All waste would be securely held within
the refuse stores until collection date. The drag distance to the kerb site is considered to
be appropriate. Refuse collection will take place on Evelyn Street, in compliance with
existing carriageway restrictions.
Deliveries vehicles for the commercial and residential units would be expected to park
within the loading bays on Deptford High Street. The closest parking delivery bay is
located approximately 20m to the south of the application. As additional loading bay is
located on Edward Street.

Construction impact
Policy

Page 31

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road. Additionally, LPP T7 requires that construction
logistic plans should be development in accordance with TfL guidance.
Discussion
A Construction Logistics Management Plan (“CLMP”) was submitted with the application.
The CLMP has considered construction vehicles access to the site on local roads in the
context of existing geometry and on-street parking provision. The delivery times as well
as vehicles movements with loading/unloading have been altered to accommodate
operation and trips associated with nearby schools to the development and Deptford
Market at the High Street. Suitable measures have been identified to reduce traffic
impact of the works on the public highway. A condition will be added for a Construction
Management Plan to secure further details for the construction logistics including a
requirement to participate in the Zonal Construction Forum for Evelyn Street. .
Transport impact conclusion
The proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on the
surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the conditions
recommended above.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.
DMLP Policy 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation of 21m between
directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
NPPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create
additional noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing
acoustic environment.
Discussion
The neighbouring properties that could potentially be affect by the development are No
227 to the south, residential flats on Grinling Place located approximately 34m from the
site to the south-west, the open air car dealership to the west, and the mixed-use
building at No’s 2-4 Kings Street (over the road) located approximately 16m to the northeast.
Given the design of the building (being built to a pre-existing form) and the distance to
the neighbouring sites, officers consider that the proposed development would not result
in unreasonable impact with regards to neighbour amenity in terms of loss of daylight,
sunlight, noise and disturbance, overbearing impact, loss of privacy or creating of a
sense of enclosure.

Impact on neighbour's conclusion
In light of the above, the proposed development would not have unacceptable impact on
neighbouring amenity.

Page 32

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Energy and Environmental Sustainability
Policy
LP Policy SI2 required development to minimise greenhouse gas emissions.
Discussion
The proposed development has been designed to prioritise passive measures to
minimise heat loss via low u-values, low air permeability, low energy lighting and MVHR.
Overall, the proposed scheme would achieve a 30.5 per cent reduction in CO2 over Part
L of the Building Regulations.

Air quality
Policy
The NPPF at para 186 states decisions should among other things prevent new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of air pollution. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.
CS Policies 7 and 9 and DM Policy 23 provide the local plan policy basis for assessing
development proposals.
Discussion
The applicant has provided an Air Quality Impact Assessment, and it concludes that the
implementation of appropriate measures and good practice during the demolition and
construction phases would mitigate potential harm from dust. Due to the small size of the
development, it does not exceed the criteria requiring an air quality neutral assessment
to be carried out. This has therefore been screened out and no mitigation is required.
The development is considered to comply with national and local air quality policy.

Flood risk and Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy
LPP SI13 expects development to achieve greenfield run-off rates in accordance with
the sustainable drainage hierarchy.
CSP 10 requires applicants demonstrate that the most sustainable urban drainage
system that is reasonably practical is incorporated to reduce flood risk, improve water
quality and achieve amenity and habitat benefits.
Discussion
The application site is located in flood zone 2 and 3 on Environmental Agency flood zone
mapping. However, due to the protection afforded to the site by flood defences along
both the River Thames and the Thames Barrier, the flood risk to the site is low.
Moreover, the development would not increase the impermeable surface of the site and
given that the residential units would situated above ground. It is not considered that the
proposed development would increase the risk of flood elsewhere.
Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion
The proposal is acceptable in terms of sustainable development.
Page 33

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.
The CIL is therefore a material consideration.
£30,300 Lewisham CIL and £18,180 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this application,
subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant has completed
the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.
The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
Page 34







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance
The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.
Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.
This application has the legitimate aim of providing new buildings for residential use. The
rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1, Article 1
considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

Page 35

The principle of developing the site for mixed-use development providing commercial,
and residential floor space in a sustainable urban location is acceptable and in
accordance with the Development Plan, and weight is given to this planning merit.
The proposed development is acceptable in terms of its scale, form, design, material and
impact on heritage assets including the conservation area, the NDHA and nearby listed
buildings.
The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbours in terms of overlooking,
loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance. It was also considered that the proposal
would not negatively impact on the local transport network or parking.
In light of the above, it is recommended that this planning permission is approved subject
to conditions and informative.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informative:

CONDITIONS

1)

PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be completed not later
than the expiration of one year beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: In order to ensure that the building is restored within an acceptable
timeframe so that the character and appearance would be preserved or enhanced
in accordance with Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans and drawings including listed material schedule hereby approved and as
detailed below:
 Site Location Plan; 373.EX.100; 373.EX.101; 373.EX.102; 373.EX.103;
373.EX.104; 373.EX.110; 373.EX.111; 373.EX.112; 373D.PR.100 Rec A;
373D.PR.101 Rev G; 373D.PR.102 Rev F; 373D.PR.103 Rev G; 373D.PR.104
Rev G; 373D.PR.105 Rev B; 373D.PR.111 Rev B; 373D.PR.112 Rev C;
373D.PR.210 Rev B; 373D.PR.211 Rev C; 373D.PR.220 Rev A; 373D.PR.301
Rev C; 373D.PR.303 Rev C; 373D.PR.304 Rev D; 373.PR.305 Rev B
received on 11 March 2021.
 0220 Rev P02; 0221 Rev P02; 0222 Rev P01; 0223 Rev P01; 0224 Rev P01;
0225 Rev P01; 0410 Rev P01; 0411 Rev A; 0412 Rev P01; 0413 Rev P01;
0414 Rev P01; 0415 Rev P01; 0420 Rev P01; 0421 Rev P01; 0422 Rev P01;
0430 Rev P01; 0440 Rev P01; 0441 Rev P01; 0442 Rev P01; 0460 Rev P01
received on 23 June 2021.
 0227 Rev P01; 0228 Rev P01 received on 12 August 2021.
Page 36

 Existing site condition document received on 18 August 2021.
 0226 Rev P02 received on 1 September 2021.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning.

3)

VENTILATION SYSTEM CONDITION
Prior to the commencement of development (other than survey works and works
necessary to retain the existing structure), a Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery
(MVHR) system report in order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. The report shall include the following
information:
a) Details and locations of the air intake locations of the mechanical ventilation
system, or
b) Details of filtration system to remove airborne pollutants. The filtration system
shall have a minimum efficiency of 75% in the removal of Nitrogen
Oxides/Dioxides, and Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) in accordance with BS
EN ISO 10121-1:2014 and BS EN ISO 16890.
Ventilation intakes shall be positioned a suitable distance away from chimney/boiler
flues, ventilation extracts, and roads. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems
shall be undertaken regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications, and
shall be the responsibility of the primary owner of the property. A post installation
certificate of the approved ventilation strategy shall be submitted to the Council for
approval prior to the occupation/use of the development. Approved details shall be
fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: To manage and prevent further deterioration of existing low quality air
across London in accordance Policy SI1 and SI2 of the London Plan (March
2021), and NPPF 181.

4)

GAS BOILER CONDITION
(a) Prior to occupation of the development, details of the Ultra-Low NOx Gas
fired boilers proposed to be installed shall be submitted to and agreed in
writing by the council. The Ultra-Low NOx Gas fired boilers to be provided
for space heating and hot water shall have dry NOx emissions not
exceeding 40 mg/kWh (at 0% O2). Where any installations do not meet this
emissions standard, they should not be operated without the fitting of
suitable NOx abatement equipment or technology as determined by a
specialist to ensure comparable emissions.
(b) Following installation, emissions certificates shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, to verify boiler emissions.
The approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use
of the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: To manage and prevent further deterioration of existing low quality air
across London in accordance with Policy SI1 and SI2 of the London Plan (March
2021) and NPPF 181.

Page 37

5)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN CONDITION
No development shall commence on site (other than survey works and works
necessary to retain the existing structure) until such time as a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The plan shall cover:(a)

Dust mitigation measures.

(b)

The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities

(c)
Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
(d)
Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts
which shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii)
Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to
the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction relates
activity.
(iii)
Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.
(e)

Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).

(f)
Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction
Management Plan requirements and any Environmental Management Plan
requirements (delete reference to Environmental Management Plan requirements
if not relevant).
(g)
Confirmation of participation in the Zonal Construction Forum for Evelyn
Street

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to
comply with Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction of the London Plan
(March 2021).
6)

SITE AREA
The detail submitted shall not exceed the following gross internal area floorspaces
(unless amended subject to further assessment):
(a)

Commercial, business and service (Use Class E) – 223sqm at
lower ground and ground floor; and

(b)

Residential use (Use Class C3) – 303sqm at upper floors
comprising five self-contained dwellings comprising three x 1bedroom, 2-person and two x 2-bedroom, 3-person units.

Reason: To comply with the floorspace amount assessed under this application.
7)

MATERIALS(a) No development shall commence on site (other than survey
works and works necessary to retain the existing structure) until a detailed
Page 38

schedule and specification including manufacturer's literature or detailed
drawings, in respect of the following:
i) natural slate roofing material
ii) lime render
has been be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.
(b) The works shall then be carried in full accordance with the approved details
prior to the first occupation of the development, and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the building and to comply with Policies 15 High quality
design and 16 Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic environment
for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design
and local character and DM Policy 36 New development, changes of use and
alterations affecting designated heritage assets and their setting: conservation
areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient monuments and registered parks and
gardens of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

8)

NOISE - PROTECTING RESI PROPERTIES
(a) The building shall be designed and details shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, so as to provide sound
insulation against external noise and vibration, to achieve levels not
exceeding 30dB LAeq (night) and 45dB LAmax (measured with F time
weighting) for bedrooms, 35dB LAeq (day) for other habitable rooms, with
window shut and other means of ventilation provided. External amenity areas
shall be designed to achieve levels not exceeding 55 dB LAeq (day) and the
evaluation of human exposure to vibration within the building shall not
exceed the Vibration dose values criteria ‘Low probability of adverse
comment’ as defined BS6472
(b) The development shall not be occupied until the sound insulation scheme
approved pursuant to paragraph (b) has been implemented in its entirety.
Thereafter, the sound insulation scheme shall be maintained in perpetuity in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed dwellings
and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 31 Alterations
and extensions to existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014).

9)

SOUNDPROOFING MIXED USE BUILDINGS
(a) The development shall be designed to incorporate soundproofing of a
specification for sound insulation against airborne noise to meet D’nT,w + Ctr
dB of not less than 55 for walls and/or ceilings where residential parties non
domestic use and details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
(b) The development shall only be occupied once the soundproofing works as
agreed under part (a) have been implemented in accordance with the
approved details.
(c) The soundproofing shall be retained permanently in accordance with the
approved details.
Page 39

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to comply with DM Policy 26
Noise and vibration, DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings
including residential extensions, DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space
standards, and DM Policy 33 Development on infill sites, backland sites, back
gardens and amenity areas [delete irrelevant policies] of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
10)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
The refuse and recycling facilities for residential and commercial uses as shown
on drawing 373D.PR.101 Rev G received on 11 March 2021 shall be provided in
full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently
retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).

11)

CYCLE STORAGE
All cycle parking spaces for residential and commercial uses as shown on drawing
373D.PR.101 Rev G received on 11 March 2021 shall be provided and made
available for use prior to occupation of the development and shall be permanently
retained and maintained.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy
14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

12)

SATELLITE DISHES
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), no satellite dishes shall be installed on elevations or the roofs of the
buildings hereby approved.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

13)

PLUMBING AND PIPES
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), no plumbing or pipes, including other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed
on the external faces of the buildings hereby approved.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

14)

MASONRY

Page 40

a) No development shall commence on site (other than survey works and
works necessary to retain the existing structure), until sample panel(s) of all
new facing brickwork shall be provided on site showing the proposed - brick
types, sizes, colour, texture face-bond; pointing mortar mix, joint thickness
and finish profile. Confirmation of the materials and methods shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved sample panel(s) shall be retained on site until the work is
completed and the Condition is discharged.
b) Prior to works commencing, if any sections of wall are still in place at the
rear elevation, they must be left in situ for inspection, and the inspection
panel made up to match.
c) Any brick left on site, shall be retained on site and stored under cover in a
secure place until their reinstatement as part of the works hereby approved.
d) All reclaimed bricks to be used, should be entirely cleaned of paint, soot and
any other coatings before reuse.
e) The works shall be carried out in full accordance with the details hereby
approved
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural
and historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

INFORMATIVES
1)

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT
The Council engages with all applicants in a positive and proactive way through
specific pre-application enquiries and the detailed advice available on the
Council’s website. On this particular application, positive and proactive
discussions took place with the applicant prior to the application being submitted
through a pre-application discussion. Further positive discussions took place
during the determination which resulted in further information being submitted.

2)

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form'
to the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must
be submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure
to follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on
CIL is available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/applyfor-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/CommunityInfrastructure-Levy.aspx

3)

STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING
The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site.

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Site Location Plan – 229 Deptford High Street

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

229 Deptford High Street

London,
Page 45

SE8
Application No. DC/21/120773

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of 25

Page 46

Reinstatement and re-development of the
demolished building at 229 Deptford High Street
SE8, to deliver three-storey with mansard roof
mixed-use development comprising 223sqm of
flexible commercial floorspace on the ground floor
(Use Class E) and five self-contained residential
flats (3x 1B/2P; 2x 2B/3P) on the upper floors (Use
Class C3) together with cycle parking, refuse
storage and all other associated works.

2 of 30

Page 47

Site Location Plan

3 of 30

Page 48

Aerial View

4 of 30

Page 49

Pre-existing Front Elevation Photographs

5 of 30

Page 50

Existing Front Elevation Photographs

6 of 30

Page 51

Proposed Front Elevation

7 of 30

Page 52

Proposed Shop Front

8 of 30

Page 53

Proposed Rear Elevation

9 of 30

Page 54

Proposed side elevation

10 of 30

Page 55

Proposed Lower Ground Floor

11 of 30

Page 56

Proposed Ground Floor

12 of 30

Page 57

Proposed First Floor

13 of 30

Page 58

Proposed Second Floor

14 of 30

Page 59

Proposed Third Floor

15 of 30

Page 60

Proposed Roof Plan

16 of 30

MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
 Principle of Development
 Urban Design & Heritage Impact
 Residential Quality
Page 61

 Living Conditions of Neighbouring Properties
 Transport Impact

 Sustainability

17 of 30

Page 62

CGI View of Front Elevation

18 of 30

Page 63

CGI View of Rear Elevation

19 of 30

MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
 Principle of Development
 Urban Design & Heritage Impact
 Residential Quality
Page 64

 Living Conditions of Neighbouring Properties
 Transport Impact

 Sustainability

20 of 30

Page 65

End of Presentation

21 of 30

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

28 DUNDALK ROAD, LONDON, SE4 2JL
Telegraph Hill
Thomas Simnett
PART 1

30 SEPTEMBER 2021

Reg. Nos.

DC/21/120302

Application dated

05.02.2021

Agent on behalf of Applicant

Mr Pattenden of Alma-nac Ltd

Proposal

Construction of a part one/part two storey
dwelling house, together with the provision of 2
cycle spaces and associated landscaping on land
at the side of 28 Dundalk Road SE4.

Background Papers

(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports and documents
(3) Internal consultee responses

Designation

(1) PTAL 5
(2) Local Open Space Deficiency
(3) Air Quality

Screening

Not applicable

SUMMARY
1

This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal.
The report has been brought before Committee for a decision as more than three
individual objections have been received from local residents.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

2

The application site is located to the west of No. 28 Dundalk Road, an end-of-terrace
dwellinghouse located close to the junction of Dundalk Road and Avignon Road.

3

The site is bounded by the rear gardens of properties along Dundalk Road to the east
and Avignon Road to the west

4

The site had been left derelict for a time following the development of the Old Carpenters
Yard development.

5

The site’s current condition is clear and secure with new 2m timber fencing on the
eastern boundary and a new timber fence on top of the existing low level brick wall on
the western boundary.

Page 67

Figure 1 – Site Location Plan

Character of area

6

The surrounding area is predominantly residential with similarly built terraced dwellings
situated on Finland Road and Revelon Road.

7

Houses here form attractive stock brick terraces with small-size front gardens. The
terrace houses retained good cohesive appearance with the exception to window
treatments, as this is not a conservation area a number of properties have lost their
original timber sash windows, having been replaced with uPVC alternatives.
Heritage/archaeology

8

The site is not located within a conservation area, nor is it subject to an Article 4
Direction. The application site is not a listed building and it is not located close to any
either.
Surrounding area

9

The site is located approximately 0.4miles away from the entrance to the Telegraph Hill
Upper Park and Brockley Road is 0.7miles away which provides various shops, other
facilities and services.
Local environment

10

It is also within an area of Local Open Space Deficiency and Air Quality Management
Area.
Transport

Page 68

11

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 5 on a scale of 1-6b,
1 being lowest and 6b the highest. It is less than 500m from Brockley Station and about
800m from Nunhead Station.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
12

Application DC/05/061362/FT for “the construction of a two-storey extension to the side
of 28 Dundalk Road SE4 together with the alteration and conversion to provide 1 twobedroom and 1 three-bedroom self-contained flats and the provision of refuse store and
2 bicycle parking spaces” was received in February 2006 and granted in April 2006.

PRE-APPLICATION ADVISE
13

The applicant had sought Duty-Planner Service advice (PRE/20/117087) in June 2020
for the construction of a one bed new build.



14

Recommendation made for Concept meeting or Full pre-application meeting
Concern with the proposal location, size of the site and whether it would be able to
support residential development.

The applicant had sought pre-application advice (PRE/20/117759) in July 2020 for the
construction of a one bed new build.




No in-principal objection to the proposed residential development of the site.




Preferred for a development to be car free



Advised to submit a Daylight/ Sunlight Analysis with any forthcoming application to
allow an assessment on the effects the proposed unit could have on any
neighbouring occupier outdoor amenity space.

The unit would likely receive a good level of outlook, daylight and ventilation from
all habitable rooms, whilst maintaining privacy.
Planning permission ref: DC/17/102552 included the proposal site, therefore
residential use is supported for the proposed site.

WITHDRAWN PLANNING APPLICATION
15

A previous application (DC/20/118813) was withdrawn in December 2020 after
discussion with a case officer. CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION

THE PROPOSALS
16

The application proposes the construction of a part one/part two storey dwelling house,
together with the provision of 2no cycle spaces and associated landscaping

Page 69

Figure 2 – Extract from Design and Access Statement demonstrating concept

17

It would have an articulated roof with an extensive green roof covering and is proposed
to be constructed out of a mixture of materials including brick, cement fibre board panels
and tiles.

18

The proposed design is based around a ‘split section’ with the main living space located
on the half level above the entrance level that contains the living room, kitchen and
dining space, bathroom and central courtyard. The double bedroom is positioned at half
level below the entrance level with a connected small courtyard. Cycle and refuse
storage would be provided in separate stores. Rooflights would provide some additional
lighting to the basement and ground floor levels.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
19

Site notices were displayed on 10 March 2021.

20

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area on 09 March 2021
and the relevant ward Councillors on 11 February 2021.

21

11no responses received, comprising 9no objections, and 1no support.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

Urban Design
Overdevelopment of the site

Para 91

Page 70

Limited windows in proposed scheme
would be contrary to local plan policy

Para 92

The proposed property would have limited
levels of daylight which is not consistent
with the House Design, Layout and Space
Standard

Para 92

Nature of the proposed build is out of
character with the local area

Para 94

Housing
Standard of Accommodation

Para 73

Living conditions of neighbours
Loss of daylight and sunlight for
neighbouring properties

Para 121 and 122

Inappropriate development of plot that will
negatively impact on neighbouring
properties

Para 129

Disruption during the course of the build in
terms of the safety of local residents and
school children.

Para 128 and Para 158

The construction will cause unacceptable
levels of noise

Para 128

Overbearing impact and too high on the
boundary

Para 108

Loss of privacy which will lead to proposed
property overlooking existing properties on
Dundalk Road and Avignon Road.

Para 109

Loss of outlook

Para 111

Transport Impact
Access to the site is limited which could
have an impact on the installation of
utilities and access in the event of a fire.

Para 144

22

A number of other comments were also raised as follows:

23

Comments were received concerned regarding the impact of the proposed development
on Dundalk Road in terms of lorries and skips, previous occasions where skips were left
on Dundalk Road the landowner did not take the responsibility in clearing away the
waste that surrounded the skip. That is not considered to be a material consideration in
this case, however Officers would add an informative advising that all construction work
should be undertaken in accordance with the London Borough of Lewisham Code of
Practice for Control of Pollution and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites.

24

Comments were received regarding inaccuracies in the Daylight and Sunlight report and
questioned the independence of the report and requested independent verification
should take place. Officers do not consider this to be a material planning consideration
as the report was conducted by a suitably qualified third party and the information which
was used to aide their report was the submitted plans, there appear to be no obvious
inaccuracies in the report.

Page 71

25

Comments were received regarding the right to light of neighbouring properties, Officers
do not consider this to be a material planning consideration as this is dealt with under
separate legislation to planning.

26

Comments were received regarding the downward excavation of the proposed
construction and the impact on flood risk. Officers have checked the Flood Risk Zone for
the site and it is 1, as such Officers do not consider this to be a material planning
consideration.

27

Comments were received regarding the clearing of the site prior to planning permission
being granted which has led to the loss of tress, Officers will include a condition for soft
and hard landscaping to ensure the scheme provides adequate soft and hard
landscaping so there would be a positive impact on the environment. As the site does
not lie within a Conservation Area and no record of a TPO exists for this site, there has
been no breach of planning control from the clearance of trees.
Comments in support
Comment

Para where addressed

Good development that tackles an
unusual plot

Para 90

28

A number of other comments were also raised as follows:

29

A comment was received regarding the boundary treatment with the adjoining Monmouth
House, the comment asked that an adequate dividing solution is provided.
Neutral comments

30

A number of neutral comments relating to non-material planning considerations were
also raised as follows:

31

Comments were received by ward councillor stating that there would be light impact on
the neighbouring property and it would be a rather strange design. However, they had
no strong opinion either way and it was best if trained colleagues on Planning
Committee consider.

32

Comments were received that the proposed development construction would lead to an
unacceptable level of noise. The scale of the proposed development is not likely to give
rise to an unacceptable level of noise during construction and as such officers do not
consider this to be a material planning consideration. However, Officers would add an
informative advising that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance with
the London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution and Noise
from Demolition and Construction Sites.

33

Comments were received regarding the impact of the extensive excavation required for
the proposed sunken area on the neighbouring houses and Carpenters Yard
Development. This is a Building Control concern and therefore does not form part of this
recommendation.

34

Comments were received concerned that neighbours were not consulted properly and
given adequate time to review and comment on the plans. Officers ensured that
neighbourhood consultation had been carried out in accordance with the Council’s
statutory obligations and the provisions of the SCI and any comments received during
the lifespan of an application are included in Officer’s assessment of the scheme.

Page 72

35

A number of comments were received questioning how the scheme would be
constructed without entering and disturbing neighbouring properties, Officers do not
consider this to be a material planning consideration and would be covered by Party Wall
Act. An informative will be added to remind the applicant that other agreements are
necessary.

36

Comments were received regarding the developer having carried out minimal
consultation with local residents and only provided one option for the development.
Whilst we do advise that applicants consider pre-application consultation with local
residents to ensure that any issues raised can be dealt with accordingly, Officers note
that this is not a requirement and it is therefore not a material planning consideration in
this recommendation.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
37

The following internal consultees were notified on 11 February 2021.

38

Ecology: raised no objections subject to conditions. See paras 165, 167 and 182 for
further details.

39

Highways: raised no objections subject to conditions. See para 153 and 154 for further
details.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
40

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
41

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

42

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

43

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE



National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)

Page 73



National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
44

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
45

Lewisham SPD:


46

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)

London Plan SPG:



Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) (March 2016)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
47

The main issues are:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

48

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

49

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

50

Lewisham is defined as an Inner London borough in the London Plan, which sets out the
Mayor of London’s vision for Inner London. This includes among other things sustaining
and enhancing its recent economic and demographic growth; supporting and sustaining
existing and new communities; addressing its unique concentrations of deprivation;

Page 74

ensuring the availability of appropriate workspaces for the area’s changing economy;
and improving quality of life and health.

51

DM Policy 1 of the Development Management Local Plan states that ‘when considering
development proposals, the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning
Policy Framework. It will work proactively with applicants to find solutions which mean
that proposals secure development that improves the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the borough’
Policy

52

National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land. Indeed, the London Plan makes housing a priority.

53

The current London Plan outlines through Policy H1 that there is a pressing need for
more homes in London and that a genuine choice of new homes should be supported
which are of the highest quality and of varying sized and tenures in accordance with
Local Development Frameworks. Residential developments should enhance the quality
of local places and take account of the physical context, character, density, tenure and
mix of the neighbouring environment.

54

LPP H2 states that boroughs should increase the contribution of small sites (below 0.25
hectares) to meeting London’s housing needs and sets a ten-year target for Lewisham of
3,790 new homes.

55

The Core Strategy (CSP) recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.

56

DMP 33 sets out the requirements for a variety of sites within residential areas that may
come forward for development. Development on these sites require careful consideration
due to the need to preserve the quality and amenity of residential areas. The main types
of sites are infill sites, backland sites, back gardens and amenity area.

Page 75

Figure 3 – Proposed view from Dundalk Road

Discussion

57

Officers consider this to be an Infill Site for the purposes of DMP 33, as it has a street
frontage with access to Dundalk Road. There is an existing boundary structure that
severs this land from the gardens of the frontage properties and this land was once
originally part of the Old Carpenters Yard to the north which has recently been
developed. No loss of amenity space would arise from this development.

58

Due to the unusual nature of the site, the proposed scheme is not fully compliant with
DMP 33 (5):it would fail to repair the street frontage or provide additional natural
surveillance, as it is set in from the street frontage. However, Officers assess this as a
unique site and the site constraints here do not lend itself to providing a property that
respects the building line of the existing terraced properties.

59

Due to the site’s width, any proposal coming forward would find it difficult to repair the
street frontage and also respect the character, proportions and spacing of the existing
houses. Therefore, Officers consider the proposed scheme is an innovative solution to
the site constraints as discussed further in the Urban Design section, it is in a
sustainable location for residential development with a PTAL rating of 5 and as existing
the site is redundant; the proposed development makes better use of the land and
provides an additional residential unit.

60

The scheme would provide one additional residential dwelling. Although the contribution
to the overall housing market would be small, this is a welcome contribution to the
current annual target for Lewisham.
Page 76

Principle of development conclusions

61

The principle of residential led-development of this largely redundant site would also
achieve the wider benefit of providing an additional home within the Borough would
therefore be acceptable, subject to matters including design, standard of
accommodation, visual impact and highways matters.

HOUSING
62

This section covers the standard of accommodation.

Residential Quality
General Policy

63

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

64

LPP D6 requires new homes to meet specific space and other standards. In addition,
DMP 32 requires all new residential developments to provide accommodation of a good
size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and layout of rooms, with main habitable
rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, and adequate privacy.

65

The main components of residential quality are: (i) internal and external space
standards; (ii) outlook and privacy and overheating; (iii) daylight and sunlight.
Internal and external space standards
Policy

66

LPP D6 seeks to achieve housing development with the highest quality internally and
externally in relation to their context. Minimum space standards are set out in Table 3.1
of the London Plan.

67

The Technical Housing Standards (2015), Mayors Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG), London Plan Policy D6 and DM Policy 32 set out or make reference to
the minimum space standards required for amenity space to achieve housing
development that provides the highest quality of space externally in relation to its
context. Standard 4.10.1 of the Mayor’s Housing SPG states that ‘a minimum of 5sqm of
private outdoor space should be provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm
should be provided for each additional occupant’.
Discussion

68

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table 1: Internal space standards – proposed v target

No of
bedrooms
1b

No. of
persons
2p

2 storey
dwelling
proposed
(target) m2
71.5 (58)

Bedroom
size
proposed
(target) m2
12.8 (11.5)
Page 77

Amenity
space
proposed
(target) m2
37.5 (5)

Built-in storage
proposed (target)
m2
4.0 (1.5)

69

The proposed house would meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of total floor
space.

70

The proposal would also meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of the size of
bedrooms with the double bedroom measuring 12.8sqm. The bedrooms would also be
policy compliant in terms of the width of the rooms. The floor to ceiling height of the
dwellings would be 2.5m in accordance with DMP 32 and LPP D6, while the storage
would also comply.

71

The proposed scheme would provide 37.5sqm of external amenity space, which exceeds
the 5sqm minimum required by LPP D6. This is therefore acceptable.

72

The design has utilised the widest section of the site to the northern boundary, to locate
the main living spaces of the dwelling to ensure that those rooms meet the space and
room requirements that Lewisham and the London Plan requires.

73

Although there had been concerns raised by objections to the proposals in terms of the
standard of accommodation, the proposed scheme has a greater GIA than the
requirements of LPP D6, Officers therefore consider the standard of accommodation to
be acceptable.
Outlook, Privacy and Overheating
Policy

74

LPP D1(8) requires development to achieve ‘appropriate outlook, privacy and amenity”

75

DMP 32 expects all new development to provide a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for both its future residents, which is also supported by the Mayors
Housing SPD. Furthermore, the London Plan Policy D6 requires the highest standards of
sustainable design and construction to be achieved, including the avoidance of singleaspect units. The Lewisham Residential Development Standards SPD also requires a
flexible 21m distance between habitable windows on main rear elevations.

76

London Plan Policies D6 and SI 4 seek to avoid internal overheating through design,
layout, orientation, materials and the incorporation of green infrastructure. The Mayors
Housing SPG also demonstrates that development proposals should achieve an
appropriate design of dwellings to avoid overheating without heavy reliance on energy
intensive mechanical cooling systems
Discussion

77

The bedroom would have somewhat restricted outlook into a sunken terrace; however,
the ground floor would have a central courtyard which would give it good outlook. On
balance this is acceptable, in light of the constrained nature of the site and the overall
good standard of accommodation otherwise.

78

The dwelling would benefit from good levels of privacy.

79

The dwelling would be dual aspect and the windows on the lower floor would be
screened to a certain extent by being located in a small courtyard. These measures are
considered sufficient to avoid unacceptable overheating in this instance, having regard
to the modest scale of the development.
Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

Page 78

80

DMP 32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its future residents.

81

Daylight and sunlight are generally measured against the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) standards. This is not formal planning guidance and should be
applied flexibly according to context. The BRE standards set out below are not a
mandatory planning threshold.

82

In new dwellings, the BRE minimum recommended average daylight factor (ADF) is 1 %
for bedrooms, 1.5% for living rooms and 2 % for kitchens.
Discussion

83

Officers consider the daylight and sunlight levels would be acceptable. No assessment
has been provided but it is not considered necessary for this scheme given its modest
scale and the benefits identified in the Design and Access Statement, namely: full height
windows at basement level, double aspect ground floor, use of rooflights to the ground
floor living spaces and extensive use of courtyards to increase the daylight and sunlight
into the property.

Housing conclusion
84

Overall, the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LPP D6 and DMP.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

85

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

86

LPP D3 expects the highest quality materials and design appropriate to context.

87

Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham repeats the necessity to
achieve high quality design but also confirms a requirement for new developments to
minimise crime and the fear of crime.

88

DMLP 30, Urban design and local character states that all new developments should
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity. The London Plan, Lewisham Core Strategy and Lewisham DMLP policies
further reinforce the principles of the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality
urban design. DM Policy 33 seek to protect and enhance the Borough’s character and
street frontages through appropriate and high-quality design.
Discussion

89

As addressed in para. 57, the proposed site is considered an infill development, and DM
Policy 33 (a) will only support new development that is well designed; makes a high quality
positive contribution to an area; would result in no significant overshadowing or
overlooking and retains appropriate amenity space for adjacent dwellings; provides
adequate privacy for future occupiers; provides appropriate amenity space in line with DM
Policy 32; whilst respecting the character, proportions and spacing of existing houses.
Although it fails to restore the street frontage, due to the site constraints this somewhat
difficult to achieve, the proposed design is an innovative response to those constraints

Page 79

and the contribution to the current annual target for Lewisham means that this scheme is
considered acceptable.

90

The proposed scale, massing and layout of the 1-storey and basement is appropriate
considering the context that it sits within, which includes terraced housing to the adjacent
sites and the new development of flats Old Carpenters Yard to the north. The proposed
design approach is well considered for a site of such constraints in terms of size and
width of the plot. It uses an innovative design to accomplish a greater internal space
standards than that set out in the London Plan at 73.2sqm and provides an appropriate
amount of amenity space for future residents.

91

Officers do not consider that the proposed scheme would overdevelop the site, as the
design tackles a unique site in terms of size and shape, while also providing over
37.5sqm of amenity space.

92

Although the site is constrained by adjacent properties meaning there can be no outward
looking windows, the scheme tackles this site constraint through the use of internal
courtyards and a sunken courtyard to the northern boundary. The design also utilises
rooflights to provide additional daylight throughout the property which officers consider is
acceptable in light of the site constraints.

93

From an urban design perspective, the proposed scheme has used the analogy of
garden sheds or outbuildings along a Victoria ginnel in the development of the design to
imagine a form of building similar to the language of a number of shed roofs at the end
of the garden. As a result, the proposed development utilises an articulated roof to
create building form and give character to the development, but also to respond to the
site constraint of keeping the building as low as possible to respect the daylight available
to the neighbouring homes and gardens.

94

An objection was received that considered that the nature of the proposed development
was out of character with the local area. While Officers accept that the design of the
proposed scheme differs to that of the adjacent Victorian terraced properties, the
proposed scheme is contemporary in nature and of a high quality. An infill development
of this nature is also not without precedence in the area with the neighbouring Old
Carpenters Yard having previously been developed.

95

In terms of materiality, the palette would comprise:






96

Cement Fibre Board Panels;
Brickwork;
White Render;
Tiles and;
PPC Aluminium Door System

Officers are not convinced with the proposed cement fibre board panel and recommend a
condition be imposed to the submission of further details of all facing materials. A condition
requiring boundary treatment, including walls and fences is also recommended.

Urban design conclusion
97

Although the proposed design is not similar to adjacent properties, the proposed design
takes inspiration from garden sheds and outbuildings which are commonplace in
Victorian terraces like these, the design responds well to the constraints of this site,
which would result in a high-quality development that would enhance the character of
the area, subject to further details of materials.

Page 80

98

The design approach of the new dwelling is therefore supported, with an appearance of
a high quality. The proposal is therefore considered to satisfy the requirements of Core
Strategy Policy 15 and Local Development Plan Policies DM 30, DM 31, DM 32 and DM
33.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

99

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. At para 180 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions. This is reflected in relevant policies of
the London Plan, the Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan (DMP32) and associated
guidance (Housing SPD 2016, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

100

This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D3), the Core Strategy
(CP15), the Local Plan (DMPs 32 and 33) and associated guidance.

101

LPP D3 states that development proposals should deliver appropriate impacts to
outlook, privacy and amenity as well as mitigating noise levels.

102

DMP32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours.

103

Further guidance is given in Housing SPD 2017, GLA; Residential Standards SPD 2012,
LBL. The Council has published the Alterations and Extensions SPD (2019) which
establishes generally acceptable standards relating to these matters (see below), although
site context will mean these standards could be tightened or relaxed accordingly. The
main impacts on amenity arise from: (i) overbearing enclosure/loss of outlook; (ii) loss of
privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within properties and loss of sunlight to amenity areas; and
(iv) noise and disturbance.
Enclosure, Outlook and Privacy
Policy

104

Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.

105

Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.

106

DMP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation of 21m between
directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
Discussion

107

The properties most likely to be impacted by the proposal are Nos. 26 and 28 Dundalk
Road. Other properties are considered sufficiently far from the site, or situated in such a
way relative to the site, that no harm would arise.

Page 81

108

The proposed building is modest in scale and due to its articulated roof would have a
varying height to the eaves from 2.5m to 3.7 at its tallest. The location, mass and height
of the building would mean that it would be in view from the neighbouring properties,
however Officers do not consider it would give rise to an unacceptable level of enclosure
or become an overbearing structure, due to the depths and orientation of the gardens.

109

The proposed dwellinghouse would incorporate only one lower ground floor opening to
the rear elevation in the north, serving the double bedroom. Due to the location of this
bedroom in the lower ground floor Officers do not consider this would give rise to any
impact on the privacy of neighbouring properties.

110

As such, the proposals are considered to satisfactorily respond to the constraints of the
site and the possible implications upon amenity by way of overlooking and sense of
enclosure have been addressed in the design of the proposals.

111

The proposed dwelling-house would be single storey and basement, with the bedroom
space set within the lower ground floor. Given the geographical orientation of the
neighbouring properties and the positioning of existing windows serving habitable rooms,
officers do not consider there would be any significant harm to existing occupiers of
adjacent properties.

112

A condition is recommended to remove other relevant permitted development rights from
this dwellinghouse, in light of the tight nature of this site.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

113

Daylight and sunlight are generally measured against the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) standards however this is not formal planning guidance and should
be applied flexibly according to context.

114

The NPPF does not express particular standards for daylight and sunlight. Para 125 (c)
states that, where these is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting
identified housing need, LPAs should take a flexible approach to policies or guidance
relating to daylight and sunlight when considering applications for housing, where they
would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site.

115

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that development should create places that are safe,
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard
of amenity for existing and future users.

116

DMP 32 states that new development must be neighbourly, provide a satisfactory level
of outlook and natural light for both its future residents and its neighbours. DMP 32(2)
also states that new-build housing development, including the housing element of new
build housing will need to respond positively to the site-specific constraints and
opportunities as well as to the existing and emerging context for the site and surrounding
area.

117

The GLA states that ‘An appropriate degree of flexibility needs to be applied when using
BRE guidelines to assess the daylight and sunlight impacts of new development on
surrounding properties, as well as within new developments themselves. Guidelines
should be applied sensitively to higher density development, especially in opportunity
areas, town centres, large sites and accessible locations, where BRE advice suggests
considering the use of alternative targets. This should take into account local
circumstances; the need to optimise housing capacity; and scope for the character and
form of an area to change over time.’ (GLA, 2017, Housing SPG, para 1.3.45).
Page 82

118

In the first instance, if a proposed development falls beneath a 25-degree angle taken
from a point two metres above ground level, then the BRE say that no further analysis is
required as there will be adequate skylight (i.e., sky visibility) availability.
Overshadowing of amenity space guidance

119

This is measured Area of Permanent Shadow (APS)

120

The APS relates to sunlight to open space: the guidance states that gardens or amenity
areas will appear adequately sunlit throughout the year provided at least half of the
garden or amenity area receives at least two hours of sunlight on 21st March. If the
reduction in APS is less than 0.8 times its former value then the impact is likely to be
noticeable for the occupants.
Discussion

121

The application is accompanied by a Daylight & Sunlight Assessment (Daylight and
Sunlight Report, prepared by Waldrams, ref 2564, date 13 October 2020). Due to the
nature of the proposal, no analysis of impact on the habitable rooms of neighbouring
properties was necessary. Instead, the Assessment focusses solely on the APS. The
Assessment concludes that majority of the surrounding amenity spaces will be compliant
with the criteria set out in the BRE Guidelines. The amenity area to the rear of 28
Dundalk Road would, however, experience a reduction in sunlight marginally beyond the
criteria set out in the BRE Guidelines. Officers consider the impact on the rear amenity
space of 28 Dundalk Road acceptable as it would retain 79% of its existing level of
sunlight, only marginally beyond the 80% criteria stated in the BRE Guidelines.

122

The report demonstrates that the amenity areas to the rears of Nos. 22, 24, and 26
Dundalk Road, 1-21 Monmouth House, and 2-7 Old Carpenters Yard would meet the
BRE Guidelines’ criteria in that the amenity spaces would receive at least 2 hours of
sunlight on March 21st to at least 50% of their area or they will retain at least 80% of
their former values with the proposed development in place.

123

Whilst there is a modest transgression of the BRE Guidelines to one garden, Officers
consider this to be acceptable and is not a reason to refuse the scheme.

Summary
124

The proposed development would have an acceptable level of impact on adjacent
properties in terms of sunlight and daylight, although there will be a minor transgression
with regards to the garden of No. 28 Dundalk Road

Noise and disturbance
Policy

125

The NPPF at para 174 states decisions should among other things prevent new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of noise pollution. Development should help
to improve local environmental conditions. Para 185 states decisions should mitigate and
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the
quality of life.

126

The NPPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create
additional noise.

Page 83

127

The objectives of the NPPF and NPPG are reflected in LPP D1 and D13, CS Objective 5
and DMP 26.
Discussion

128

The introduction of new residential properties within a residential area is not considered
to result in any significant long-term material impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.
The construction phase of development is likely to introduce short-term disturbances to
the surrounding properties, however that is an inevitable consequence of development
and is not considered a material consideration in this case. Hours of noisy work are
controlled by other legislation, and an informative is proposed in order to draw the
Applicant’s attention to Lewisham’s Good Practice guide.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
129

Officers consider that the proposed scale and siting of the residential development would
be acceptable, and would have no significant harm upon the amenities of surrounding
properties.

130

As addressed earlier, no undue loss of daylight, sunlight, outlook or privacy are considered
to be generated upon any neighbour as a result of the proposals. The amenity impacts to
existing occupiers is therefore considered to be acceptable.

131

Although objections were received that thought the development was inappropriate for
the site and would negatively impact on the neighbouring properties, as detailed in the
above assessment the impact the proposed development would be limited in nature and
not give rise to an unacceptable level of harm to neighbouring amenity.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

132

Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 102. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

133

Para 109 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”.

134

Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns.

135

Policy T1 of the London Plan (2021) sets out the Mayor’s strategic approach to transport
which aims to encourage the closer integration of transport and development. This is to
be achieved by encouraging patterns and nodes of development that reduce the need to
travel, especially by car; seeking to improve the capacity and accessibility of public
transport, walking and cycling; supporting measures that encourage shifts to more
sustainable modes and appropriate demand management; and promoting walking by
ensuring an improved urban realm.
Page 84

136

Core Strategy Policy 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ promotes more
sustainable transport choices through walking, cycling and public transport. It adopts a
restricted approach on parking to aid the promotion of sustainable transport and
ensuring all new and existing developments of a certain size have travel plans.

Local Transport Network
Policy

137

The NPPF at paragraph 102 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion

138

The application site has a PTAL of 5, which is an excellent level of public transport
accessibility. Officers are satisfied that the modest scale of development would prevent
the need for any mitigation in terms of increased transport capacity and that any impacts
to the local transport network could be accommodated within the existing transport
services and infrastructure.

Servicing and refuse
Policy

139

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.

140

CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.

141

DMLP 29 requires new development to have no negative impact upon the safety and
suitability of access and servicing.

142

Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion

143

A refuse store for the development would be provided at the front of the site close to the
entrance which would provide covered storage space for refuse, food waste and
recycling bins. No further details were submitted with the application to ensure that the
storage facilities for waste and recycling containers meets at least BS5906:2005
standard. In light of this, Officers consider it reasonable to secure the proposed details
by condition, Officers consider it appropriate that the refuse store should feature a green
roof to increase the biodiversity of the site.

144

Officers consider access to the site in the event of an emergency to be acceptable, there
is sufficient access to the front of the property on Dundalk Road for emergency services
to gain access to the property.

Transport modes
Cycling
Policy

Page 85

145

Development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within
the scheme and with neighbouring area. Development should create places that are
safe, secure and attractive, minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles

146

Cycle storage space should be provided in accordance with LPP T5, table 10.2 and
London Cycle Design Standards. Developments should provide secure, integrated,
convenient and accessible cycle parking facilities in line with the minimum standards.
Discussion

147

The property would be provided with cycle storage for two bikes in accordance with the
requirements of Table 10.2 of the London Plan. A condition is recommended to ensure
that the store is secured and covered with a green roof and provided prior to occupation.
Private cars
Policy

148

LPP T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a restrained
approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent excessive car
parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. Table
10.3 of the London Plan sets the maximum car parking standards for residential
developments.
Discussion

149

The proposed development is considered car-free, with no provision for off-street
parking.

150

The site is in a PTAL 5 area, which indicates good access to public transport. The
provision of a car-free development would be complaint with the principles of the
development plan and as such is supported.

151

Parking survey data was provided by the applicant in support of this application. The
document was prepared by Yes Transport as part of their January 2021 parking
assessment and was carried out in accordance with the Lambeth Methodology on two
consecutive days in mid-January 2021.

152

The independent parking survey submitted alongside this application, the results of
which confirm the streets surrounding the application site do experience high levels of
parking stress at 88%. An area is usually considered to be at capacity when parking
stress exceeds 85%.

153

Objectors have raised concerns that the proposed scheme would exacerbate existing
parking stress in the area.

154

The Highways Officer has reviewed the details of the application and has confirmed that
a car-free development would be acceptable in this location, they consider this approach
to car parking consistent with the parking standards in the London Plan.

155

Despite the high parking stress in the area, Officers consider the proposed new unit
would not give rise to an unacceptable level of harm in terms of parking given that the
site has a PTAL rating of 5, the dwelling is of modest size and that there is provision of
cycle parking. Highways Officers consider the parking survey confirms that there is
capacity to safely accommodate the small amount of parking likely to be generated by
the proposal.

Page 86

Construction impact
Policy

156

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road. Additionally, LPP T7 requires that construction
logistic plans should be development in accordance with TfL guidance.
Discussion

157

The site constraints and the lack of space on the site for storage of materials and
receiving deliveries, impose practical concerns for the construction phase of the
development. Therefore, a detailed Construction Logistics Management Plan (“CLMP”)
is required to confirm that all vehicles can approach, pull into and out of the designated
loading area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the highway. A traffic management
plan and further details of protection and temporary arrangements for pedestrians,
including access to neighbouring properties would also be required within the plan. A
site plan showing the location of storage for materials would be required. These details
would be secured within the CLMP, to be agreed prior to the commencement of any
works on site, including any site clearance or demolition.

158

An objection was received in relation to the impact that the proposed development
construction would have on school children, the closest school to the proposed site is
Drumbeat School on Revelon Road which is 0.2 miles from the site. Officers believe the
proposed development would not have a direct impact on the school as it is a safe
distance from the site, the CMLP will ensure that pedestrian walkways are not blocked
during construction to minimise the impact on pedestrians in the area.

Transport impact conclusion
159

In summary, the proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended above.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
General Policy

160

NPPF para 152 sets an expectation that planning will support transition to a low carbon
future.

161

This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan and the Local Plan.

Urban Greening
Policy

162

LPP G5 requires development to contribute to urban greening, including tree planting,
green roofs and walls and soft landscaping, recognising the benefits it can bring to
mitigating the effects of climate change.

163

LPP G7 requires development proposals that seeks the removal of trees should provide
adequate replacement based on the existing value of the benefits of the trees removed.

Page 87

164

CSP 7 specifies a preference for Living Roofs (which includes bio-diverse roofs) which in
effect, comprise deeper substrates and a more diverse range of planting than plugplanted sedum roofs, providing greater opportunity for bio-diversity.
Discussion

165

The submission has been reviewed by Ecology Officers who considered that it was
disappointing that the applicant had decided to clear the site of all vegetation between
the previously withdrawn application and the current application. LPP G7 requires any
removal of trees to be replaced, which the current proposal does not detail. The Ecology
Officer stated that, given the value of trees for biodiversity and that no replacement trees
are proposed, it is unclear how this development would achieve net gain for biodiversity
by proposing a sedum blanket green. Officers’ opinion is that the loss of the trees prior
to this application was regrettable, but permitted since the trees were not subject to a
TPO. As such, it is necessary to assess the biodiversity of the site as it is now, not its
pre-existing condition with trees. As such, the provision of the green roof to the house is
the only necessary measure to achieve an acceptable biodiversity outcome.

166

There are also trees in the adjacent gardens and it is unclear how these would be
protected during construction. Those trees do not appear to be located in the vicinity of
excavations for the foundations or lower ground floor, so the roots would not be at risk
from excavation, however the crowns overhang the front part of the site and could be
damaged during construction, while the roots could be affected by compaction from
storage of materials.

167

Ecology Officers has recommended several conditions should this planning permission
be granted in terms of a Tree Protection Plan, details of the house’s Green Roof and soft
landscaping plan. Officers also suggested that the applicant should consider integrated
bird bricks and bug hotel and green roofs to the cycle and refuse storage to increase the
biodiversity of the proposed site. Given the size of the site there is limited opportunity to
secure improvements. In light of this, Officers consider it reasonable to secure the
proposed improvements by condition.

Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy

168

LPP SI 13 requires the mitigation of flooding, or in the case of managed flooding, the
stability of buildings, the protection of essential utilities and the quick recovery from
flooding. The LP expects development to contribute to safety, security and resilience to
emergency, including flooding.

169

CSP 10 requires developments to result in a positive reduction in flooding to the
Borough.

170

Further guidance is given in the London Plan’s Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Guidance.

171

Policy G4 requires SUDS unless there are practical reasons for not doing so. In addition,
development should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure surface water is
managed in accordance with the policy’s drainage hierarchy. The supporting text to the
policy recognises the contribution ‘green’ roofs can make to SUDS. The hierarchy within
the policy establishes that development proposals should include ‘green’ roofs and that
Boroughs may wish to develop their own green roof policies. To this end, CSP 7
specifies a preference for Living Roofs (which includes bio-diverse roofs) which in effect,
comprise deeper substrates and a more diverse range of planting than plug-planted
sedum roofs, providing greater opportunity for bio-diversity.
Page 88

172

Further guidance is given in the London Plan’s Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Guidance and the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for
Sustainable Drainage Systems.
Discussion

173

The existing site does make some contribution to the sustainable urban drainage given
that it is an undeveloped site with some vegetation and mainly soil. The proposal does
include a green roof to the proposed building and there will be courtyards with some soft
landscaping. However, no details were submitted to demonstrate how these soft
landscaped areas would contribute to the sustainable urban drainage of this site. Given
the size of the site there is limited opportunity to secure improvements. In light of this,
Officers consider it reasonable to secure the proposed improvements by condition, with
a particular emphasis on ensuring the permeability of surfaces through maximising areas
of soft landscaping and the use of permeable surfaces atop a permeable substrate
where hard surfacing is necessary.

Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion
174

The proposal is acceptable in terms of Sustainable development, subject to conditions.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy

175

Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning.

176

The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.

177

The NPPF at para 185 states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as
the sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.
Green spaces and trees
Policy

178

S.197 of the Town and Country Planning Act gives LPAs specific duties in respect of
trees.

179

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021) requires that decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment.

180

LPP G7 protects trees of value and replacements. New development should include
additional trees wherever appropriate, particularly large-canopied species.

181

CSP 12 seeks to protect trees and prevent the loss of trees of amenity value, with
replacements where loss does occur. DM Policy 25 seeks to ensure that applicants
consider landscaping and trees as an integral part of the application and development
process.
Discussion

Page 89

182

Officers consider it unfortunate that the site had been cleared prior to the submission of
this planning application as it is unclear if there were existing trees on the site. However,
the proposal does include plants within the courtyards and there is an extensive use of
green roofs. The existing site makes little contribution to the natural environment due to
its cleared state and given the size of the site there is limited opportunity to secure
improvements. In light of this, Officers consider it reasonable to secure the proposed
improvements by condition. In line with the Council’s duties under S197 of the Act, it is
appropriate to add conditions requiring a tree protection plan, informed by a tree survey,
prior to the commencement of any works.

Air pollution
Policy

183

NPPF para 170 states decisions should among other things prevent new and existing
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of air pollution. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.
Proposals should be designed and built to improve local air quality and reduce the extent
to which the public are exposed to poor air quality. Poor air quality affects people’s living
conditions in terms of health and well-being. People such as children or older people are
particularly vulnerable.

184

LPP SI1 states new development amongst other requirements must endeavour to
maintain the best ambient air quality (air quality neutral) and not cause new
exceedances of legal air quality standards.

185

CSP 7 reflects the London Plan. CSP 9 seeks to improve local air quality. DMP 23 sets
out the required information to support application that might be affected by, or affect, air
quality.

186

Further guidance is given in the Mayor of London’s Air Quality Strategy.
Discussion

187

The site is located in an Air Quality Management Area. In mitigation, the site is set back
from, and screened by the existing properties fronting, Dundalk Road. It is also modest
in scale and benefits from dual aspect windows. For these reasons it is not consider to
materially worsen existing air quality nor expose new sensitive receptors to unacceptable
air quality impacts.

Natural Environment conclusion
188

The proposal is acceptable in terms of Natural Environment, subject to conditions.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
189

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).
1 The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter
for the decision maker.
Page 90

190

The site would be liable to pay Mayoral CIL of £4290 and Lewisham CIL of £5005.
However, the proposed dwelling may be for self-build exemption, subject to a separate
application process.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
191

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

192

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

193

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

194

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

195

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:






196

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available

Page 91

at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

197

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
198

In determining this application, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

199

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

200

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

201

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new building for residential use.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1,
Article 1 considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
202

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

203

The principle of developing the site for an additional residential dwelling in a sustainable
urban location is acceptable and in accordance with the Development Plan, and weight
is given to this planning merit.

204

The proposed development is acceptable in terms of its scale, form, design, materials.

205

The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbours in terms of overlooking,
loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance, aside from a minor transgression of the
sunlight to a neighbouring garden that does not merit a refusal. It was also considered
that the proposal would not negatively impact on the local transport network or parking.

206

In light of the above, it is recommended that this planning permission is approved subject
to conditions and informatives.
Page 92

RECOMMENDATION
207

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
100 REV P3; 110 REV P1; 115 REV P1; 200 REV P1; 300 REV P2;
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

3)

MATERIALS
a) No development above ground shall commence on site until a detailed
schedule of all external materials and finishes/ windows and external doors/
roof coverings, pointing and mortar to be used on the buildings have been
reviewed and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b) The scheme shall be constructed in those materials as approved under part
(a) of this condition and in full accordance with state relevant plans
mentioned in Condition 2.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the buildings and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character, DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings including
residential extensions

4)

LIVING ROOF
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground level
/ beyond the superstructure) shall commence until of the blue roof with
sedum planting is submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The drawing shall include section, landscaping design
(number, species, etc.).
b) The roofs shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind
whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or
repair, or escape in case of emergency.
c) Evidence that the roof has been installed in accordance with (a) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
the first occupation of the development hereby approved.

Page 93

Reason: To comply with Policy G5 Urban greening in the London Plan (March
2021) , Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
5)

HARD AND SOFT LANDSCAPING
a) Prior to commencement of above ground works drawings showing soft and
permeable hard landscaping of any part of the site not occupied by
buildings (including details of the permeability of hard surfaces) shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b) All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under
part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.

6)

REMOVAL OF PART 1 PD RIGHTS
The development allowed under Article 2, Schedule 2, Classes, A, B, C, D, E, F of
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or
any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) of that Order, shall not be
carried out without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted,
the local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of
any further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011).

7)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN
Prior to commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or
demolition, the Construction Management and Logistic Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include the
following:a) Confirmation that vehicles that would be used during construction of the
development can approach, pull into and out of the designated loading
area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the highway
b) A site plan showing the location of storage for materials
c) Dust mitigation measures.
d) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
e) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
f) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts
which shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.

Page 94

(ii)
Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction relates activity.
(iii)
Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement including any
temporary arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring
properties
g) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).
h) (Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction
Management Plan requirements and any Environmental Management
Plan requirements (delete reference to Environmental Management Plan
requirements if not relevant).
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to
comply with Policy SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing
and construction of the London Plan (March 2021).
8)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground
level) shall commence until details of refuse and recycling facilities
including food waste bin and details of the biodiversity living roof have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b) The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).

9)

CYCLE STORAGE
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground
level) shall commence until detail of the cycle parking facilities that are
safe, covered and weatherproofed including details of the biodiversity
living roof shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
b) The cycle parking facilities approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be provided in full and made available for use prior to occupation of the
development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 14:
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011) and DM Policy
24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

10)

SURFACE WATER
(a) No development above ground level shall commence on site until a
scheme for surface water management, including specifications of the
Page 95

surface treatments and sustainable urban drainage solutions, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
scheme and thereafter the approved scheme is to be retained in
accordance with the details approved therein.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to improve water quality in
accordance with Policy SI 12 Flood risk management in the London Plan (March
2021) and Objective 6: Flood risk reduction and water management and Core
Strategy Policy 10:Managing and reducing the risk of flooding (2011).
11)

TREE PROTECTION PLAN
(a) No development whatsoever shall commence on site until a Tree Survey and
Tree Protection Plan (TPP) has been submitted to and approved by the Council.
The TPP should be informed by the Tree Survey and follow the recommendations
set out in BS 5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction –
Recommendations). The TPP should clearly indicate on a dimensioned plan
superimposed on the building layout plan and in a written schedule details of the
location and form of protective barriers to form a construction exclusion zone, the
extent and type of ground protection measures, and any additional measures
needed to protect vulnerable sections of trees and their root protection areas and
their crowns where construction activity cannot be fully or permanently excluded.
(b) No works to prune or otherwise cut any part of the trees shall commence until
a programme of tree works has been submitted to and approved by the local
planning authority.
(c) the development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full accordance
with the details approved under (a) at all times.
Reason: To safeguard the health and safety of trees during building operations
and the visual amenities of the area generally and to comply with Policy 12 Open
space and environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy
25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character of
the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

12)

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS
(a) Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any gates, walls and
fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to construction of the above ground works.
(b) The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to first
occupation of the buildings and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

13)

BAT AND BIRD BOXES/WILDLIFE
Details of the number and location of the bird and bat boxes to be provided as
part of the development hereby approved, in addition to other wildlife friendly
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
Page 96

authority prior to commencement of above ground works and shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details before occupation of the buildings and
maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: To comply with Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of the
Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial
playing pitches and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
A.

B.

C.

D.

You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance with
the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution and
Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham web
page.
In preparing the scheme of dust minimisation, reference shall be made to the
London Councils Best Practice Guide: The Control of Dust and Emissions from
Construction and Demolition. All mitigation measures listed in the Guide appropriate
to the size, scale and nature of the development will need to be included in the dust
minimisation scheme.
The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site.
The following pre-commencement condition attached to this decision notice is
considered necessary in order to protect the amenities of future occupiers and
users of the proposed development and encompasses ecological benefits, and to
ensure that the proposed development results in a sustainable and well-designed
scheme.





Construction Management Plan
Tree Protection Plan
Bat And Bird Boxes/Wildlife
Soft and Hard Landscaping

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

SITE LOCATION MAP - DC/21/120302 – 28 DUNDALK ROAD,
SE4

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

28 Dundalk Road
SE4 2JL
Page 101

Application No. DC/21/120302

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
1 1 of 30

Page 102

Site Location Plan

2 2 of 30

Page 103

Existing Aerial View

3 3 of 30

Page 104

Proposed view from Dundalk Road

4 4 of 30

Page 105

Proposed 3D view of the development

5 5 of 30

Page 106

Proposed floor plan

6 6 of 30

Page 107

Proposed elevations

7 7 of 30

Page 108

Proposed elevations

8 8 of 30

Key planning considerations
Page 109

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

9 9 of 30

Page 110

Proposed site plan

1010 of 30

Agenda Item 5
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

40 Deptford High Street
New Cross
Alfie Williams
PART 1

30 SEPTEMBER 2021

Reg. Nos.

DC/21/121022

Application dated

25/3/2021

Applicant

Cashino Gaming Ltd

Proposal

Change of use of vacant betting shop (Sui
Generis use) to adult gaming centre (Sui Generis
use) at 40 Deptford High Street SE8.

Background Papers

(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports and documents
(3) Internal consultee responses

Designation

Air Quality Management Area
Area of Archaeological Priority
Deptford District Centre
Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Conservation
Area
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum
Flood Risk Zone 2
Local Open Space Deficiency
Primary Shopping Frontage
PTAL 6a

SUMMARY
1

This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal.
The report has been brought before Committee for a decision on the request of a local
Ward Councillor and due to the submission of nine objections.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

2

40 Deptford High Street is located on the eastern side of the street within the Deptford
High Street and St Pauls Conservation Area. The property, along with No.38, previously
consisted of a single commercial unit occupied by the bookmaker William Hill, it has
subsequently been divided into two unoccupied commercial units. This application
relates to No.40 only.

3

The property is two storeys in height with a pitched roof. The front elevation of the
building has been boarded-up. At the rear, the property has a double storey extension
Page 111

fronting Reginald Square, which is set back 2.5m from the street and has a depth of
11.7m.
Figure 2: Site location plan with 40 Deptford High Street edged in red.

Character of area

4

The surrounding area is predominantly commercial in character owing to its designation
as a Major District Centre, with residential accommodation confined to the upper floors of
the buildings. The high street south of the train station (including the application site) is
designated as Primary Shopping Frontage, with the area to the north designated as
Secondary Shopping Frontage. As a result the high street features a relatively high
concentration of retail uses. The High Street also features a street market on
Wednesday, Friday and Saturdays and has a vibrant night-time economy, mainly
concentrated on Resolution Way and the Market Yard, with many restaurants, bars,
pubs, nightclubs and music venues bringing activity in the evening.

Figure 2: extract from Local Plan policies map showing Major District Centre and primary shopping
frontage designation.

Page 112

Heritage/archaeology

5

The property forms part of a terrace of seven (nos 32-44) two storey plus attic and
basement cottages fronting onto the east side of Deptford High Street known as the
Seven Sisters. No. 40 is on a narrow plot, and has a steeply pitched roof with a single
flat headed small dormer to the front. All seven cottages appear to have been re-fronted
incorporating a brick parapet giving a degree of uniformity of appearance and a
consistent eaves level across the group. The group is thought to originate from the later
18th century and as such are of high architectural and historic significance as rare
examples of early, small Georgian houses.

6

The site is located within Deptford High Street CA in the High Street Character Area.
However, the buildings is not statutory or locally listed.
Transport

7

The property is located within a highly accessible location (PTAL 6a) with Deptford
Station and Deptford Bridge DLR Station within short walking distance. The area is also
served by 24 hour public transport including several night-bus routes on New Cross
Road and a tube service from New Cross Gate Station, approximately 1.1km away.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Application site

8

DC/99/004995: The display of an internally-illuminated fascia and projecting sign on the
front elevation of 38/40 Deptford High Street SE8 – granted.

9

DC/99/045790: The installation of a new shop front at 38-40 Deptford High Street SE8,
together with the installation of air conditioning condensers in the rear yard – granted.

Page 113

10

DC/18/106431: Construction of a first floor rear extension and external stair to form a
self-contained studio flat to the rear of 38 Deptford High Street (fronting Reginald
Square), SE8 – refused 0n 1 June 2018 for the following reasons:
1. By virtue of the poorly detailed design of the proposal together with the inclusion
of an external stair at the Reginald Square frontage and a lack of passive/natural
surveillance towards public areas, the proposal would appear incongruous and of
an inadequate design quality and would fail to create a positive relationship with
the streetscene. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies 15 (High Quality
Design for Lewisham) and 16 (Conservation areas, heritage assets and the
historic environment for Lewisham) of the adopted Core Strategy (2011) and DM
Policy 30 (Urban Design and Local Character) and DM Policy 36 (New
development, changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage
assets and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient
monuments and registered parks and gardens) of the Development Management
Local Plan (2014).
2. By virtue of establishing accommodation with poor outlook and a lack of amenity
space of a good size and utility, the proposal would not provide a satisfactory
standard of residential accommodation, and is therefore contrary to the
provisions of Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016), Policy 15 (High quality design
for Lewisham) of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 32
(Housing design, layout and space standards) of the Lewisham Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
3. By virtue of the proposals excessive depth and height in relation to the
surrounding built form, the proposal would appear as an overbearing form of
development that would impact detrimentally upon the adjoining occupiers to the
south at 34a Reginald Square by way of increased sense of enclosure and
reduced outlook from adjacent room windows, contrary to Policy 15 (High quality
design for Lewisham) of the adopted Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policies
31 (Alterations/extensions to existing buildings) and 32 (Housing design, layout
and space standards) of the adopted Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

11

DC/20/116861: Retrospective planning permission for the installation of a new shop front
at 38-40 Deptford High Street SE8 – refused on 28 September 2020 for the following
reason:
1. The proposed shop front, by reason of its materiality and design, would be an
incongruous addition causing an unacceptable impact upon the character and
appearance of the host building and would fail to preserve or enhance the
Deptford High Street and St Pauls Conservation Area contrary to Section 16
'Conserving and Enhancing the Historic environment' of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019)' Policies 15 'High quality design for
Lewisham' and 16 'Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic
environment' of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011); Policies 19
'Shopfronts, signs and hoardings', 30 'Urban design and local character', 31
'Alterations and extensions to buildings including residential extensions', 36 'New
development, changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage
assets and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient
monuments and registered parks and gardens', 37 'Non designated heritage
assets including locally listed buildings, areas of special local character and
areas of archaeological interest' of the Lewisham Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014); and the provisions of the Lewisham Shop front
design guide SPD (September, 2006).

Page 114

12

DC/21/121020: Installation of new shopfront at 40 Deptford High Street SE8, together
with the creation of fire exit to rear with platform and guard rail – pending a decision and
subject to a separate report at this Planning Committee.

13

DC/21/121021: Installation of an externally illuminated fascia sign and projecting sign to
the front elevation at 40 Deptford High Street SE8 – pending a decision.
Neighbouring sites

14

DC/20/118795: The change of use of 70 Deptford High Street SE8 to an amusement
centre - adult gaming centre (sui generis) – granted 16 March 2021.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
15

The proposed development would see a change of use of the commercial unit from
betting shop (Sui Generis) to an adult gaming centre (Sui Generis). The layout of the unit
would remain largely as existing with the ground floor accommodating the adult gaming
centre. Internal changes include the provision of a toilet and storage area at ground floor
level and an office and staff area at first floor level. No external changes are proposed as
part of this application.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
16

Site notices were displayed on 26 May 2021 and a press notice was published on 21
April 2021.

17

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 16 April 2021.

18

Nine responses were received in total, comprising nine objections.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

Principle of the proposed gambling use

37-44

Overconcentration of gambling uses

41-43

Impact to the high street

44

Impact to the Conservation Area

46-55

No active frontage

53-54

Noise impact

69-70

Opening hours

19

70

Cllr Dacres objected to the proposed change of use on the grounds that Deptford is
oversaturated with gambling establishments, which have been a source of anti-social
behaviour, including street drinking, open drug dealing, and public urination. Cllr Dacres
Page 115

also noted that the site is located in close proximity to schools and that Deptford has
high levels of deprivation and vulnerable people.

20

Deptford Society: objected on the grounds that gambling uses are a source of crime and
exploit vulnerable people. The society also objected to the proposed 24 hours a day
seven day a week opening hours and noted that primary shopping frontage should be
reserved for retail uses.

21

Deptford Neighbourhood Forum: no comments.

22

Deptford Folk: no comments.

23

The objections raise matters that are not main material considerations for this
application. These are addressed below:


Crime and anti-social behaviour: It is recognised that crime and fear of crime are
generally material considerations in the assessment of planning applications as is
made clear by paragraph 92 of the NPPF. However, gambling uses are licenced
and these matters are adequately addressed by the assessment of licencing
applications under separate legislation. A Gaming Licence was granted at
Licencing Committee on 10 August 2021. The Committee resolved to approve
the licence subject to 29 conditions, the majority of which relate to crime and antisocial behaviour prevention and CCTV. See Appendix 1 for the Gambling
Licence



Community Benefit: There is no requirement in policy for development to be
beneficial to the wider community and therefore the absence of any obvious
community benefit is not a consideration for this application.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
24

The following internal consultees were notified on 16 April 2021.

25

Conservation: no objection.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
26

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

27

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
28

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

Page 116

29

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

30

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
31

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
32

Lewisham SPD:


33

Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Church Conservation Area Supplementary
Planning Document (2019)

London Plan SPG:



Culture & Night Time Economy (November 2017)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
34

The main issues are:







Principle of Development
Urban Design & Heritage Impacts
Transport
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Flood Risk

Page 117

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

35

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at Paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

36

Lewisham is defined as an Inner London borough in the London Plan. The London Plan
(LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of land set out in LPP
GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Policy

37

LPP SD6 states that the vitality and viability of London’s varied town centres should be
promoted and enhanced.

38

CSP 6 designates primary and secondary frontages within the Major and District town
centres to ensure essential services are maintained.

39

DMP 14 aims to protect retail uses and imposes criteria for assessing changes of use
involving the loss retails units within primary, secondary and non-designated shopping
frontages. DMP 14 does not impose any restriction on changes of use affecting nonretail uses.
Discussion

40

The commercial unit is currently vacant and was last used as a betting shop (Sui
Generis). The betting shop use does not benefit from any protection or restrictions on
changes of use within national, regional or local policy. As such, the loss of the existing
betting shop use would not conflict with the development plan and is therefore not
objectionable.

41

In regard to the proposed use, there are no policies preventing changes of use to adult
gaming centres. However, the London Plan at paragraph 6.9.5 does identify the harm
that can arise from an overconcentration of certain uses and highlights gambling uses
such as betting shops and amusement centres within those potentially harmful uses. The
Development Management Local Plan at paragraph 2.101 similarly identifies the
detrimental impacts that can arise from an overconcentration of these type of uses.

42

In May 2021, Officers undertook a site visit to Deptford High Street and counted three
betting shops and three vacant units (including the application site and No.70) formerly
in use as betting shops out of a total of 227 addresses on Deptford High Street. This
equates to 3% of the commercial units. Overconcentration in relation to gambling uses is
not defined within the aforementioned policies or elsewhere within the development plan.
The only specific guidance on concentration of commercial uses in District Centres is set
out in DMP 14 and applies to maintaining 70% retail uses in Primary Shopping Frontage
and preventing a concentration of more than three non-retail uses in a row within both
Primary and Secondary Shopping Frontage.

43

In this case the proposed adult gaming centre would replace an existing gambling use
so there would be no net increase to the number of gambling establishments on
Deptford High Street and therefore an assessment of the appropriate concentration of
gambling uses is not required. In coming to this conclusion Officers have recognised that
the unit can reopen as a betting shop at any time without requiring planning permission
as it is remains the lawful use of the unit. For that reason Officers are satisfied that the

Page 118

proposed development would not result in any additional harm to the vitality or viability of
the Deptford High Street or the wider Deptford District Centre.
Principle of development conclusions

44

The proposed change of use would not result in the loss of a retail unit and neither would
it increase the concentration of gambling uses within the high street. The proposed
development would therefore be compliant with the principles of LPP SD6, CSP 6 and
DMP 14.

URBAN DESIGN & HERITAGE IMPACTS
General Policy

45

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.
Impact on Heritage Assets
Policy

46

Heritage assets may be designated—including Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings,
Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens, archaeological remains—or
non-designated.

47

Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
gives LPAs the duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

48

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

49

LPP HC1 states that development proposals affecting heritage assets, and their settings,
should conserve their significance.

50

CSP 16 ensures the value and significance of the borough’s heritage assets are among
things enhanced and conserved in line with national and regional policy.

51

DMP 36 echoes national and regional policy and summarises the steps the borough will
take to manage changes to Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens so that their value and significance as
designated heritage assets is maintained and enhanced.

52

Additional site specific guidance is provided within the Deptford High Street and St
Paul’s Church Conservation Area Supplementary Planning Document (2019)
Discussion

53

The proposed development does not include any external alterations to the building
thereby minimising any significant impacts to the character and appearance of the
Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Conservation Area. Officers consider that there would

Page 119

be some modest benefit from activating a vacant unit and adding to the vitality of the
area.

54

Alterations to the shopfront and the addition of signage would require planning
permission and advertisement consent and are subject to applications DC/21/121020
and DC/21/121021. Matters relating to the external appearance of the building are
therefore not considerations for this application. The shopfront alterations
(DC/21/121020) are before Members this evening with a recommendation for approval.
Summary

55

Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of Conservation Areas in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of The Deptford High Street
and St Paul’s Conservation Area.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

56

Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 104. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

57

Para 111 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.

58

LPP T1 states that all development should make the most effective use of land,
reflecting its connectivity and accessibility by existing and future public transport, walking
and cycling routes, and ensure that any impacts on London’s transport networks and
supporting infrastructure are mitigated.

59

The Core Strategy, at Objective 9 and CSP14, reflects the national and regional
priorities.
Discussion

60

The site is located within a highly accessible town centre location served by a train
station, DLR station and several bus routes. This is reflected in the PTAL rating of 6a,
which is the second highest possible. Therefore, any impact to the local transport
network and local capacity would be negligible.

61

The proposed gaming centre is similar in character to the lawful betting shop use and so
there is not likely to be a significant difference in terms of the servicing and waste
management requirements. As such, it is considered that the unit could retain the
existing arrangement.

Page 120

Transport impact conclusion
62

The proposed development is considered acceptable in transport terms and is therefore
compliant with the development plan.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

63

NPPF para 127 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users.

64

PPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create additional
noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic
environment.

65

Noise can constitute a statutory nuisance and is subject to the provisions of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and other relevant law. This includes noise affecting
balconies and gardens.

66

A range of other legislation provides environmental protection, principally the Control of
Pollution Act. It is established planning practice to avoid duplicating the control given by
other legislation.
Policy

67

PLPP HC6 states that the night-time economy should be managed through an integrated
approach to planning and licensing.
Discussion

68

No external alterations are proposed as part of the application and therefore there would
be no change in terms of loss of outlook, light or privacy at the neighbouring properties.

69

In regard to noise and disturbance, the proposed adult gaming centre is considered to
have similar impacts to that of a betting shop and therefore noise breakout is not
considered to be a significant concern. This has been confirmed by the submission of a
Noise Assessment (Archo Consulting, March 2021), which concludes that noise
breakout from inside the building would be within acceptable levels at all hours of the
day subject to minor renovation works being undertaken internally to repair gaps in the
masonry, plaster and ceiling.

70

The London Plan at Policy HC6 instructs local planning authorities to take an integrated
approach to planning and licensing. Therefore, it is important to consider licencing
decisions when assessing external noise generated by customers entering and leaving
the premises and the appropriate opening hours. The gambling licence for the premises,
granted by Lewisham Council’s Licensing Committee on 12 August 2021 (see Appendix
1), restricts opening hours to 09:00 to midnight Sunday to Thursday and 09:00 to 02:00
the following morning on Friday and Saturday. A condition is therefore recommended
imposing the same opening hours. This would represent an increase on the opening
hours imposed for the adult gaming centre approved at 70 Deptford High Street (ref
DC/20/118795), which restricted opening hours to 9:00 until 23:00 every day of the
week. It should be noted that licencing decisions are open to review and any subsequent
amendment to the licence reducing the operating hours would take precedence.

Page 121

Impact on neighbours conclusion
71

The proposed development is assessed to be acceptable in terms of the impact to the
living conditions of the neighbouring properties subject to a condition restricting the
opening hours.

FLOOD RISK
Policy

72

The NPPF para 159 expects inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding to be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk.

73

LPP 7.13 expects development to contribute to safety, security and resilience to
emergency, including flooding.
Discussion

74

The application site is located within Flood Risk Zone 2 so it is necessary to consider
flood risk vulnerability. In this case the site is fully developed with no external alterations
to the property and therefore flood risk is not considered to be a significant concern.
Summary

75

The proposed development is considered acceptable in terms of flood risk.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
76

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

77

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

78

The CIL is therefore a material consideration and the applicant has completed the
relevant form. In this case the proposed development would not be CIL liable as the
change of use does not include the creation of additional floorspace.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
79

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

80

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:

Page 122



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

81

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

82

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

83

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

84

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

85

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
86

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were

Page 123

incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

87

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

88

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

89

This application has the legitimate aim of changing the use of the building to another
commercial use. The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8
and Protocol 1, Article 1 are not considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this
proposal.

CONCLUSION
90

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

91

The proposed change of use would not conflict with the Development Plan in terms of
the loss of the existing betting shop use or by introducing an over concentration of
gambling uses within Deptford High Street. The impacts to the Deptford High Street
Conservation Area, the local transport network and the living conditions of the
neighbouring properties have been considered and are assessed to be acceptable.
Therefore, the application is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION
92

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS

Page 124

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
DHS/DEP/01 Rev B; Site Plan received 25 March 2021;
DHS/DEP/04 Rev B received 6 September 2021
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.
3)

OPENING HOURS
The premises shall only be operational between the hours of 09:00 to midnight
Sunday to Thursday and 09:00 to 02:00 the following morning on Friday and
Saturday.
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at
unsociable periods and to comply with DM Policy 14 District centres shopping
frontages of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
no pre-application advice was sought. However, as the proposal was clearly in
accordance with the Development Plan, permission could be granted without any
further discussion.

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

BINGO PREMISES LICENCE
Licence No: GPL113
This licence is issued under section 164 of the Gambling Act 2005 by the
London Borough of Lewisham

Part 1 – Details of person to whom licence is issued
This premises licence is issued to: Merkur Slots UK Limited
Of the following address:
Seebeck House
1A Seebeck Place
Knowlhill
Milton Keynes
MK5 8FR
Who holds an operating licence which has been given the following operating
licence number by the Gambling Commission:
000-003266-N-103444
Part 2 – Details of the premises in respect of which the licence is issued
Facilities for gambling may be provided in accordance with this licence on the
following premises:
Merkur Slots
40 Deptford High Street
London SE8 4AF
Part 3 – Premises Licence Details
The licence came into effect on: 7th September 2021
This licence is of unlimited duration
A scale plan is attached as an annex to this licence
The default conditions in relation to the opening hours of the premises
are excluded, so that the premises may open for bingo gambling
purposes:
A: 09:00 – 00:00 Sunday – Thursday
B: 09:00 – 02:00 Friday & Saturday

Page 127

The following conditions have been attached to the licence by the issuing
authority under section 169(1)(a) of the Gambling Act 2005:
See Annex 1
A scale plan is attached to this licence under Annex 2

Signed on behalf of the Licensing Authority

Directorate for Community Services
Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service
Licensing Authority
Holbeach Office
9 Holbeach Road
London
SE6 4TW

Page 128

Proper Officer for Licensing
London Borough of Lewisham

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A
PREMISES LICENCE
This is issued under section 164 of the Gambling Act 2005 by the
London Borough of Lewisham
This summary is issued to:

Merkur Slots UK Limited
Of the following address:

Seebeck House
1A Seebeck Place
Knowlhill
Milton Keynes
MK5 8FR
A premises licence of the following type: Bingo
Has been issued in respect of the following premises:

Merkur Slots, 40 Deptford High Street, Deptford London SE8 4AF
Summary of the Terms and Conditions of the Premises Licence
1. The premises licence will run in perpetuity unless:
 The Secretary of State prescribes a period after which the licence will
expire under section 191 of the Gambling Act 2005;
 The licence holder surrenders the licence under section 192 of the Gambling
Act 2005;
 The licence lapses under section 194 of the Gambling Act 2005.
2. The premises licence applies only in relation to the premises specified in Part 2 of
the licence and may not be varied so that it applies to any other premises (except in
the case of a converted casino premises licence).
3. The premises licence authorises the premises to be used for Bingo
4. The premises licence is subject to:
 Any conditions specified on the face of the licence as being attached under
section 169 (1) of the Gambling Act 2005;
 Any other conditions attached to the licence by virtue of regulations made
under sections 1967 & 1968 of the Gambling Act 2005 (other than any
conditions under section 168 which have been excluded by the licensing
authority); and
 Any conditions attached to the licence by virtue of specific provision of The
Gambling Act 2005.
5. In particular, it is a condition of the premises licence under section 185 of the
Gambling Act 2005 that the holder keeps the licence on the premises and arranges
for it to be made available on request to a constable, enforcement officer or local
authority officer. The holder of the licence commits an offence if he fails to comply
with this condition.

Page 129

Annex 1: Conditions of Licence
1. Premises opening hours: a. 09:00 to midnight Sunday to Thursday;
and b. 09:00 to 02:00 the following morning on Friday and Saturday.
2. The venue shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system at
the premises which should cover, as a minimum: a. all entry and exit
points to and from the premises enabling frontal identification of every
person entering under any light conditions; b. the areas of the premises
to which the public have access (excluding toilets); and c. gaming
machines and the counter area; The CCTV system shall continually
record whilst the venue is open for licensable activities and during all
times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be
stored for a minimum period of thirty one days with date and time visible.
Subject to data protection legislative requirements, recordings shall be
made available to the Police or an authorised officer of the Licensing
Authority upon request.
3. There shall be an external camera at the premises which will provide live
images to staff in the service counter area.
4. Notices indicating that CCTV is in use at the premises shall be placed at
or near the entrance to the premises.
5. The licence holder shall ensure that the outside areas of the premises
are monitored so as to ensure there is no public nuisance or obstruction
of the highway.
6. An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made available on
request to an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or the Police.
Details to include: a. all crimes reported to the venue b. all ejections of
patrons c. any complaints received concerning crime and disorder d. any
incidents of disorder e. all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons f. any
visit by a relevant authority or emergency service. g. any attempts by
children and young persons to gain access to the premises to gamble h.
any Think 25 Refusals.
7. A Think 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where
the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic
identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or proof of age
card with the PASS Hologram.
8. Prominent signage and notices advertising the Think 25 Policy will be
displayed at the premises.
9. Third party testing on age restricted sales systems shall be carried out on
the premises at least 3 times a year and the results shall be provided to
the Licensing Authority upon request.

Page 130

10. The licensee will ensure, through regular checks and intervention that
customer’s children are not left unsupervised outside the premises.
11. A magnetic locking device, commonly referred to as a Maglock will be
installed and maintained on the main entrance/exit to the premises which
will be operable by the ground floor staff.
12. The appropriate staffing levels will be assessed by way of risk
assessment and cognisance will be taken of any police advice.
13. There shall be no pre-planned single staffing after 20:00.
14. If at any time (whether before or after the opening of the premises), the
police or licensing authority supply to the premises names and/or
photographs of individuals which it wishes to be banned from the
premises, the licensee shall use all reasonable endeavours to implement
the ban through staff training.
15. The Licensee shall implement a policy of banning any customers who
engage in crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour within or outside the
premises.
16. The licensee will refuse entry to customers who appear to be under the
influence of alcohol or drugs.
17. The licensee shall install and maintain an intruder alarm on the
premises.
18. The Company’s staff guard system or similar shall be installed and
maintained at the premises, which allows direct communication with a
central monitoring station permitting audio and CCTV communication.
19. The licensee will ensure that customer toilets are checked hourly and
access is permitted by interaction with staff members
20. Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the premises.
21. The Licensee shall train staff on specific issues related to the local area
and shall conduct periodic refresher training. Participation in the training
shall be formally recorded and the records produced to the police or
licensing authority upon request.
22. The licensee will contact Bench Outreach and local charities identified by
the Licensee as working with people with mental health issues and
gambling addiction issues to work in partnership and identify local
concerns.
23. The licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking of
alcohol directly outside the premises and to ban from the premises those
who do so.
Page 131

24. The licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the premises
stating that customers drinking alcohol outside the premises is not
permitted and those who do so will be banned from the premises.
25. Full cash collections will not be completed by lone staff members.
26. Upon request, the licensee shall provide the Licensing Authority with
their compliance/operating manual which sets out all of the premises
policies to meet the regulatory requirements under the Gambling Act
2005 and shall provide a copy of any update or revision as soon as
practicable following the implementation of that change.
27. The licensee shall participate in a local Betwatch or similar scheme,
where available.
28. The Licensee will provide a contact number for local residents to contact
the premises
29. Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a
place that requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling
at any gaming machine in order to do so.

Page 132

Annex 2 – Plan
Merkur Slots Plan Ref MS1

Page 133

This page is intentionally left blank

Site Location Plan – 40 Deptford High Street

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

40 Deptford High Street

London,
Page 137

SE8 4AF
Application No. DC/21/121020

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of 10

Page 138

The Change of use of vacant betting shop (Sui
Generis use) to adult gaming centre (Sui Generis
use) at 40 Deptford High Street SE8.

2 of 10

Page 139

Site Location Plan

3 of 10

Page 140

Aerial View

4 of 10

Page 141

Current Front Elevation

5 of 10

Page 142

Previous Front Elevation

6 of 10

Page 143

Deptford District Centre South of the Station (Primary Shopping Frontage in Dark Blue)

7 of 10

Page 144

Proposed 1st Floor Plan

Proposed Floor Plans

8 of 10

MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
 Principle of Development

 Urban Design & Heritage Impact
Page 145

 Living Condition of the Neighbouring Properties
 Transport Impact

9 of 10

Page 146

End of Presentation

10 of 10

Page 147

11 of 10

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

40 Deptford High Street
New Cross
Alfie Williams
PART 1

30 September 2021

Reg. Nos.

DC/21/121020

Application dated

25.03.2021

Applicant

Cashino Gaming Ltd

Proposal

Installation of new shopfront at 40 Deptford High
Street SE8, together with the creation of fire exit
to rear with platform and guard rail.

Background Papers

(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports and documents
(3) Internal consultee responses

Designation

Air Quality Management Area
Area of Archaeological Priority
Deptford District Centre
Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Conservation
Area
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum
Flood Risk Zone 2
Local Open Space Deficiency
Primary Shopping Frontage
PTAL 6a

SUMMARY
1

This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal.
The report has been brought before Committee for a decision due to an objection from
the Deptford Society.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use
2

40 Deptford High Street is located on the eastern side of the street within the Deptford
High Street and St Pauls Conservation Area. The property, along with No.38, previously
consisted of a single commercial unit occupied by the bookmaker William Hill, it has
subsequently been divided into two unoccupied commercial units. This application
relates to No.40 only.

3

The property is two storeys in height with a pitched roof. The front elevation of the
building has been boarded-up. At the rear, the property has a double storey extension
fronting Reginald Square, which is set back 2.5m from the street and has a depth of
11.7m.
Page 149

Figure 1: Site location plan with 40 Deptford High Street edged in red.

Character of area
4

The surrounding area is predominantly commercial in character owing to its designation
as a Major District Centre, with residential accommodation confined to the upper floors of
the buildings. The high street south of the train station (including the application site) is
designated as Primary Shopping Frontage, with the area to the north designated as
Secondary Shopping Frontage. As a result the high street features a relatively high
concentration of retail uses. The High Street also features a street market on
Wednesday, Friday and Saturdays and has a vibrant night-time economy, mainly
concentrated on Resolution Way and the Market Yard, with many restaurants, bars,
pubs, nightclubs and music venues bringing activity in the evening.
Figure 2: extract from Local Plan policies map showing Major District Centre and primary
shopping frontage designation.

Page 150

Heritage/archaeology
5

The property forms part of a terrace of seven (nos 32-44) two storey plus attic and
basement cottages fronting onto the east side of Deptford High Street known as the
‘Seven Sisters’. No. 40 is on a narrow plot, and has a steeply pitched roof with a single
flat headed small dormer to the front. All seven cottages appear to have been re-fronted
incorporating a brick parapet giving a degree of uniformity of appearance and a
consistent eaves level across the group. The group is thought to originate from the later
18th century and as such are of high architectural and historic significance as rare
examples of early, small Georgian houses.

6

The site is located within Deptford High Street CA in the High Street Character Area.
However, the buildings is not statutory or locally listed.
Transport

7

The property is located within a highly accessible location (PTAL 6a) with Deptford
Station and Deptford Bridge DLR Station within short walking distance. The area is also
served by 24 hour public transport including several night-bus routes on New Cross
Road and a tube service from New Cross Gate Station, approximately 1.1km away.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
8

DC/99/004995: The display of an internally-illuminated fascia and projecting sign on the
front elevation of 38/40 Deptford High Street SE8 – granted.

9

DC/99/045790: The installation of a new shop front at 38-40 Deptford High Street SE8,
together with the installation of air conditioning condensers in the rear yard – granted.

Page 151

10

DC/18/106431: Construction of a first floor rear extension and external stair to form a
self-contained studio flat to the rear of 38 Deptford High Street (fronting Reginald
Square), SE8 – refused 0n 1 June 2018 for the following reasons:
1. By virtue of the poorly detailed design of the proposal together with the inclusion
of an external stair at the Reginald Square frontage and a lack of passive/natural
surveillance towards public areas, the proposal would appear incongruous and of
an inadequate design quality and would fail to create a positive relationship with
the streetscene. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies 15 (High Quality
Design for Lewisham) and 16 (Conservation areas, heritage assets and the
historic environment for Lewisham) of the adopted Core Strategy (2011) and DM
Policy 30 (Urban Design and Local Character) and DM Policy 36 (New
development, changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage
assets and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient
monuments and registered parks and gardens) of the Development Management
Local Plan (2014).
2. By virtue of establishing accommodation with poor outlook and a lack of amenity
space of a good size and utility, the proposal would not provide a satisfactory
standard of residential accommodation, and is therefore contrary to the
provisions of Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016), Policy 15 (High quality design
for Lewisham) of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 32
(Housing design, layout and space standards) of the Lewisham Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
3. By virtue of the proposals excessive depth and height in relation to the
surrounding built form, the proposal would appear as an overbearing form of
development that would impact detrimentally upon the adjoining occupiers to the
south at 34a Reginald Square by way of increased sense of enclosure and
reduced outlook from adjacent room windows, contrary to Policy 15 (High quality
design for Lewisham) of the adopted Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policies
31 (Alterations/extensions to existing buildings) and 32 (Housing design, layout
and space standards) of the adopted Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

11

DC/20/116861: Retrospective planning permission for the installation of a new shop front
at 38-40 Deptford High Street SE8 – refused on 28 September 2020 or the following
reason:
1. The proposed shop front, by reason of its materiality and design, would be an
incongruous addition causing an unacceptable impact upon the character and
appearance of the host building and would fail to preserve or enhance the
Deptford High Street and St Pauls Conservation Area contrary to Section 16
'Conserving and Enhancing the Historic environment' of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019)' Policies 15 'High quality design for
Lewisham' and 16 'Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic
environment' of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011); Policies 19
'Shopfronts, signs and hoardings', 30 'Urban design and local character', 31
'Alterations and extensions to buildings including residential extensions', 36 'New
development, changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage
assets and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient
monuments and registered parks and gardens', 37 'Non designated heritage
assets including locally listed buildings, areas of special local character and
areas of archaeological interest' of the Lewisham Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014); and the provisions of the Lewisham Shop front
design guide SPD (September, 2006).

Page 152

12

DC/21/121021: Installation of an externally illuminated fascia sign and projecting sign to
the front elevation at 40 Deptford High Street SE8 – pending a decision.

13

DC/21/121022: Change of use of vacant betting shop (Sui Generis use) to adult gaming
centre (Sui Generis use) at 40 Deptford High Street SE8 – pending a decision, with a
recommendation for approval for consideration by Members at this Committee.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
14

The proposed development would see the removal of the existing shopfront and
replacement with a new timber shopfront. The shopfront would include new pilasters,
transoms, transom lights, glazing and doors in softwood as well a new stall riser clad in
plywood tiles. A new plywood fascia board would also be installed. The new shopfront
would be painted black.

15

The development also includes the creation of a new entrance in the rear elevation
featuring a steel security door. To the rear of the door a new platform would be
constructed with a brick plinth to the match the existing brickwork. The platform would
feature a black painted balustrade with handrail.

16

Officers note that the design of the shopfront has been amended following input from the
Conservation Officer and subsequent discussions. The amendments principally concern
the proportions of the shopfront including a reduction to the height of the fascia. In
addition the material for the new pilasters was amended to softwood rather than treated
plywood as initially proposed.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
17

Site notices were displayed on 26 May 2021 and a press notice was published on 21
April 2021.

18

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area as well as to the
relevant Ward Councillors and the Deptford Society on 16 April 2021.

19

The Deptford Society raised objections to the application due to the height of the
proposed fascia and the proposal to use softwood and plywood for the new shopfront.
The amends to the design negotiated by Officers were not sufficient to overcome the
objection due to concerns with the materials.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
20

The following internal consultees were notified on 7 May.

21

Conservation: Initially objected to the proposal due to concerns with the scale of the
fascia and impact on the diminutive proportions of the property and cill of the obscured
first floor window. Also objected to the proposal to incorporate plywood within the new
pilasters. The objection was withdrawn following the submission of the revisions
described above.

Page 153

22

Highways: Did not submit comments for the application.

23

Environmental Protection: No objections.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
24

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

25

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
26

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

27

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

28

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
29

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
30

Lewisham SPD:
Page 154




Shopfront Design Guide SPD (March 2006)
Deptford & St Paul’s Church Conservation Area Character Appraisal (November
2019)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
31

The main issues are:




Principle of Development
Urban Design & Heritage Impact

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy
32

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

33

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Discussions

34

The Development Plan is generally supportive of improvements and alterations to
commercial units given the potential benefits to the viability and vitality of the town
centre.
Principle of development conclusions

35

The principle of development is supported subject to an assessment of the impact to the
Deptford and St Paul’s Conservation Area and the living conditions of the neighbouring
properties.

URBAN DESIGN & HERITAGE IMPACT
General Policy
36

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.
Policy

37

Heritage assets may be designated—including Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings,
Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens, archaeological remains—or
non-designated.

38

Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a duty on the part of LPA’s when considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a conservation area to pay ‘special attention’
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that
conservation area

Page 155

39

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

40

CSP 16 ensures the value and significance of the borough’s heritage assets are among
things enhanced and conserved in line with national and regional policy.

41

DMP 36 echoes national and regional policy and summarises the steps the borough will
take to manage changes to Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens so that their value and significance as
designated heritage assets is maintained and enhanced.

42

DMP 19 states that new shopfronts and the replacement of non-period shopfronts
should use high quality materials and use a design that relates well to the proportion,
scale and detailing of the entire host building and makes a positive contribution to the
streetscape.

43

The Deptford High Street and St Pauls Conservation Area Character Appraisal identifies
the ‘Seven Sisters’ No.32-44 Deptford High Street as opportunities for building
restoration and rejuvenation.
Discussion

44

The proposal to install a new shopfront at 40 Deptford High Street offers the opportunity
to rejuvenate the property. This is an opportunity identified within the Character
Appraisal so is welcomed by Officers. At present the property, along with No.38, is
boarded up thus obscuring the shopfront entirely. Prior to becoming vacant the shopfront
for the joint commercial unit at Nos. 38-40 had a contemporary appearance that was a
poor response to the historic architecture thus detracting from the character of the
property and adjoining terrace. This is shown in the photographs below.
Photographs 1 and 2 showing the previous shopfront (left) and current condition (right)

45

DMP 19 is clear that replacement shopfront should reflect the proportions, scale and
detailing of the host property. The proposed shopfront achieves this by reinstating some
of the characteristic features of Georgian and Victorian shopfront such as pilasters, a
stall riser and transom lights. Additionally, the fascia board is appropriately scaled to
reflect the diminutive proportions of the Georgian terrace.
Page 156

46

The proposed use of timber for all of the joinery is appropriate and is a considerable
improvement on the previous aluminium shopfront. Officers acknowledge that some of
the joinery uses more contemporary timber based products. However, the majority of the
features would be soft wood including the projecting pilasters that are most vulnerable to
weathering.

47

Overall, the replacement shopfront is considered to enhance the character and
appearance of the Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Church Conservation Area. In
coming to this conclusion Officers have given significant weight to the beneficial impact
of removing the contemporary shopfront and restoring an active frontage to a boardedup unit.

48

Officers consider that there are further opportunities to rejuvenate the property at first
floor level by removing the boarding and revealing the first floor brickwork and window.
Discussions have taken place during the course of this application attempting to include
these works within the proposals. Regrettably, this has not been possible as the first
floor level of the frontage building falls outside the demise of the applicant. However, its
removal remains a future priority for the Council in accordance with the
recommendations of the Character Appraisal.

49

The works to the rear elevation are restricted to ground floor level within an area
principally used for servicing and as such would not have a significant visual impact on
the conservation area.

50

Therefore, Officers are satisfied that the current proposal would enhance the
Conservation Area.
Summary

51

Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would enhance the character and appearance of Deptford and St Pauls
Conservation Area. No materials condition is required as Officers consider the materials
specified on the plans to be sufficiently detailed and acceptable.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
52

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

53

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

54

The CIL is therefore a material consideration and the applicant has completed the
relevant form. In this case the proposed development would not be CIL liable as the
change of use does not include the creation of additional floorspace.

Page 157

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
55

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

56

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

57

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

58

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

59

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

60

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

61

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

Page 158

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
62

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

63

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

64

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

65

This application has the legitimate aim of making minor alteration to a commercial
building. The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and
Protocol 1, Article 1 are not considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
66

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

67

The proposed development would restore a timber shopfront to the property that would
respond positively to the proportions, scale and design of the historic architecture, thus
enhancing the character and appearance of the Deptford High Street and St Paul’s
Church Conservation Area. Officers recommend that the application is granted subject to
conditions.

RECOMMENDATION
68

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.

Page 159

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
DHS-DEP-01 Rev B; DHS-DEP-04 Rev A; DHS-DEP-06 Rev A: Site Location
Plan received 25 March 2021;
DHS-DEP-08 Rev F received 14 July 2021;
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
positive discussions took place which resulted in further information being
submitted.

Page 160

Site Location Plan – 40 Deptford High Street

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

40 Deptford High Street

London,
Page 163

SE8 4AF
Application No. DC/21/121020

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of 12

Page 164

The Installation of a new shopfront at 40 Deptford
High Street SE8, together with the creation of fire
exit to rear with platform and guard rail.

2 of 12

Page 165

Site Location Plan

3 of 12

Page 166

Aerial View

4 of 12

Page 167

Front Elevation Photographs

5 of 12

Page 168

Previous shopfront

6 of 12

Page 169

Deptford District Centre South of the Station (Primary Shopping Frontage in Dark Blue)

7 of 12

Page 170

Proposed Shopfront

8 of 12

Page 171

Existing & Proposed Rear Elevation

9 of 12

Page 172

Existing & Proposed Rear Yard

10 of 12

Page 173

Proposed Floor Plan

11 of 12

MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
 Principle of Development

 Urban Design & Heritage Impact
Page 174

12 of 12

Page 175

End of Presentation

13 of 12

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

39-43 Eddystone Road
Crofton Park
Samuel James
PART 1

30 SEPTEMBER 2021

Reg. Nos.

(A) DC/20/119755

Application dated

23 December 2020

Applicant

Smith and Newton Architects on Behalf of the
Royal British Legion

Proposal

Demolition of existing community building and
associated outbuildings at 39-43 Eddystone
Road SE4 and the construction of a three storey
building to provide 6 self contained flats ( 3 x 1
Bed, 1 x 2 Bed & 2 x 3 Bed), together with
community space at ground floor level (Use Class
F), landscaping, external bin store and 11 cycle
spaces, with pedestrian and cycle access onto
Buckthorne Road and Brockley Path.

Background Papers

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Designation

No statutory designations – Most recent use as
Royal British Legion Clubhouse (Use Class F.2)

Screening

N/A

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports and documents
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

SUMMARY
1

The proposal is presented to committee as planning permission is recommended to be
granted, and there are 12 material planning objections.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

2

The application site relates to a triangular plot of land located on the South-westerly
corner junction of Eddystone Road and Buckthorne Road. ‘Brockley Path’, a public
footpath cut through, runs along the southern boundary of the site, between the site and
the boundary of No.66 Buckthorne Road.

3

The site currently contains a single storey building, which was last in use as a Royal
British Legion Clubhouse (Use Class F.2), but which has ceased operations.
Page 177

Character of area

4

The area to the West of the site is open and green in nature, comprising the Buckthorne
Cutting Nature Reserve to the North-east, the railway line and its treed embankment
running north to south to the east of that, and beyond lies Camberwell Cemetery and
Honor Oak Playground and park.

5

To the east, the area is predominantly residential in nature, and comprised of terraced
housing of mostly two stories (+ roofspace) in height. Brockley Road to the East is
predominantly three stories in height, and has commercial uses at ground floor level,
with residential above.
Heritage/archaeology

6

The site is not within a Conservation Area, nor does in contain a listed building and there
are no listed buildings within the vicinity. The site is located within a designated area of
archaeological priority.
Surrounding area

7

The surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature, and Brockley Road to the
east has a number of commercial parades and uses. Crofton Park station is located to
the north of the site, within 10 minutes walking distance.
Local environment

8

There are no know flooding issues at the site. The site is within an air quality
management area. There are no known sources of contamination at the site.
Transport

9

The site has a PTAL rating of 3, and is considered well accessible by public transport. A
number of bus routes operate along Brockley Road, and Crofton Park Rail station is an
approximate 10 minute walk from site.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
10

There is no relevant planning history to note.

11

It is noted that the applicants received pre application advice in August 2020 relating to a
similar proposal on the site for a three storey building containing 9 dwellings. The current
proposal has evolved as a result of this pre application advice.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
12

The current proposal is for the demolition of the existing buildings on the site, and the
construction of a three storey building, containing six self-contained flats, and a
community use (Class F) at ground floor level.

13

The dwelling mix would consist of three x one bedroom, one x two bedroom, and two x
three bedroom dwellings.

Page 178

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
14

A site notice was sent for the applicant to displayed on 14th January 2021.

15

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on the 14th January 2021.

16

13 number responses received, comprising 12 objections, including one from Councillor
Tauseef, one from the Hopcroft Neighbourhood Forum, and one from Lewisham
Cyclists; and 1 letter of support.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where
addressed
Objections to loss of existing building and community use. Hopcroft 44
Neighbourhood plan protects this community facility (para 5.6).
Clarification sought about proposed use, operating hours and access of
community space. Concerns RE: noise and parking, e.g. late night
parties if space can be hired out and used for parties as it has been in
the past.

47

Improvements are needed in the local area and the Council should take 188
this into consideration and ensure that the community is able to benefit
from the project.
Fewer units and family-orientated housing would make more sense for 58 65
the area.
1 bedroom flats are undesirable

66

No social or low rent housing proposed

54

Appears to be designed to cram as many residents as possible within a 58
small footprint / Proposal would overdevelop the plot
Insufficient play / outdoor space, e.g. for children

83

Three storey building would be too tall, stark, dominating and imposing 96
building, which would not be in keeping with the character of the area.
This is an important area for nature conservation & Lewisham heritage

6 + 179

A large new-build of mixed bricks and zinc roof is incongruous with the 104
existing Edwardian owner-occupied houses on Buckthorne Road.
At 9.5m height, proposed building will ‘Loom over our garden’.

148

Would also result in rear of house and our back garden being 151
overlooked. Occupants in 3rd floor rooms in particular, resulting in a loss
of privacy. There is the same issue with the balcony of the three bedroom
Page 179

flat backing onto the alleyway. With the balcony's low wall, it will be
overlooking our back garden. Will green roof be accessible?
Accommodating potentially 20 residents in this space may have a 156
negative impact on noise pollution
Impacts of construction

157

Increased parking stress

143

Impacts of development on use of Brockley Pathway to the rear.

128

Concern that doors open onto existing cycle path to rear of site.
Impacts to cycling routes close to the site.

135

Cycle parking provision is impractical and inadequate.

138

The building impacts upon sight lines at a busy junction heavily used by 136
pedestrians and cyclists creating potential hazard
Refuse storage appears poorly considered. Large refuse bins create 127
noise disturbance issues that smaller household bins do not.
Area of the street has been closed to traffic, and proposal risks adding 108
more cars to the area. This area has become a community hub which
would be ruined if there was increased traffic and parking
Eddystone Road and footbridge needs improvements, including fixing
and widening the pavement. Developers should contribute to this before
they are able to build on the road.

188

The site is beside a pocket park and a nature reserve that has been 188
created by local residents and approved by the neighbourhood forum.
The developers should preserve and enhance the pocket park and
ensure that it remains open for community use.
Low carbon heating and solar panels should be proposed to reduce
carbon impacts.

164

Comments in support
Comment
One comment stated they support the proposal for 6 new flats.
Several commenters noted the site is in need of redevelopment.

Local Meeting
17

As more than ten valid planning objections were received, objectors, ward councillors
and the developer were invited to attend a ‘Local Meeting’. This meeting was held on
14th July 2021. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, this meeting was held in a virtual format,
via Zoom. The meeting was chaired by Councillor Barnham.

Page 180

18

The developer was invited to give a short presentation on the scheme, followed by pre
submitted questions which had been emailed to officers prior to the meeting. Follow up
questions during the meeting could be submitted via text on the Zoom web application.

19

The meeting was attended by 8 local residents, Councillor Chris Barnham (Chair),
Councillor Anwar (Objected), the developer’s planning agents, planning officer Samuel
James and South Area Team Leader James Hughes.
Discussion

20

The key concerns raised by objectors mirrored those received in writing. The key
planning concerns were the impacts of the design of the proposal on the surrounding
area, the impact on neighbouring amenity, impacts to pedestrians and cyclists, and
impacts to the adjacent nature reserve, and ‘pocket park’ on Eddystone Road.

21

Minutes of the meeting are attached at Appendix A.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
22

The following internal consultees were notified on 14 January 2021.

23

Highways: gave verbal comments and raised no objections subject to conditions. See
from para 120 for further details.

24

Ecological Regeneration: raised no objections, subject to conditions. See para 182 for
further details.

25

Tree officer: did not comment.

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
26

The following External Consultees were notified on 14 January 2021.

27

Thames Water: No objections subject to a condition relating to piling details being
submitted for approval, and a number of informative notes to the developer.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
28

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
29

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

30

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.
Page 181

31

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
32

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
33

Lewisham SPG/SPD:




34

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (February 2015)
Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (March 2006)

London Plan SPG/SPD:













Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
London’s Foundations (2012)
All London Green Grid (March 2012)
Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)
Character and Context (June 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
Social Infrastructure (May 2015)
Housing (March 2016)
Homes for Londoners: Affordable Housing & Viability (August 2017)
Energy Assessment Guidance (October 2018)

Page 182

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
35

The main issues are:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

36

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

37

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

38

The London Plan at Table 4.1 sets a 10 year housing completion target of 16,670 new
homes between 2019 and 2029 for Lewisham, and London Plan Policy H1 requires
boroughs to optimise the potential for housing delivery on all suitable and available
brownfield sites through their planning decisions.

39

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) speaks of the need for delivering
a wide choice of high quality homes, which meet identified local needs (in accordance
with the evidence base), widen opportunities for home ownership, and create
sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.

40

NPPF Chapter 11 outlines that planning decisions should make effective use of land by
promoting and supporting under-utilised land and buildings, particularly where they
would contribute to housing need and where sites could be used more effectively.
Policy

41

Core Strategy Policy 19 covers the provision and maintenance of community and
recreational facilities. It states that: The Council will apply the London Plan policies
relating to healthcare, education and community and recreational facilities to ensure:
a. there is no net loss of facilities
b. the needs of current and future populations arising from development are
sufficiently provided for
c. the preferred location for new uses will be in areas that are easily accessible
and located within close proximity of public transport, other community
facilities and services and town and local centres
d. co-location of services and multi-use facilities are encouraged and supported

Page 183

e. a safe and secure environment is created and maintained.

42

DM Policy 43 states the Council will protect existing art, culture and entertainment uses.
Redevelopment of such sites will only be allowed where there is re-provision in a new or
existing facility.

43

London Plan Policy S1 States:
C. Development proposals that provide high quality, inclusive social infrastructure that
addresses a local or strategic need and supports service delivery strategies should be
supported.
F. Development proposals that would result in a loss of social infrastructure in an area of
defined need should be refused unless:
1) there are realistic proposals for re-provision that continue to serve the needs of
the neighbourhood and wider community, or;
2) the loss is part of a wider public service transformation plan which requires
investment in modern, fit for purpose infrastructure and facilities in order to meet
future population needs or to sustain and improve services.
G. Redundant social infrastructure should be considered for full or partial use as other
forms of social infrastructure before alternative developments are considered, unless this
loss is part of a wider public service transformation plan.
Principle of development conclusions

44

The proposal would provide new community space in place of the existing, and this
would be F.2 use class, which is for community uses. 107m² would be provided in the
place of the existing building, which has a total internal floor area of approximately
157m². As the proposal would re-provide a community use at ground floor level, the
demolition of the existing building is supported in principle.

45

It is noted that planning permission would be required for a change of use outside the
F.2 use class. Class F2(b) is defined as halls or meeting places for the principal use of
the local community and any future commercial use would need the express permission
of the Local Planning Authority.

46

The proposal would give rise to a small reduction in the total quantum of F2 floorspace.
The site would benefit from redevelopment as the existing building is in a poor state of
repair internally and externally and the new floorspace is judged to be a higher quality
provision. Additionally, the provision of housing, including two three bedroom units for
families is a planning merit. The provision of a new, usable community space is also a
planning merit, and officers give very significant weight to these. It is considered these
benefits outweigh the loss of 50m² of community space.

47

To ensure any future use is compatible with the surrounding residential area, details of
the future use, including internal layout, noise separation between uses, services to be
provided and hours of operation are recommended to be secured by condition. Officers
note that alcohol licensing is a separate Council process to Planning, and falls outside
the scope of this assessment.

48

In summary, the principle of development is supported as it would provide a new
commercial space within the F.2 community use class in place of the existing community
building, as well as six new residential dwellings.

Page 184

49

The acceptability of the proposal is dependent upon the quality of residential
accommodation, the design of the proposed building and its impact on the appearance
of the surrounding area and neighbouring occupiers’ amenity, as well as the impacts to
the local transport network, and sustainability and environmental matters. These are
discussed in detail in following sections of this report.

HOUSING
50

This section covers: (i) the contribution to housing supply, including density; (ii) the
dwelling size mix; (iii) the standard of accommodation. No affordable housing is
proposed, as the proposal is not for major development.
Contribution to housing supply
Policy

51

National and regional policy promotes the most efficient use of land.

52

LPP D2 sets out that the density of development proposals should consider, and be
linked to, the provision of future planned levels of infrastructure and be proportionate to
the site’s connectivity and accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport to jobs
and services (including both PTAL and access to local services).

53

London Plan Policies H1 and D6 support the most efficient use of land and development
at the optimum density. Defining optimum is particular to each site and is the result of the
design-led approach. Consideration should be given to: (i) the site context; (ii) its
connectivity and accessibility by walking and cycling and existing and planned public
transport (including PTAL); and (iii) the capacity of surrounding infrastructure.
Discussion

54

As the proposal is for minor development (less than 10 residential units) there is no
policy requirement to provide affordable housing.

55

The proposal would contribute 6 new dwellings and the site has an area of 0.042
hectares. The PTAL of the area is 3, and the site is considered well connected to public
transport.

56

Table 2 below sets out the measures of density criteria required by the supporting text to
LPP D3 (para 3.3.22 of the LP) for all sites with new residential units.
Table [2]: Measures of Density

Criteria

Value

Criteria/area

Site Area (ha)

A 0.042

n/a

Units

W6

W/A = 142

Habitable rooms

X 17

X/A = 404

Bedrooms

Y 11

Y/A = 261

Bedspaces

Z 17

Z/A = 404

Summary

Page 185

57

Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) states for London to accommodate the growth
identified in this Plan in an inclusive and responsible way every new development needs
to make the most efficient use of land. This will mean developing at densities above
those of the surrounding area on most sites.

58

The proposed density is higher than the density of surrounding development, which are
predominantly 2-storey dwellinghouses, but this is to be expected and supported in line
with Policy D6.

59

Whether the scale of development is appropriate for the site and surrounding area, the
impact on neighbouring occupiers, and accessibility are all relevant factors when
determining optimum density, and these are considered in following sections of this
report, however the principle of development at higher density than surrounding
properties is supported, subject to assessment of the following matters.
Dwelling Size
Policy

60

National and regional policy avoids specifying prescriptive dwelling size mixes for market
and intermediate homes.

61

The NPPF states that housing applications should be considered in the context of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF sets out the need to
deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and
create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.

62

London Plan Policy H12 sets out that an appropriate mix of unit sizes should be
informed by several criteria set out in the policy.

63

Determining an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes for a site depend on several criteria in
CSP 1, relating to: (i) the site’s character and context; (ii) previous or existing use of the
site; (iii) access to amenity space for family dwellings; (iv) likely parking demand; (v)
local housing mix and population density; and (vi) social and other infrastructure
availability and requirements.

64

Development Management DM Policy 32 sets out how to achieve high quality design
and internal layout of new development.
Discussion

65

The proposal includes three x one bedroom, two person dwellings; one x two bedroom,
three person dwelling; and two x three bed, four person dwellings.

66

One bedroom, two person flats are an important part of the housing market. SHMA
(2017) estimated 55% of new homes are required to be 1 bedroom in London. There is
also an identified need for three bedroom flats.

67

The proposal is considered to provide a good and desirable mix of dwelling sizes, and is
in line with the above policies, and is therefore supported by officers.

Residential Quality
General Policy

68

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and

Page 186

future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

69

The main components of residential quality are: (i) space standards; (ii) outlook and
privacy; (iii) overheating; (iv) daylight and sunlight; (v) noise and disturbance; (vi)
accessibility and inclusivity; and (vii) children’s play space.
Internal space standards
Policy

70

The ‘Technical housing standards – nationally described space standards’ sets out the
minimum floorspace requirements for dwellings.

71

DMP 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’ and PPD6 of the London Plan
require housing development to be of the highest quality internally, externally and in
relation to their context. These polices set out the requirements with regards to housing
design, seeking to ensure the long term sustainability of the new housing provision.
Discussion

72

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table [ 3 ]: Internal space standards – proposed v target

Unit type (min
req. GIA)

Unit size
Room sizes (m²) (min
(GIA) (sqm) req.)

Flat 01

3b4p, 1 storey
(74)

74

Bed 1 (d) – 11.5 (11.5)
Bed 2 (s) – 8.2 (7.5)
Bed 3 (s) – 8.4

45.4

Flat 02

1b2p, 1 storey
(50)

50

Bedroom (d) – 16.3

5

Flat 03

1b2p, 1 storey
(50)

58

Bedroom (d) – 12.2

5

Flat 04

2b3p, 1 storey
(61)

64

Bedroom 1 (d) – 13.1
Bedroom 2 (s) – 7.5

6.5

Flat 05

3b4p, 1 storey
(74)

77

Bed 1 (d) -13.5
Bed 2 (s) – 11.4
Bed 3 (s) – 8.2

16.8

Flat 06

1b2p, 1 storey
(50)

50

Bedroom (d) – 11.5

8.2

Page 187

Amenity space
(m²)

73

The proposed new dwellings would meet or exceed the minimum requirement in terms of
overall floor area and bedroom size targets, and the floor to ceiling heights would be
2.5m. Officers consider that the standard of amenity provided as a result of this would be
good, in line with the above mentioned policies.
Outlook & Privacy
Policy

74

London Plan Policy D1(8) requires development to achieve ‘appropriate outlook, privacy
and amenity”. Policy D4 seeks to maximise the provision of dual-aspect dwellings (i.e.
with openable windows on different elevations).

75

DMP 32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its future residents.
Discussion

76

The new dwellings would have at least dual aspects and good levels of glazing serving
all rooms. It is therefore considered appropriate levels of outlook would be provided to all
dwellings. It is noted that some of the windows on the southern elevation would be
obscure glazed up to 1.7m, however these windows would serve rooms with outlook via
other windows, and above 1.7m the panels would be clear, allowing outlook towards the
sky.

77

The proposed dwellings would not be directly overlooked by existing neighbouring
properties, and therefore the levels of privacy would be acceptable.

78

Overall the levels outlook and privacy provided to future residents would be acceptable,
in line with Policy DM32.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

79

The London Housing SPD and the Lewisham Alterations and Extensions SPD promote
access to sunlight and natural daylight as important amenity factors, particularly to living
spaces. LPP Table 3.2 states that site layout, orientation and design of dwellings should
provide privacy and adequate daylight for residents.
Discussion

80

Due to the good levels of glazing proposed on multiple elevations for each of the
proposed dwellings, and the fact the majority of living rooms would have southerly facing
aspects, the proposed dwellings would all be expected to be provided with acceptable
levels of natural daylight.

81

No BRE study has been submitted in support of the application, but considering the
scale of the proposal, and the above, officers are satisfied the proposal would be
provided with acceptable levels of daylight and sunlight.
External space standards
Policy

Page 188

82

LPPD6H requires all new one bedroom dwellings to be provided with at least 5m² private
external amenity space, and another 1m² for each additional occupant.
Discussion

83

Table 3 shows that all dwellings would be provided with at least the minimum required
external spaces, with the three bedroom units being provided with significantly larger
than the minimum requirements, meaning there would be space for children to play. This
is considered to be acceptable, and the provision of external amenity space would be
acceptable and in line with DMP32 and LPPD6.
Summary of Residential Quality

84

The proposed units would be of a high quality standard of accommodation and meet with
the quality considerations of the London Plan and local policy and guidance.

Housing conclusion
85

The proposal would contribute to the Borough’s housing targets in a residential location,
making the most efficient use of land and optimising density. The scheme would provide
an appropriate mix of good quality dwellings, including two good family sized for which
there is an identified need.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

86

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.

87

Policies D1 and D2 of the London Plan (2021), require development to have regard to
the form, function and structure of an area and the scale, mass and orientation of
surrounding buildings.

88

CSP 15 outlines how the Council will apply national and regional policy and guidance to
ensure highest quality design and the protection or enhancement of the historic and
natural environment, which is sustainable, accessible to all, optimises the potential of
sites and is sensitive to the local context and responds to local character.

89

DMP 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate a site specific response which
creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height, scale and
mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the area.

Appearance and character
Policy

90

In terms of architectural style, the NPPF encourages development that is sympathetic to
local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape
setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (para
130).

91

London Plan Policy D3 states that development should enhance local context by
delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through
their layout, orientation, scale, appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and
Page 189

emerging street hierarchy, building types, forms and proportions. Proposals should be of
high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough
consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through
appropriate construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which
weather and mature well.

92

DM Policy 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate a site specific response
which creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height,
scale and mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the area.

93

DM Policy 32 expects new residential development to be attractive and neighbourly.

94

DM Policy 33 relates to development on infill sites, and sets out a number of specific
requirement for development of these sites.
Discussion

95

The proposed building would have a modern appearance, and at three stories, including
one within roof level, it is approximately the same height as surrounding terraced
housing. The proposed design is considered to be high quality, and the appearance of
the building would be in character with the surrounding development.

96

The proposed form, proportions and scale of the development are well-considered, and
would result in a high quality new building, which would complement existing
development in the area, whilst also improving the appearance of what is currently a
dilapidated and underused site.

97

The proposal would relate well to the existing urban typology of the area and is
considered to be a site specific response, in line with the above policies.
Layout
Policy

98

Policy DM32 requires the siting and layout of new residential development to respond
positively to the site specific constraints and opportunities as well as to the existing
context of the surrounding area. They must also meet the functional needs of future
residents.

99

DMP 25 requires the submission of a landscape scheme, including 5 years of
management and maintenance of high quality hard and soft landscapes and trees.
Discussion

100

The proposed building would respect the existing building lines of Eddystone and
Buckthorne Road, being set back from the pavement edges, and allowing for defensible
space around the building, which is proposed to contain majority soft landscaping, with
hardstanding provided at the minimum required for access. The proposed layout is
considered to be a good use of the site, and would function well for future residents, as
well as the community use at ground floor level.

101

To ensure the final scheme of soft landscaping is of an acceptably high quality, details of
this are to be secured by condition, this will include full details of species numbers and
location.

102

Overall the proposed layout makes good use of the site, subject to assessment of the
final schemes of Hard and Soft landscaping, which are proposed to be secured by
condition.
Page 190

Detailing and Materials
Policy

103

Policy D3 of the London Plan requires development proposals to be of high quality, with
architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough consideration to the
practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through appropriate
construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which weather and
mature well.
Discussion

104

The proposal would be constructed of predominantly facing brickwork of mixed buff
colouring, with sections of perforated detailing. Further details are required to ensure the
finish would be high quality, and remain in character with the surrounding area, and
therefore final details of materials will be secured by condition.

105

The roof is proposed to be finished in zinc cladding. This is a high quality and robust
material, which would result in an acceptable appearance. The proposed windows would
be aluminium framed, which is acceptable. Final details will be secured by condition.

Public Realm
Policy

106

Policy D3 of the London Plan requires development to be street-based with clearly
defined public and private environments.
Discussion

107

The application site does not contain any areas of public realm, although the forecourt of
the community space would be semi-public as it would be used by users of the
community space. This area appears functional for its purpose and no objections are
raised.

108

It is noted that part of the highway of Eddystone Road close to the front of the site has
recently been closed off to vehicles with street planters, and residents have noted that
this area now forms valuable amenity space for residents.

109

Officers do not consider the nature or scale of the current proposal would impact on this
area of closed off highway, as it falls outside of the application site and no changes are
proposed which could affect this piece of land.

110

Objections have been received which request the proposed development contribute
financially to the street planters, however officers do not consider this would be
necessary to make the development acceptable, nor directly related to the development;
and therefore would not meet the test for planning obligations set out in Lewisham’s
SPD and the NPPF.

Urban design conclusion
111

To conclude, the proposed building is of an acceptable scale and massing, and the
proposed elevation treatments are considered to be high quality. It is considered the
proposed design would be acceptable, subject to submission of final details relating to
materials and landscaping.

Page 191

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

112

NPPF Paragraph 110 states that planning decisions should ensure safe and suitable
access to the site for all users, and that any significant impacts from the development on
the transport network, or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

113

Para 111 of the NPPF states ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or on the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’.

114

CSP 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ promotes more sustainable transport
choices through walking, cycling and public transport. It adopts a restricted approach on
parking to aid the promotion of sustainable transport and ensuring all new and existing
developments of a certain size have travel plans.

115

The site has a PTAL rating of 3, on a scale of 0 (worst) to 6b (best) accessibility to public
transport, meaning it is has average accessibility to public transport.

Access
Policy

116

The NPPF requires safe and suitable access for all users. Paragraph 110 states that in
assessing application for development it should be ensured that appropriate
opportunities to promote suitable transport modes can – or have been taken up and that
amongst other things safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.
Paragraph 111 states development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

117

LP Policy T6, CS Policy 14 and DMLP Policy 29 identifies that car limited development is
be supported.
Discussion

118

The site is in a well-connected residential area, and access to the dwellings would be
provided at street level. There are no objections to the current proposal with regards to
the site access.

Local Transport Network
Policy

119

Policy T4 of the London Plan states consideration of the cumulative impacts of
development on public transport and the road network capacity including walking and
cycling, as well as associated effects on public health, should be taken into account and
mitigated.
Discussion

Page 192

120

The proposal would result in 6 additional dwellings, in an existing residential area. No
on-site parking spaces are proposed. Due to the scale of development, it would not be
expected to have a significant impact on the local transport network.

121

As the use of the community element is proposed to be retained, the impacts on the
transport network would likely be similar. However, a user /staff Travel Plan to
encourage sustainable modes of transport would be conditioned.

122

To ensure the impacts of the construction works do not have a harmful impact on the
local transport network, it is recommended to secure a construction logistics
management plan by condition.

Servicing and refuse
Policy

123

The NPPF states development should allow for the efficient delivery of goods and
access by service and emergency vehicles.

124

DM Policy 32 requires new developments to have appropriate regard for servicing of
residential units, including refuse.

125

Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion

126

The proposal includes separate storage for commercial and residential refuse, which is
acceptable, and the proposed size of the refuse stores is sufficient for the number of
dwellings, and commercial floorspace proposed.

127

The residential refuse store would front Buckthorne Road, and would be enclosed.

128

It is noted that objections were received with regards to the impacts of the development
on Brockley Path, which runs along the southern boundary of the site. The commercial
refuse storage, was originally proposed to be on the southern side of the building,
opening onto this. Following feedback from residents, received in writing and at the local
meeting, that this location could result in obstruction, the store has been moved to the
front forecourt of the community space. This is an acceptable solution.

129

The applicant has also agreed to provide wall mounted lighting on the site, which will
improve users experience of this pedestrian through route, particularly at night. Final
details of this are recommended to be secured by condition.

130

To ensure the management of refuse and recycling is acceptable, full details of storage
and management for the residential and the commercial spaces will be secured by
condition.

131

Furthermore, to ensure deliveries and servicing of the commercial space does not result
in harm to the local highway, details of this will be secured by condition, prior to
commencement of the use.

Page 193

Transport modes
Walking and cycling and public transport
Policy

132

Policy T5 of the Publication London Plan states development proposals should create a
healthy environment in which people choose to cycle, and should provide cycle parking
in accordance with the minimum standards set out in table 10.2.

133

Development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within
the scheme and with neighbouring area. Development should create places that are
safe, secure and attractive, minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles.
Discussion

134

The site is easily accessible by walking and cycling, and due to the scale of the
development, it is not expected to contribute to improvements to the local walking and
cycling environment.

135

Officers note objections have been received regarding the impact to existing cycle routes
close to the site. Due to the scale and positioning of the proposed building, it is not
expected the development would have any impact on the existing cycling or pedestrian
routes.

136

An objection has also been received relating to the impact on site lines. As the proposed
building would be set back into the site, in line with existing buildings on Buckthorne and
Eddystone Road, it would not have a harmful impact on site lines of pedestrians or
drivers.

137

The proposal includes an internal communal bicycle store at ground floor level to the
rear of the stairwell of the building for 8 bikes, and a private store for 2 bikes in the
amenity area of Flat 01. There is an additional residential bike store provided at the front
of the property on Buckthorne Road for 4 bicycles.

138

Policy T5 requires 1.5 spaces per 2 person 1 bedroom dwelling, and 2 spaces per all
other dwellings, 2 additional visitor spaces would also be required, for a total of 13
residential cycle spaces. 14 would be provided.

139

The internal communal bike store would include one space for a larger (e.g. cargo) bike,
as would the private bike store for Flat 01.

140

The proposed cycle parking spaces are accessible, and would be secure and dry. To
ensure the final details of the cycle parking are in line with London Cycle Design
Standards and they are of an acceptable appearance, a condition requiring details to be
submitted prior to occupation of the dwellings is recommended to be a condition of
development.

141

Three cycle parking spaces are proposed for the F2 Use Class, which is compliant with
Policy T5.
Private cars (include disabled and electric charging points)
Policy

142

Policy T6 of the London Plan states that car parking should be restricted in line with
levels of existing and future public transport accessibility and connectivity. Car-free
Page 194

development should be the starting point for all development proposals in places that are
well-connected by public transport.
Discussion

143

The on-street parking survey detailed in the applicant’s transport statement indicates
available parking spaces on the surrounding residential roads and based on estimates of
car ownership for the development, based on census data for the ward, there would be
sufficient space to accommodate the additional parking that would be generated by the
proposed residential development. The Highways Officer raises no objection to the
development.

Transport impact conclusion
144

The proposed development would be suitably and safely accessible, and officers are
satisfied that subject to discharge of the aforementioned conditions, opportunities to
promote sustainable modes of transport will be maximised, and the proposed impact on
the surrounding highway network would be acceptable.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

145

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the Publication London Plan
PLPPD3, the Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan (DMP32) and associated guidance
(Housing SPD 2017, GLA).

146

The main impacts on amenity arise from: (i) overbearing enclosure/loss of outlook; (ii)
loss of privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within properties and loss of sunlight to amenity
areas; and (iv) noise and disturbance.
Enclosure and Outlook
Policy

147

Policy DM32 expects new residential development to result in no harmful increased
sense of enclosure and no significant loss of outlook to neighbouring dwellings.
Discussion

148

The only adjoining residential property is 66 Buckthorne Road, which is separated by
Brockley Path, the alleyway that runs along the southern boundary of the site. The
elevation fronting Buckthorne Road would align with the front of this property, and it
would therefore have no significant impact on windows to the front of the property.

149

The rear building line of the L-shaped building would also align with the rear of No.66.
The section of the building which protrudes rearwards of the rear elevation of No.66,
would be a distance of 13.2m from the side elevation of No.66’s garage, which is
sufficient to ensure there would be no significant loss of outlook from the rear facing
windows, or overbearing sense of enclosure caused.

Page 195

Privacy
Policy

150

DMP32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours.
Discussion

151

The proposed windows to the south elevation at first and second floor level are relatively
close to the shared boundary with No.66 Buckthorne Road. Obscure glazing up to 1.7m
is proposed to ensure these windows would not result in harmful levels of overlooking
into No.66. Furthermore, second storey roof terrace with a southerly facing aspect would
be screened with a brick wall up to 1.7m, meaning users would not overlook the
neighbouring property.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

152

The Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight
and Sunlight’ 2011, sets out standardised criteria for the assessment of planning
applications including the 25 degree, and 45 degree ‘rules’.
Discussion

153

The scale and positioning of the proposed building to the North of No.66 Buckthorne
Road, means there would likely be no harmful impacts with regard to loss of daylight or
sunlight, or overshadowing to the rear garden. There would not be a harmful loss of
daylight to any other neighbouring properties.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

154

DM policy 32 requires new residential development to be neighbourly, and development
in residential areas should not result in harm to existing residents through unsociable
noise and disturbance.
Discussion

155

The proposed commercial, community (Use Class F2) use located at ground floor level
does not have a specified user at this time, and objections have been received from
neighbours, that if not correctly mitigated against and managed, this use could result in
harm due to noise and disturbance. Officers note that the Royal British Legion clubhouse
is the existing lawful use, and this was a licensed premises, which also held parties and
events. Notwithstanding the existing lawful use, in order to ensure harmful noise impacts
to not arise in the future, and because a new building would be constructed details of
soundproofing, as well as hours of operation of the final use would be required to be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval, prior to commencement of the
use as a condition of development.

156

With regards to the residential proposal, six residential dwellings are unlikely to generate
a significantly higher level of comings and goings and general residential activity than
the previous use, and as this is residential area the proposed use is compatible and the
levels of domestic noise generated are unlikely to be significantly harmful to
neighbouring residents.
Page 196

157

It is noted that objections relating to noise and disturbance during construction have
been received. A condition controlling construction hours is recommended to be added
to the permission, and an informative will remind the developer of the Lewisham
Considerate Constructors scheme.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
158

The impact on neighbouring residential amenity has been assessed against the relevant
policies and guidance, and no significant harm has been identified to neighbouring
occupiers’ residential amenity.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
General Policy

159

NPPF para 152 sets an expectation that planning will support transition to a low carbon
future. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan and the Local Plan.

160

CS Objective 5 sets out Lewisham’s approach to climate change and adapting to its
effects. CSP 7, CSP 8 and DMP 22 support this.

Energy and carbon emissions reduction
Policy

161

CSP8 seeks to minimise the carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions of all new development
and encourages sustainable design and construction to meet the highest feasible
environmental standards.

162

DMP22 require all developments to maximise the incorporation of design measures to
maximise energy efficiency, manage heat gain and deliver cooling using the published
hierarchy.

163

LPPSI 2 requires new development to be net zero-carbon. This means reducing
greenhouse gas emissions in operation and minimising both annual and peak energy
demand in accordance with the following energy hierarchy:
1) be lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation
2) be clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply energy
efficiently and cleanly
3) be green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and
using renewable energy on-site
4) be seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance.
Discussion

164

The application has been submitted with a Sustainability and Energy Statement, which
sets out how the proposal has been design to reduce energy consumption. Through the
use of solar panels, it is proposed the development will achieve a 40% reduction in total
CO2 emissions over those required by building regulations.
Page 197

165

Final details of the solar panels to be installed will be secured by condition, to ensure the
proposed carbon savings are achieved.

Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy

166

CSP 10 requires developments to result in a positive reduction in flooding to the
Borough.

167

Further guidance is given in the London Plan’s Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Guidance.

168

The NPPF at paragraph 168 expects major development to incorporate sustainable
urban drainage systems (SUDS) unless there is clear evidence it is inappropriate.
Discussion

169

No specific details of SUDS calculations have been submitted, however the proposed
site plans shows a high proportion of the site would be soft landscaped, and the level of
hardstanding is considered to be kept to the minimum functionally required. Furthermore,
the proposed roof includes a green roof system, to be secured by condition.

170

The final sustainable urban drainage strategy and schemes of hard and soft landscaping
are to be secured by condition, and this is acceptable considering the scale of the
proposed development.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy

171

Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning.

172

The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.

173

NPPF para 185 states decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for
its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution
on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the sensitivity of the
site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.
Ecology and biodiversity
Policy

174

Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 places a duty
on all public authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the purpose of
conserving biodiversity.

175

The NPPF at para 174 states decisions should minimise impacts on and provide net
gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are
more resilient to current and future pressures. At para 175, it sets out principles which
LPAs should apply when determining applications in respect of biodiversity.

176

CSP 12 seeks to preserve or enhance local biodiversity.

Page 198

177

DMP 24 require all new development to take full account of biodiversity in development
design, ensuring the delivery of benefits and minimising of potential impacts on
biodiversity.
Discussion

178

The application has been submitted with a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report
(Syntegra, November 2020), which sets out an assessment of the ecological value of the
site, the impacts of the proposed development, and makes several recommendations for
mitigation of the impacts, as well as enhancements that could be provided.

179

The Council’s Ecological officer has been consulted on the details, and confirmed the
documents has been prepared according to best practice methodology. They agree with
all the recommendations set out in the report.

180

However, they noted the PEA identified moderate potential for bat roosts and bird nests
in the buildings and suggested further surveys should be conditioned before
commencement of development. Should these surveys confirm the presence of a roost,
appropriate mitigation will be required before any works which could affect a roost can
commence.

181

The Ecology officer also noted no details are provided of the proposed green roof, or the
other recommendations of the ecology report (e.g. size and type of green roof, bird and
bat boxes, bug hotels, hedgehog gates). They have stated that full details of the
proposed biodiverse living roof should be secured by condition, including integrated
wildlife features such as logs. They have also recommended bird and bat bricks be
integrated into the design, rather than the use of external boxes.

182

The following details are recommended to be secured by condition:


Further bat surveys



Biodiversity Method Statement (incl. swift bricks; bat bricks; biodiverse green roof
with logs, bug hotels, bare ground; hedgehog highways)



Lighting Method statement for biodiversity



Construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) (incl.
ecological Clerk of Works, soft demolition, lighting, pollution) to minimise adverse
impacts during construction

Ground pollution
Policy

183

The NPPF at para 174 states decisions should among other things prevent new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil pollution. Development should help to
improve local environmental conditions.

184

The NPPF states decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment by remediating and mitigating contaminated land, where appropriate (para
174). Further, the NPPF at para 183 and NPPG states decisions should ensure a site is
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising
from contamination.

Page 199

185

The test is that after remediation, land should not be capable of being determined as
“contaminated land” under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

186

DM Policy 28 advises the Council will use appropriate measures to ensure that
contaminated land is fully investigated.
Further guidance is given in Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance (Defra, 2012).
Discussion

187

No desk-top study or site investigations report has been submitted to characterise or risk
assess the site, and therefore, prior to commencement of development, it would be a
condition of development for a desk top study and site investigation report to be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
188

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

189

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

190

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

191

£29,166.43 Lewisham CIL and £18,671.78 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this
application, subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant
has completed the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability
Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
192

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

193

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

Page 200

194

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

195

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

196

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

197

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

198

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
199

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:



200

Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.
Page 201

201

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

202

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new building with community and
residential uses. The rights potentially engaged by this application are not considered to
be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
203

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

204

The proposed development would achieve a number of the urban design and spatial
planning objectives set out in the Core Strategy, including the following planning merits
to which significant weight is attached:
-

Optimising the housing potential of the site and providing a range of type and sizes
of new homes, including family housing;

-

Providing a new community facility in place of the existing;

-

Comprising an appropriate scaled and high quality building;

205

The proposal would increase the potential of the site and the development would provide
a high standard of accommodation for future residents.

206

Given the acceptability of the proposed uses and policy compliance, the proposal is
considered to be in accordance with the development plan as a whole.

207

The NPPF is underpinned by a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Officers consider that with the recommended planning conditions in place, the scheme is
consistent with national policy.

208

In light of the above, the application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION
209

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 202

2.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application plans,
drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
0452-02-0100 Rev.03; 0452-02-0200 Rev.01; 0452-02-0201 Rev.01; 0452-02-0250
Rev.04; 0452-02-0251 Rev.03; 0452-02-0252 Rev.03; 0452-02-0253 Rev.03; 045202-0500 Rev.01; 0452-02-0501 Rev.01; 0452-02-0502 Rev.01; 0452-02-0550 Rev.02;
0452-02-0551 Rev.01; 0452-02-0552 Rev.03; 0452-02-0580 Rev.00; 0452-02-0581
Rev.00; 0452-02-0582 Rev.02; 0452-02-0583 Rev.02 Received 7 September 2021;
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

3.

No development shall commence on site until such time as a Construction
Management and logistics Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The plan shall cover:(a)

Dust mitigation measures.

(b)

The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities

(c)

Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process

(d)

Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts which
shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to
the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction
relates activity.
(iii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.

(e)

Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).

(f)

Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction Management
Plan requirements and any Environmental Management Plan requirements
(delete reference to Environmental Management Plan requirements if not
relevant).

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the demolition
and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise possible
noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to comply with Policy
SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction of the
London Plan (March 2021).
4.

(a)

No development or phase of development (including demolition of existing
buildings and structures, except where enabling works for site investigation
has been agreed by the local planning authority) shall commence until :(i)
A desk top study and site assessment to survey and characterise the
nature and extent of contamination and its effect (whether on or off-site)
and a conceptual site model have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
(ii) A site investigation report to characterise and risk assess the site which
shall include the gas, hydrological and contamination status, specifying
rationale; and recommendations for treatment for contamination
encountered (whether by remedial works or not) has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council.
Page 203

(iii)

The required remediation scheme implemented in full.

(b)

If during any works on the site, contamination is encountered which has not
previously been identified (“the new contamination”) the Council shall be notified
immediately and the terms of paragraph (a), shall apply to the new
contamination. No further works shall take place on that part of the site or
adjacent areas affected, until the requirements of paragraph (a) have been
complied with in relation to the new contamination.

(c)

The development shall not be occupied until a closure report has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.
This shall include verification of all measures, or treatments as required in
(Section (a) i & ii) and relevant correspondence (including other regulating
authorities and stakeholders involved with the remediation works) to verify
compliance requirements, necessary for the remediation of the site have been
implemented in full.
The closure report shall include verification details of both the remediation and
post-remediation sampling/works, carried out (including waste materials
removed from the site); and before placement of any soil/materials is
undertaken on site, all imported or reused soil material must conform to current
soil quality requirements as agreed by the authority. Inherent to the above, is
the provision of any required documentation, certification and monitoring, to
facilitate condition requirements.

Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied that potential
site contamination is identified and remedied in view of the historical use(s) of the site,
which may have included industrial processes and to comply with DM Policy 28
Contaminated Land of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).
5.

(a)

The building shall be designed so as to provide sound insulation against
external noise and vibration, to achieve levels not exceeding 30dB LAeq (night)
and 45dB LAmax (measured with F time weighting) for bedrooms, 35dB LAeq
(day) for other habitable rooms, with window shut and other means of ventilation
provided. External amenity areas shall be designed to achieve levels not
exceeding 55 dB LAeq (day) and the evaluation of human exposure to vibration
within the building shall not exceed the Vibration dose values criteria ‘Low
probability of adverse comment’ as defined BS6472.

(b)

The development shall not be occupied until the sound insulation scheme
approved pursuant to paragraph (b) has been implemented in its entirety.
Thereafter, the sound insulation scheme shall be maintained in perpetuity in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed dwellings and
to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 31 Alterations and
extensions to existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards, and DM Policy 33 Development on infill
sites, backland sites, back gardens and amenity areas of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
6.

(a)

The development shall be designed to incorporate soundproofing of a
specification for sound insulation against airborne noise to meet D’nT,w + Ctr
dB of not less than 55 for walls and/or ceilings where residential parties non
domestic use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

Page 204

(b)

The development shall only be occupied once the soundproofing works as
agreed under part (a) have been implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

(c)

The soundproofing shall be retained permanently in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to comply with DM Policy 26
Noise and vibration, DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings
including residential extensions, DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space
standards, and DM Policy 33 Development on infill sites, backland sites, back
gardens and amenity areas of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).
7.

(a)

The commercial element of the building hereby approved shall achieve a
minimum BREEAM Rating of ‘Excellent’.

(b)

Prior to completion of the superstructure a Design Stage Certificate for each
building (prepared by a Building Research Establishment qualified Assessor)
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority to
demonstrate compliance with part (a).

(c)

Within 3 months of occupation of any of the buildings, evidence shall be
submitted in the form of a Post Construction Certificate (prepared by a Building
Research Establishment qualified Assessor) to demonstrate full compliance with
part (a) for that specific building.

Reason: To comply with Policy SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions of the
London Plan (March 2021) and Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate change and adapting
to the effects, Core Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and energy
efficiency (2011).
8.

(a)

No development above ground level shall commence on site until a scheme for
surface water management, including specifications of the surface treatments
and sustainable urban drainage solutions, has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority.

(b)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme
and thereafter the approved scheme is to be retained in accordance with the
details approved therein.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to improve water quality in
accordance with Policy SI 12 Flood risk management in the London Plan (March
2021) and Objective 6: Flood risk reduction and water management and Core
Strategy Policy 10:Managing and reducing the risk of flooding (2011).
9.

(a)

No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth
and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling
will be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for
damage to subsurface water infrastructure, and the programme for the works)
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in
consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance
with the terms of the approved piling method statement.

(b)

Any such work shall be carried out only in accordance with the details approved
under part (a).
Page 205

Reason: As required by Thames Water: the proposed works will be in close proximity
to underground water utility infrastructure and piling has the potential to impact on
local underground water utility infrastructure.

10.

No development above ground shall commence on site until a detailed schedule and
specification of all external materials and finishes/windows and external doors/roof
coverings/other site specific features to be used on the building have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the building and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design
for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.

11.

(a)
Prior to completion of the works above ground level, plans (1:50 scale) with
details showing the physical fit-out, including but not limited to floor finish, ceilings,
ventilation, sanitary ware and
entrances for the F.2 Use Class
community space approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
(b)
Prior to commencement of the F.2 Use, full details of the operation of such
use, including but not limited to opening hours and services provided must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
(b)
The development shall be constructed and shall operate in full accordance
with the approved details, for the life of the development, unless otherwise approved
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the fit-out of the unit is sufficient to ensure that they are an
attractive and commercially viable option and to demonstrate the developers
commitment to delivering the community space as part of this development, and to
ensure the use is compatible with the surrounding residential environment in
accordance with Core Strategy Policy 19 Community and recreational facilities (2011).
12.

(a)

The development shall not be occupied until details of proposals for the storage
of refuse and recycling facilities for each residential and the community facility
hereby approved, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

(b)

The facilities as approved under part (a) shall be provided in full prior to
occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently retained and
maintained.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the provisions
for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding the amenities
of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance with Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham waste management
requirements (2011).

Page 206

13.

(a)

No development above ground level shall commence until an Air Quality
Assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

(b)

The Air Quality Assessment will need to utilise an appropriate air quality model
and/or emissions assessment tool to predict air quality concentrations at agreed
receptor locations. Data should be presented for the first year of occupation as
‘with development’ and ‘without development’ to allow comparisons to be made.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
development is not going to result in significant health impacts to existing and future
residents from a deterioration in local air quality and to comply with Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) Policy 23 Air quality.
14.

(a)

Prior to first occupation, full details of the cycle parking facilities shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

(b)

All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use prior to
occupation of the development and maintained thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply with
Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy 14:
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).
15.

(a)

Prior to above-ground works, drawings showing hard landscaping of any part of
the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the permeability of hard
surfaces) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

(b)

All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under part
(a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of
the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management in the London
Plan ( March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy
(June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) Policy 25
Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.
16.

Prior to commencement of works (including site clearance), the results further bat
surveys (dawn and dusk) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
approved in writing, in consultation with the Council Ecology Officer.
Reason: To comply with the recommendations of the submitted Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal Report, and Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of
the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DAM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and
artificial playing pitches and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).

17.

a. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation
clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP:
Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones".
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of
method statements).

Page 207

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present
on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW)
or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
b. The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To comply with the reccommendations of the submitted Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal Reprort, and Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of
the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and
artificial playing pitches and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).
18.

(a)

A scheme of soft landscaping (including details of any trees or hedges to be
retained and proposed plant numbers, species, location and size of trees and
tree pits) and details of the management and maintenance of the landscaping
for a period of five years shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority prior to construction of the above ground works.

(b)

All planting, seeding or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting and
seeding seasons following the completion of the development, in accordance
with the approved scheme under part (a). Any trees or plants which within a
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of
the proposal and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets, Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core
Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
18.(a)

(b)

Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any gates, walls or
fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to construction of the above ground works.
The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to occupation of
the buildings and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).
19.

No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works and site
clearance) until a method statement for the following has been submitted and
approved in writing by the local planning authority:
1) creation of new wildlife features, including bespoke bat roosts, erection of
bird boxes or bricks in the building;

Page 208

2) creation, restoration and enhancement of semi-natural habitats;
3) tree, hedgerow, shrub and wildflower planting/establishment;
4) habitat removal and reinstatement/replacement;
5) provision and control of access for species.
a. The content of the method statement shall include the:
a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works;
b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated
objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be used);
c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps
and plans;
d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the
proposed phasing of construction;
e) persons responsible for implementing the works; f) initial aftercare and longterm maintenance (where relevant);
g) disposal of any wastes arising from works.
b. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details
within the first planting season after the approval of the method statement and
shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To comply with the recommendations of the submitted Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal Report, and Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of
the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and
artificial playing pitches and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).
20.

(a)

Full details of the proposed biodiversity living roof and a schedule for
maintenance as indicated on plan no. 0452-02-0253 rev.02, shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, prior to
commencement of above-ground works..

(b)

The living roofs shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind
whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or
repair, or escape in case of emergency.

(c)

Evidence that the roof has been installed in accordance with (a) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the
first occupation of the development hereby approved.

Reason: To comply with Policy G5 Urban greening in the London Plan (2021) ,
Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014).
21.

(a)

Prior to occupation of the development an external lighting design strategy for
biodiversity for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The strategy shall:
1) include the full scheme of any external lighting that is to be installed at the
site, including the new lighting to Brockley Path at the rear, which shall include
measures to prevent light spillage; and
2) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for wildlife
and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around breeding sites and resting
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for
example, for foraging; and

Page 209

3) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can
be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above
species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting
places.
(b)

Any such external lighting as approved under part (a) shall be installed in
accordance with the approved drawings and such directional hoods shall be
retained permanently.

(c)

The applicant should demonstrate that the proposed lighting is the minimum
needed for security and working purposes and that the proposals minimise
pollution from glare and spillage.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the lighting is
installed and maintained in a manner which will minimise possible light pollution to the
night sky and neighbouring properties in compliance with DM Policy 27 Lighting of the
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) and to comply with the
recommendations of the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report, and
Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011),
and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches and local
character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

22.

(a)

The Use Class F.2 use hereby approved shall not be occupied until a Delivery
and Servicing Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

(b)

The plan shall demonstrate the expected number and time of delivery and
servicing trips to the site, with the aim of reducing the impact of servicing
activity.

(c)

The approved Delivery and Servicing Plan shall be implemented in full
accordance with the approved details from the first occupation of the
development and shall be adhered to in perpetuity.

Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011).
23.

(a)

The Use Class F.2 community use not commence until such time as a user’s
Travel Plan, in accordance with Transport for London’s document ‘Travel
Panning for New Development in London’ has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall operate in full
accordance with all measures identified within the Travel Plan from first
occupation.

(b)

The Travel Plan shall specify initiatives to be implemented by the development
to encourage access to and from the site by a variety of non-car means, shall
set targets and shall specify a monitoring and review mechanism to ensure
compliance with the Travel Plan objectives. The Travel Plan must include use of
the building for community purposes.

(c)

Within the timeframe specified by (a) and (b), evidence shall be submitted to
demonstrate compliance with the monitoring and review mechanisms agreed
under parts (a) and (b).

Page 210

Reason: In order that both the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
practicality, viability and sustainability of the Travel Plan for the site and to comply
with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011).
24.

Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), no plumbing
or pipes, including than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed on the external faces/front
elevation [delete as appropriate] of the building(s).

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the details of
the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the
Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character of the
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).
25.

No extensions or alterations to the building hereby approved, whether or not permitted
under Article 3 to Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order)
of that Order, shall be carried out without the prior written permission of the local
planning authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted, the
local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of any
further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011).

26.

Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), the new
windows to be installed in the southern elevation at first and second floor level and
noted as obscure glazed on Plan Nos. 0452-02-0551 Rev.01 and 0452-02-0552
Rev.03 of the building hereby approved shall be fitted as obscure glazed to a
minimum of Level 3 on the ‘Pilkington Scale’ and fixed shut up to 1.7m above ground
floor level, and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To avoid the direct overlooking of adjoining properties and
consequent loss of privacy thereto and to comply with DM Policy 32 Housing
design, layout and space standards, and Policy 33 Development on infill sites,
backland sites, back gardens and amenity areas of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
27.

No deliveries in connection with construction works shall be taken at or despatched
from the site other than between the hours of 8 am and 6 pm on Mondays to Fridays
and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays.
No work shall take place on the site other than between the hours of 8 am and 6 pm
on Mondays to Fridays and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or
Public Holidays.
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at unsociable
periods and to comply with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and
space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

28.

No music, public address system or any other amplified sound shall be installed at the
site, and average noise levels (LAeq) from the proposed development should be at
least 5dB below background levels (LA90) at the location of nearby sensitive
receptors.
Page 211

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area
generally and to comply with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration and DM Policy 32 Housing design,
layout and space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).

29.

None of the trees shown as being retained in the submitted Arboricultural Appraisal
Report (MWA Architecture, 02 December 2020) shall be lopped or felled without the
prior written consent of the local planning authority, and the recommendations of the
report must be followed in full during construction works.
Reason: To comply with Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of the Core
Strategy (June 2011) and policies DM 25 Landscaping and trees and 30 Urban design
and local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

30.

(a) Full details of the proposed photovoltaic solar panels, as recommended by the
submitted Suatainability and Energy Statement, must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of above-ground
works.
(b) The panels shall be installed in line with the approved details prior to occupation,
and maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure the photovoltaic panels are installed to the satisfaction of the
Local Planning Authority, in compliance with Paragraph 152 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2021), Policy SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions of the
London Plan (2021), Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects, and Policy
8 Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency of the Lewisham Core
Strategy (2011), and Policy 22 Sustainable design and construction of the
Development Management Local Plan (2014).

INFORMATIVES
1 Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
positive and proactive discussions took place with the applicant prior to the
application being submitted through a pre-application discussion. Further positive
discussions took place which resulted in further information being submitted As the
proposal was in accordance with these discussions and was in accordance with the
Development Plan, no contact was made with the applicant prior to determination.
2 As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to
the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be
submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to
follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL is
Page 212

available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planningpermission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx
3 You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance with
the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution and
Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham web
page.
4 The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site.
5 Thames Water require the developer to note the following:
Waste Comments
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the
developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would
have no objection. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer,
prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you
require further information please refer to our website.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewater-services__;!!CVb4j_0G!EFWQbo_3n2sepuO5hti0NH7OlPypENtddG7Zv27898oBgnq63rxXegiTiL8zsECg5SGaQ$
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning
significant work near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage.
We’ll need to check that your development doesn’t limit repair or maintenance
activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is
advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!EFWQbo_3n2sepuO5hti0NH7OlPypENtddG7Zv27898oBgnq63rxXegiTiL8zsFbBQZIQg$ .
The proposed development is located within 15 metres of our underground waste
water assets and as such we would like the following informative attached to any
approval granted. “The proposed development is located within 15 metres of
Thames Waters underground assets and as such, the development could cause the
assets to fail if appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide ‘working
near our assets’ to ensure your workings are in line with the necessary processes
you need to follow if you’re considering working above or near our pipes or other
structures.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!EFWQbo_3n2sepuO5hti0NH7OlPypENtddG7Zv27898oBgnq63rxXegiTiL8zsFbBQZIQg$ .
Should you require further information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday,
8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court,
Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB

Page 213

Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER NETWORK and
SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure capacity, we would not have any
objection to the above planning application, based on the information provided.

Water Comments
The proposed development is located within 5m of a strategic water main. Thames
Water do NOT permit the building over or construction within 5m, of strategic water
mains. Thames Water request that the following condition be added to any planning
permission. No construction shall take place within 5m of the water main.
Information detailing how the developer intends to divert the asset / align the
development, so as to prevent the potential for damage to subsurface potable water
infrastructure, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any construction must be undertaken
in accordance with the terms of the approved information. Unrestricted access must
be available at all times for the maintenance and repair of the asset during and after
the construction works. Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to
underground strategic water main, utility infrastructure. The works has the potential
to impact on local underground water utility infrastructure. Please read our guide
‘working near our assets’ to ensure your workings will be in line with the necessary
processes you need to follow if you’re considering working above or near our pipes
or other structures.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!EFWQbo_3n2sepuO5hti0NH7OlPypENtddG7Zv27898oBgnq63rxXegiTiL8zsFbBQZIQg$
Should you require further information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk.
The proposed development is located within 15m of a strategic water main. Thames
Water request that the following condition be added to any planning permission. No
piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth and type of
piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out,
including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface
water infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with Thames
Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved
piling method statement. Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to
underground water utility infrastructure. Piling has the potential to impact on local
underground water utility infrastructure. Please read our guide ‘working near our
assets’ to ensure your workings will be in line with the necessary processes you
need to follow if you’re considering working above or near our pipes or other
structures.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!EFWQbo_3n2sepuO5hti0NH7OlPypENtddG7Zv27898oBgnq63rxXegiTiL8zsFbBQZIQg$ .
Should you require further information please contact Thames Water.
Email:developer.services@thameswater.co.uk
If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it’s important
you let Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid potential fines for
improper usage. More information and how to apply can be found online at
thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater.

Page 214

Appendix A: Local Meeting Minutes
Meeting opened at 19:04
Councillor Chris Barnham introduced themselves and Sam James, the lead planning officer; and on
behalf of the applicant, the planning agent Chris Smith.
Nine residents were in attendance, as well as Councillor Tauseef.
The reason for the virtual meeting was outlined: to discuss planning application DC/20/119755. The
purpose of this meeting was to allow residents to ask questions of, and put their views to, the
developer and Council officers. The meeting format was explained, including how the questioning
process would work, following the Planning Agent’s presentation.
Chris Smith, planning agent gave a short opening statement and presentation of the proposal, and
summarised the design intent and other facts of the case.
Following the presentation, Councillor Tauseef was invited to speak. He stated that whilst he did not
object to the principle of development as there is a requirement for new homes, his constituents had
some concerns and questions regarding the proposed development. These included that no
affordable housing would be provided, not enough family housing would be provided, and the scale
of the proposed building being larger than adjoining houses. Clarification was sought over what use
class the community use at ground floor would be, concern that this was smaller than the existing
space, and concern over the potential impacts of this use on residential amenity and parking in the
future. Following his speech, Councillor Tauseef excused himself from the meeting, as he had other
Council commitments to attend to.
The meeting then proceeded in ‘themes’ which broadly covered each of the main material planning
considerations. Pre-submitted questions were read out the planning officer, followed by follow up
comments or questions in the text chat function.
The order of discussion was to be as follows:

1. Principle of development and provision of housing
2. Design and impact on appearance of surrounding area
3. Impacts to neighbouring amenity
4. Highway impacts
5. Other concerns and considerations
The first theme of questioning was the principle of development, and concern was raised with regard
to the loss of the existing Royal Legion Building, which is considered a community building and asset
to locals. It was explained that the proposal would provide new community space in place of the
existing, and this would be in the F use class (community facilities, meaning any change of use to
any other use would require planning permission). As the proposal would re-provide a new
community use in place of that which would be lost, the proposal can be supported in principle.
There was a question relating to the proposed use of the community space, and concern this could
result in noise impacts and parking issues. It was explained that the end user has not been

Page 215

determined, however the use would be within the F.2 Class (community uses). It was also noted that
the existing lawful use was the British Royal Legion Clubhouse, and that the use class effectively
would not be changed by this application. Notwithstanding, suitable conditions would control the
noise impacts, and as the use class would not change, it would not be expected to result in significant
impacts to parking stress.
Concern was raised the proposed 6 residential units would result in an over development of the site,
that the level of proposed family and affordable housing were too low, and that the garden space
provided would not be large enough. It was explained that the proposed density would be complaint
with the Policies of the London Plan (2021) and that 33% 3-bed homes is considered a good level
of family sized dwellings to be provided. It was noted the provision of external amenity space was
policy compliant, and exceeded for the 3-bed dwellings.
The second theme related to the design of the proposal and its impact on the appearance of the
surrounding area. Questions and comments related to how and whether the design successfully
relates to the surrounding area, and justification was sought for the scale of the proposal.
The planning agent explained that they had designed the proposal to be in keeping with the scale of
surrounding development, and clarified that the height would be similar to existing houses, with
windows broadly aligning. They explained how the design had evolved since a previous iteration,
with the help of pre app advice, and the building lines were now in keeping with surrounding
development. High quality materials are proposed, and the intent is to provide a modern building.
The planning officer stated that the scale and height of the proposed building was considered to be
acceptable by officers and would not result in harm to the appearance of the surrounding area.
Furthermore, the proposal respects existing building lines. It was stated that the design does not
attempt to replicate other properties, but it is high quality and would appear a modern addition.
Relevant conditions would ensure an appropriate finish through suitable materials, and those
proposed appear high quality.
The third theme related to the impact on neighbouring amenity. Concern was raised the proposal
would result in harm to the neighbouring No.66 Buckthorne Road a result of ‘looming’ over their rear
garden, and due to overlooking from upper floor windows. The planning officer stated that the tallest
part of the proposal would be set away from the neighbouring dwelling’s garden, to sufficiently
mitigate any harmful impacts of the proposed structure. It would not result in increased sense of
enclosure to neighbours, nor loss of outlook, or a loss of daylight, in line with Policy DM32 and
CSP15. Furthermore, upper floor windows and roof terraces would not result in harmful overlooking
into existing windows, as obscure glazing and screening would be used on the relevant windows to
protect neighbouring privacy.
Concern was raised over the possible noise and disturbance impacts to neighbours due to the
increased density of residential use, and the community use. The planning officer noted that this is
a residential area, so additional residential development would not be likely to result in harmful noise
and disturbance. It would also be mitigated through standard planning conditions (residential
soundproofing, and noise management plan for any commercial use which comes forwards). Hours
of operation of the community use would also be controlled by condition.
Concern was raised that neighbouring trees could be harmed. It was explained by the planning
officer that the submitted arboriculture statement confirmed there would be no harm to neighbouring
trees and that the tree officer is satisfied
The fourth theme related to the highway impacts of the proposed development.
Concern was raised over impacts to the existing footpath (Brockley Path) to the rear, such as
conflicts between new residents and users of the path and that the path would be darkened and
enclosed by the proposal. As well as impacts to general pedestrians and cyclists who use the cycle
Page 216

route which passes through Eddystone Road. Planning officer stated that the entrance to one of the
flats from Brockley Path would be unlikely to result in conflict, and that the developer had agreed to
provide lighting to the area to reduce the darkening effect. Furthermore a development of this scale
would have no harmful impact on cyclists and pedestrians. Building would be set back from the
pavement, and would not block any sight lines, public rights of way, cycle routes or pavements.
The proposed refuse storage was discussed, and it was confirmed by the planning agent that the
commercial refuse store could be moved away from Brockley Path to reduce the risk of conflict.
Concern was also raised with regard to parking stress. The planning officer stated that a parking
beat survey demonstrates there would be sufficient space to accommodate any additional parking
that would be expected to be generated by the proposal. Furthermore, a Travel Plan would be
conditioned for the community use.
Concern was raised with regard to the impact to the area of Eddystone Road highway that is currently
enclosed with planters, as well as the ‘pocket park’ that has been planted. The planning agent stated
they would not impact on this area, and the planning officer confirmed that the current proposal would
not be expected to have any impact.
Questions and concerns regarding sustainability, and impacts to ecology were also submitted. The
developer confirmed that solar panels are proposed for the roof to reduce CO2 emissions. The
planning officer confirmed an Ecological report has been submitted, and assessed by the councils
Ecology Officer who has recommended final details of mitigation during construction and
enhancements within the proposed development be secured by conditions.
Concern was raised that the local area requires improvements, including street planting, road
repairs, and concerns regarding a nearby pedestrian bridge. The planning officer states that it was
unlikely that this development could proportionately contribute to road / street improvements through
S106, but CIL would be payable.
Concern was also raised over the impacts during construction works. It was confirmed that a
construction management plan would be secured by condition. Construction hours would also be
limited to ensure no unacceptable disruption at unsociable hours.
Councillor Barnham drew the meeting to a close, explained that further questions and comments
could be submitted in writing, and residents can write to councillors, the planning team and the
applicant. He confirmed residents who have commented on the application will be notified of the date
any future planning committee meeting relating to the proposal, thanked everyone for attending and
for participating in the meeting.
Meeting closed 20:05

Page 217

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 219

This page is intentionally left blank

39-43 Eddystone Road, SE4
Application No. DC/20/119755

Page 221

Demolition of existing community building and associated
outbuildings at 39-43 Eddystone Road SE4 and the
construction of a three storey building to provide 6 self
contained flats (3 x 1 Bed, 1 x 2 Bed & 2 x 3 Bed), together
with community space at ground floor level (Use Class F.2),
landscaping, external bin store and bicycle storage, with
pedestrian and cycle access onto Buckthorne Road and
Brockley Path.
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of 14

Page 222

N
Site Location Plan

END

2 of 14

Page 223

Aerial View

3 3 of 14

Page 224

Eddystone Road Elevation

4 4 of 14

Page 225

Proposed 3D render Eddystone Road Elevation

5 5 of 14

Page 226

Proposed Ground and First Floor Plans

6 6 of 14

Page 227

Proposed Second Floor and Roof Plans

7 7 of 14

Page 228

Proposed Elevations

8 8 of 14

Page 229

3D rendering, Eddystone Road Elevation

9 9 of 14

Page 230

3D rendering, Buckthorne Road Elevation

1010 of 14

Page 231

Proposed Elevations

1111 of 14

Key Material Planning Considerations:

Page 232

• Principle of Development (demolition and re-provision of community
space and 6 new self-contained dwellings)
• Housing Provision and Quality of Residential Accommodation
• Urban Design and impact of proposed building on appearance of
surrounding area
• Transport and Highways impacts
• Impact on Neighbouring Residential Amenity
• Sustainable Development and Natural Environment

Summary

1212 of 14

Page 233

3D rendering, Buckthorne Road Elevation

1313 of 14

Page 234

3D rendering, Eddystone Road Elevation

1414 of 14

Page 235

Proposed 3D render Eddystone Road Elevation

1515 of 14

Page 236

Proposed 3D render

1616 of 14

Page 237

Proposed 3D render

1717 of 14

Page 238

Proposed 3D render Buckthorne Road Elevation

1818 of 14

END
Page 239

END

19 of 14

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

29-35 Tranquil Vale, London, SE3 0BU
Lewisham Central
Jesenka Ozdalga/Patrycja Ploch
PART 1

30 September 2021

Reg. Nos.

DC/21/121861

Application dated

19 May 2021

Applicant

ECE Planning Limited on behalf of Butcher Curnow &
Company Limited

Proposal

Demolition of existing office building (Use Class E)
and construction of two three-storey semi-detached
houses with associated parking and landscaping' at
the rear of 29-35 Tranquil Vale SE3 with access onto
Collins Street.

Background Papers

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports and documents
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

Designation

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Blackheath Conservation Area
PTAL 5
Air Quality Management Area
Major District Centre
Sustainable Drainage

Screening

Not applicable

SUMMARY
This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal.
The report has been brought before Committee for a decision as more than three
individual objections have been received from local residents and Blackheath Society
objected.

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use
The application site is a 0.05-hectare plot located to the rear of Nos 29-35 Tranquil Vale,
which are two grade II listed 18th century buildings of which 33-35 are combined into
one. The properties on Tranquil Vale are in the centre of the residential area of
Blackheath conservation area. This street consists primarily of ground floor shops with
accommodation or offices above. Drawing 1 shows the application site in red and other
land that is in ownership of the applicant in blue.

Drawing 1: Site location plan

Page 241

Surrounding development
To the north there are properties facing Tranquil Vale. To the east there are rear garden
of properties facing Tranquil Vale. To the south there is Blackheath Station car park and
the railway station. To the west there are residential properties on Collins Street.
Character of area
The surrounding area is predominantly residential with similarly built terraced dwellings
situated on Collins Street. The Tranquil Vale has a number of mix-use properties.
Heritage/archaeology
The application site is located within Blackheath Conservation Area (Character Area 9:
The village) and is adjacent to character area 9a: Collins Street and South Vale Road,
which has an Article 4 Direction. The row of properties on Tranquil Vale are all Grade II
listed.
Surrounding area
The site is located approximately 100m from the entrance to the Blackheath Park.
Tranquil Vale and Montpelier Vale are approximately 160m away and they provide
various shops, other facilities and services.
Local environment
The site is also within an Area of Special Character and District Centre.
Transport
The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 5 on a scale of 1-6b,
1 being lowest and 6b the highest. It is less than 100m from Blackheath Station and
Blackheath town centre.
Page 242

Brigade Street is included in Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) BHA, which covers this part
of Blackheath Mon-Sat 9am-7pm.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
ON-SITE
In 1983 planning application was granted for the erection of a new three-storey office
building at the rear of No’s 33-35 Tranquil Vale together with the addition of three
windows and a door on the flank and rear elevations of the main building. There is no
planning reference for this application, however the applicant is claiming that the
permission is alive as part of the development was implemented.
Application reference DC/14/089427 for “change of use, alteration and conversion of
Units 2, 3 & 4, 33-35 Tranquil Vale to provide 1 one-bedroom self-contained flat, 1 twobedroom self-contained flat and 1 three bedroom self-contained flat, together with
changes to the rear roofslope and installation of a new door and new gates in the
existing wall fronting Collins Street” was received on 10th October 2014 and it was
approved on 28th October 2015.
Application reference DC/18/109919 for “demolition of existing B1 office building and
construction of two x three-storey semi-detached houses with associated parking and
landscaping at the rear of 29-35 Tranquil Vale, SE3 with access onto Collins Street” was
received in November 2018 and it was refused in July 2019 for the following reasons:
1) The loss of garden land belonging to the curtilage of the adjoining Listed
Buildings at No.29 & 31 Tranquil Vale and the scale and extent of the proposed
buildings would result in excessive and dominant development that would
obscure the listed group in views from the rear, remove parts of their curtilage,
and unacceptably erode their curtilage, potentially affecting their future use,
viability and sustainability. This is contrary to the NPPF (2019), London Plan
(2016) Policy 3.5, the adopted Core Strategy (2011) Policy CS 16 and
Development Management (2014) DM Policy 33, DM Policy 36.
2) The proposed development by reason of its scale, form, massing, design and
prominent location, would appear as an incongruous form of development,
including in long views from across the railway line, causing demonstrable harm
to the designated and non-designated heritage assets comprising the
conservation area, the group of listed buildings on Tranquil Vale and the nondesignated heritage assets adjacent on Colins Street, and their settings,
contrary to the NPPF (2019), London Plan (2016) Policy 7.4 and 7.6, the
adopted Core Strategy (2011) Policy CS15 and the Development Management
Local Plan (2014) DMP 30, 33, 36 and 37.
3) The proposed development, by virtue of its height, bulk and proximity to
neighbouring properties and their amenity spaces at No 1 Collins Street and No
29 Tranquil Vale, would result in material harm to the living conditions of
neighbouring residents in terms of overbearing impact and loss of outlook,
contrary to the provisions of Chapter 12 of the NPPF (2019), London Plan (2016)
Policy 7.4 and 7.6, the adopted Core Strategy (2011) Policy CS15 and the
Development Management Local Plan (2014) DM Policies 32 and 33.
The decision on application reference DC/18/109919 was appealed by the applicant on
30 January 2020 and it was dismissed by Planning Inspectorate (see appeal reference
APP/C5690/W/19/3239930) on 4 August 2020. The appeal was dismissed and the
conclusion at paragraph 22 noted that “…while the proposed development would not
Page 243

prejudice the use, viability and sustainability of 29 and 31 Tranquil Vale, it would harm
the setting of the listed building and the character of the CA, as well as the amenity of
the occupiers of 1 Collins Street.”

PRE-APPLICATION
Pre-planning application reference PRE/20/118707 was submitted on 8th October 2020
to discuss whether the revised scheme overcame the reasons for refusal and dismissal
of planning application reference DC/18/109919. The written response was issued on
26th October 2020 advising that the proposed development requires further work before
it can be considered acceptable. The area that the applicant needs to work on includes
the position, alignment and the space between new buildings and the frontage building.
Follow up pre-planning application reference PRE/20/119553 was submitted on 9th
December 2020 to discuss the changes made following the issue of written preresponse submitted under reference PRE/20/118707. The written response was issued
on 10th February 2021, advising that the proposal has improved since the last preapplication meeting. The application submitted two design Options. Officers confirmed
that Option 2 responded better to previous comments and it has the potential to preserve
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and the setting of the Listed
Buildings on Tranquil Vale. However, there is further work that needs to be done in
relation to design of the proposed elevations, urban greening and transport and highway
(in particular design of cycle parking and pedestrian approach to the site).
Further follow-up pre-planning application reference PRE/21/120753 was submitted on
9th March 2021 to discuss the alterations made following the issue of written preresponse submitted under reference PRE/20/119553. The written response was issued
on 12th April 2021, advising that the applicant has positively responded to issues raised
at the last pre-application meeting (reference PRE/20/119553). The remaining areas that
needed to be addressed were including of rainwater goods on proposed elevations,
improvement and detail of the proposed hard landscaping, impact access to the site on
the eastern side of Collins Street and drawing to show that the proposal would not result
in overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring properties.

NEIGHBOURING SITES
Application reference DC/19/112018 at 29 to 35 Tranquil Vale was for “the change of
use of the units and changes to the rear roofslope, addition of new dormers, new rear
windows at level 1, new and replacement doors, lowering of part of retail floor to create a
level access, and other associated alterations” was received in April 2019 and approved
in August 2019. This application is relevant to the current application as Condition 4
(Refuse and Recycling); Condition 5 (Cycle parking for other uses); Condition 6 (Cycle
parking for residential use); Condition 7 (Soft landscaping); and Condition 11 (Rear
Courtyard) relate to the area in front of the proposed houses.

PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
The application proposes to demolish the existing office building and construct two, three
storey, semi-detached houses with associated parking and landscaping.
To accommodate the proposal the site boundary would be extended to include part of
garden land that currently belongs to No’s 29 and 31 Tranquil Vale. The proposed
buildings have been set back and detached from the adjacent front façade of No 1
Page 244

Collins Street. The orientation of the building would respond and follow that of the
building facing onto Tranquil Vale.
The proposed building would be two storeys in height and they would have a skillion roof
which is a single flat plane roof stretching from one side of the house to the other. The
proposed materials to be accommodated in the development include slate roof tiles, a
mix light grey brickwork, light reconstituted precast stone and clear glazing.
The main outlook from the proposed dwellings would be south, towards the rear
gardens. The majority of the habitable rooms have been orientated to the rear façade
and fenestration to allow natural light and to avoid and reduce overlooking from the front
elevation to properties on Tranquil Vale.
Refuse and cycle storage is provided with green roof at the front of the properties in the
main courtyard. The development would also provide and accommodate refuse and
cycle parking that is required to be provided by the application approved under reference
DC/19/112018 described in paragraph 17 of the report.
There would be two car parking spaces provided within the front courtyard, one for each
house. A vehicle turntable is proposed to enable easy access and egress via Collins
Street. A section of the existing boundary wall would be removed to improved visibility
when accessing and existing the site, as well as open up the site and improve its
relationship with Collins Street.

AMENDMENTS
Amendments have been made to the application and revised information submitted as
set out below.





Improvements to soft landscaping and planting proposals
Submission of side elevation facing east
Submission of proposed surface water run off appraisal

COMPARISON WITH PREVIOUS SCHEME
The refused scheme, shown in drawing 1 and 2 below, had an orientation that related to
and carried on the axis of Collins Street. The front elevation had large areas of brick and
had cycle and refuse storage in the single storey extension at the front. The courtyard
area between the rear of building facing Tranquil Vale and proposed buildings was
mainly made out from hard landscaping.

Page 245

Drawing 1 and 2: Previously refused scheme

Drawing 3 and 4 below, shows the proposed scheme and how it has developed since
the last planning application.
Drawing 3 and 4: Current proposal

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
The Council undertook statutory public consultation on the planning application and in
line with the Council’s Statement of Community, Involvement letters were sent to
neighbouring properties and businesses. In total 44 letters were sent.
In addition, a public notice was displayed outside the application site. A press notification
was also issued on 2nd June 2021.
6 representations were received, in objection to the proposed development.
Comments in objection
Table 1: Material planning considerations

Comment

Para where addressed

Page 246

Urban Design and Impact on Heritage Assets
The proposal would form a terrace and harm the
character and appearance of Collins Street

See paragraph 94

Not in keeping with existing properties by reason of
inappropriate design (massing, scale, colour and detail)

See paragraphs 81-83

The proposed houses would be too big for the street,
majority of houses in the area are 2-bedroom

See paragraphs 81-82

The partial demolition of boundary wall to the left of No 1
Collins Street that is 150 years old and is part of the
adjoining listed building is unacceptable

See paragraph 90

Transport impact
Inadequacy of Construction Management Plan and
blockages to the street from building works

See paragraph 122

Parking pressure created by the development

See paragraph 119

Sustainable development
Removal of trees (outlook and wildlife)

See paragraph 149

Table 2: Non-material planning considerations

Comment
Lack of communication from the applicant
about the proposed works with local
residents
The proposal would underpin No 1 Collins
Street

No indication how long the development
would take.

Comment
The applicant will be advised via an
informative to better communicate with
the local residents throughout the
construction process.
Underpinning a house is the process of
strengthening the building's foundations.
This might have to be done to allow
construction. If you are worried about
structural integrity you can get a third
party surveyor to check the proposed
plans for underpinning the house. This is
a civil matter between the two
landowners.
This is not a material consideration.
Anyone interested is advised to contact
the developer for updates on construction
and completion dates.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
Lewisham SuDS Team: no SuDS issues with this development.
Lewisham Highways: The proposal is largely acceptable subject to conditions securing
further details on turntable, cycle and bin storage, electric car charging facilities,
construction management plan and S278 agreement.
Lewisham Conservation: No objection, the proposal is largely acceptable with the
exception of the boundary wall which needs clarifying and amending.

Page 247

Lewisham Tree Officer: The proposal is largely acceptable subject to condition for further
considerations and review of landscape strategy.
Lewisham Ecology: no objection subject to conditions.

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
Ward Councillors: no response received.
The Blackheath Society: objects to the application by reason of attachment to No 1
Collins Street, no information about maintenance of proposed turntable, removal of
trees, colour of bricks, site access and construction.
Historic England (Listed Buildings): no comments on the application.
Network Rail: no objection. However, due to the close proximity of the proposed works to
the railway embankment and the operational railway. Network Rail requests that the
applicant/developer follows Asset Protection informative to ensure that safe operation of
the railway is maintained.
TfL: no response received.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.
Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.
The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE
The National Policy and Guidance comprises:

Page 248





National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
Lewisham SPG/SPD:



Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues are:










Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design and Heritage
Transport Impact
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment
Planning Obligations

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at Paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.
The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Loss of existing employment on site
Policy

Page 249

CS Glossary defines employment as uses which fall within B1, B2 and B8 of the Use
Class Order. Therefore, LP Policy E4, CS Policy 5 and DMLP Policy DM11 are relevant.
These policies seek to protect employment uses on the smaller sites in office, industrial
and warehouse/storage use and builders and scaffolding yards in and around town
centres, district and local hubs and also those embedded in residential areas.
Discussion
The proposal is for the demolition of an office building (Use Class E, previous Use Class
B1a) and construction of residential units (Use Class C3). The loss of office space would
normally be resisted, however in making an assessment, it is important to take into
account the alternatives for the site in terms of what could occur without a need for any
further permissions. In light of the previous applications approved under reference
DC/14/089427 and DC/19/112018 there is no objection to the loss of office building and
employment use. The permission from 2019 is an extant consent which has been
lawfully commenced and fall within the red line boundary line of the current development.
Furthermore, the Inspector, in his decision from 4 August 2020 following refused scheme
under DC/18/109919, does not raise concerns with regards to the demolition of the
existing office building and subsequent loss of employment space. Provision of
residential accommodation
Policy
National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land. Indeed, the London Plan makes housing a priority
The Core Strategy (CSP) recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.
LPP H2 states that boroughs should increase the contribution of small sites (below 0.25
hectares) to meeting London’s housing needs and sets a ten-year target for Lewisham of
3,790 new homes.
Discussion
The scheme would provide two additional residential dwellings. Although the contribution
to the overall housing market would be small, this is a welcome contribution to the
current annual target for Lewisham.
Development on back land and infill sites
Policy
DMP 33 sets out the requirements for a variety of sites within residential areas that may
come forward for development. Development on these sites require careful consideration
due to the need to preserve the quality and amenity of residential areas. The main types
of sites are infill sites, backland sites, back gardens and amenity area.
Discussion
For the purposes of DMP 33, the application site exhibits characteristics of both an infill
and backland site. The part of the site directly behind No’s 33-35 Tranquil Vale is the

Page 250

infill site. The part of the side to the south and at the rear of No’s 29-31 is the backland
site.
The previous application (DC/18/109919) was refused because of the loss of garden
land belonging to the curtilage of the adjoining Listed Buildings at No.29 & 31 Tranquil
Vale.
The last application was appealed and Planning Inspector found at paragraph 8 that “as
regards the principles of rear development behind these building which date from the
early-mid C18, the historical maps indicate that there have been buildings behind Nos 33
and 35 since 1870, and behind Nos 29 to 35 since 1903. I appreciate that the original
condition of these building may have been undeveloped at the back. Nevertheless, the
historical development now has a bearing on their significance and is a substantial
component of their setting today, wherein the rear plan of No 29 appears truncated, and
the development behind Nos 33 and 35 remains in place.”
As the Inspector found that the proposed development would not prejudice the use,
viability and sustainability of 29 and 31 Tranquil Vale. The previous objection to
development of this part of the site is considered to be overcome, and the application is
acceptable with regard to DM 33.
Principle of development conclusions
In light of the above, the principle of development is accepted.

HOUSING
This section covers the standard of accommodation.

Internal and external space standards
General Policy
NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the LP Policy D6, the CS Policy 15,
DMLP Policy 32 and associated guidance (Housing SPD 2017, GLA; Alterations and
Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).
Discussion
The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes in regards to the internal and external
space that would be provided.
Table 3: Internal space standards – proposed v target

House No of
No. of
bedrooms persons

2 storey
dwelling
sqm
(proposed
(target))

Bedroom size
sqm
(proposed
(target))

Amenity
space
sqm
(proposed
(target))

Built-in
storage
sqm
(proposed
(target))

1

156.5 (135)

B1 - 15 (11.5)

53.4 (11)

1 (3.5)

5b

9p

B2 - 7.5 (7.5)
B3 – 13.5 (11.5)
B4 – 12.5 (11.5)
Page 251

Stu - 12.2 (11.5)
2

4b

7p

140.9 (121)

B1 - 15 (11.5)

89.4 (9)

(3)

B2 - 7.5 (7.5)
B3 – 13.5 (11.5)
B4 – 12.5 (11.5)
Officers note that the application applied for both houses to be 4-bedroom. However,
given the size of the study in House 1 on the ground floor this room could be used as
single bedroom. As such, House 1 has been assessed as a 5-bedroom house.
The proposed houses would meet the requirements of LP Policy D6 in terms of total
floorspace.
The proposal would also meet the requirements of LP Policy D6 in terms of the size of
bedrooms. The bedrooms would also be policy compliant in terms of the width of the
rooms.
The floor to ceiling height of the dwellings would be 2.5m in accordance with DMLP
Policy 32 and LP Policy D6, while the storage would also comply.
The proposed private amenity would exceed the required amount by LP Policy D6. Each
house would have access to rear private garden. In addition, House 2 would have
access to a private front garden.

Outlook, Privacy and Overheating
Policy
DMLP Policy 32 expects all new development to provide a satisfactory level of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for both its future residents.
Discussion
The main outlook from the proposed dwellings would be south, towards the rear
gardens. The majority of the habitable rooms have been orientated to the rear façade
and fenestration to allow natural light.
The dwellings would benefit from good levels of privacy. Most habitable rooms have
been orientated to face the rear of the site to avoid and reduce overlooking from the front
elevation to properties on Tranquil Vale. Where there are windows to habitable rooms in
the front elevation those are considered to be well positioned to ensure that the privacy
of future occupiers is not affected.
The dwellings would be dual aspect. These measures are considered sufficient to avoid
unacceptable overheating.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy
DM Policy 31 (1) (b) expects new development to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of natural
lighting for its future residents.
Discussion

Page 252

Officers consider the daylight and sunlight levels would be acceptable. No assessment
has been provided but it is not considered necessary for this scheme given its modest
scale and the benefits identified in the Design and Access Statement, namely: full height
windows and double aspect.

Housing conclusion
Overall, the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LP Policy D6 and DMLP Policy 32.

URBAN DESIGN AND HERITAGE
Urban Design
Policy
The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high-quality buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.
LP Policy D4, CS Policy 15 and DMLP DM30, required that all new developments
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity.
Discussion
The development site includes the office building and rear yard behind No’s 33 to 35 and
a large part of the rear garden of No’s 29 to 31. The Planning Inspectorate did not
consider that the loss of the curtilage to the rear plot of No’s 29 to 31 would be harmful
to the significance and future viability of these buildings. In light of this there is no
objection to this part of the development in terms of urban design and heritage.
As part of the proposal the existing office building to the rear of No’s 33 to 35 would be
demolished. This building dates to the early 20th century and it is of no architectural or
historical significance. There is no objection to its demolition.
The dismissed appeal has led to improvements over the previously refused scheme. The
proposed building would now align with the listed building fronting Tranquil Vale. The
change in the orientation has allowed the applicant to create a greater sense of
separation between the listed buildings, the non-designated heritage assets and the
proposed development. Officers are satisfied that the footprint and layout of the
proposed houses responds well to the existing grain and orientation.
The scale and massing of the proposed houses are sensitive to the historic pattern of
development and it demonstrates hierarchical subservience. The proposed house would
be broadly equivalent to the neighbouring buildings. The skillion roof would allow some
views of the listed building fronting Tranquil Vale.
Following the dismissed appeal, the elevation design has evolved and improved. The
front and rear elevations have more articulation and detail in them. The side elevations
would contextual in that they would mainly have blank brick side. The proposal would
break from the past but there are sufficient elements rooted in the same tradition to
make them sensitive indentations, compatible with the distinctive architectural character
of the listed building and non-designated heritage assets and conservation area. The
choice of materials is considered to complement the wider area. The proposed material
palette of brick and re-constituted stone is simple and appropriate in this backland
location. A material condition is proposed to ensure that the elevations of high quality
and the tone of the proposed brick would relate to the other elevations in treatment.
Page 253

Detail of brickwork sample panel showing brick type, bond, pointing colour and profile
would be requested.

Impact on the Listed Buildings
The Conservation Officer’s full comments constitute part of the background papers.
Heritage Policy
Section 66 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 .
states that when considering whether to grant planning permission for development
which affects a listed building or its setting, the LPA must have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural
or historic interest which it possesses. The courts have held that this duty requires
decision-makers to give 'considerable importance and weight' or 'high priority' to the
desirability of preserving listed buildings and their settings.
Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 200 of NPPF states that any
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or
destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification. Further, that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset that harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal.
LP Policy HC1, CS Policy 15, DMLP Policy 36 and 37 and Blackheath conservation area
character appraisal and SPD are relevant. These policies seek to ensure that heritage
assets are protected so that they may continue to contribute to the richness of the
borough’s historical environment and inform future development and regeneration.
Discussion
The application site is located to the rear of a group of listed buildings fronting Tranquil
Vale. This listed group forms part of an important wider group from No’s 3-35, forming
the southern edge of Tranquil Vale and high significance in townscape terms. The group
plots are long and thin, with most reaching all the way through to the station car park and
access road to the rear.
The rising land level means that the building will be seen in the foreground of not just
No’s 29 to 35 Tranquil Vale but also buildings on the other side and beyond. Whilst the
fact that they will partially obscure the rear elevations of the listed building is regrettable,
this was not something that the Planning Inspector objected to. The elevations of the
building are well developed and the skillion roof would allow some views of the listed
buildings. On balance, the proposal would not result in harm to the character and
appearance of the listed buildings. As mentioned above the footprint, layout and
orientation of the houses would respond well to the existing grain and orientation and it
would not harm the listed buildings.
The part of the wall and gates that are proposed to be removed are newer and nonoriginal parts of the listed building. The gate and section of the wall are proposed to be
removed to improve the visibility and the relationship of the courtyard space with Collins
Street. The Planning Inspector considered that the opening of the courtyard would bring
many positive aspects to the public realm over the existing conditions of the building at
the back of No’s 33 to 35 Tranquil Vale which add little to the townscape of the
conservation area. The Conservation Officer considered that the curved planted on
either side of the entrance would not be in keeping with the character of the site as they
Page 254

are too polite. Officers consider that the curved edges compliment the design of the
proposed house and on balance their design would not harm the appearance of the
listed building and townscape of the conservation area.

Impact on Blackheath Conservation Area
Policy
Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a duty on the part of LPA’s when considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a conservation area to pay ‘special attention’
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that
conservation area.
The same planning policies apply to the assessment of the impact on the conservation
area as the impact on the listed building, listed above.
Discussion
The site also sits adjacent to an unlisted 19th century semi-detached villa at No’s 1 to 2
Collins Street which make a positive contribution to the conservation area and are
considered as a non-designated heritage asset.
The location, scale and design of the proposed buildings sit appropriately in the site and
would add to the existing collection of goof quality contemporary infill development that
is characteristic of the Blackheath Conservation Area.
The form, height and footprint of the proposed building would sit comfortably next to No
1 Collins Street. The angled building line, visual separation created by the historic wall
and gap between the ground floor level will mean that the new buildings will not obscure
No’s 1 and 2 Collins Street nature as a semi-detached pair, and they will read instead as
a new semi-detached pair adjacent to them.

Urban design and heritage conclusion
The urban design of the proposed building is acceptable and it would result in suitable
design pair of semi-detached houses, subject to adding a condition about the proposed
material and in particular the shade of the proposed brick.
Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would not cause harm to designated and non-designated heritage assts.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy
Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of paragraph 104. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

Page 255

Para 111 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.
Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns.
The Core Strategy, at Objective 9 and CS Policy 14, reflects the national and regional
priorities.

Access
Policy
The NPPF paragraph 110, Part F, states that developments should ensure that safe and
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.
Discussion
The application site has a single vehicular and pedestrian access point from Tranquil
Vale. This lies at the end of a short cul-de-sac off Tranquil Vale. New residents would
have to cross the road before reaching a pavement. This is considered acceptable in
light of the nature of the road and the existing situation. This also was not considered a
reason for refusal in the earlier appeal decision.

Servicing and refuse
LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.
CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.
Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion
The proposed courtyard would provide servicing and refuse area for the development
approved under application reference DC/19/112018 and for the proposed development.
With regards to approved development under reference DC/19/112018. Condition 4
(Refuse and recycling) detailed that no works to the residential part of the development
shall commence until detail of the storage of refuse and recycling facilities is submitted
and approved by the local planning authority. The proposal shows six refuse and
recycling bins to the north of the site that would be in a fully enclosed storage with green
roof. This is sufficient to meet the refuse and recycling requirements for the
development. Officers note that Condition 4 need to be discharge under a separate
application.
With regards to the new proposal, refuse store would be provided at the front of the site
close to the entrance to the site for both houses. The store for each house would have a
space for one standard (240l) and one standard (180l) wheelie bin. The refuse storage

Page 256

would be fully enclosed storage with green roof. This is sufficient to meet the refuse and
recycling requirements for the development.
All refuse storage areas fail to show space for food waste bin, however. This can be
addressed via a condition, should Members be minded to grant planning permission.
The current arrangement for waste collection for properties on Collins Street are such
that the refuse track reverses into the cul-de-sac to collect the bins. Servicing and
deliveries would remain the same. The proposed refuse and servicing arranged are
therefore acceptable.

Local Transport Network
Policy
The NPPF at paragraph 104 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion
The application site has a PTAL of 5, which is a very good level of public transport
accessibility. Officers are satisfied that the modest scale of development would prevent
the need for any mitigation in terms of increased transport capacity and that any impacts
to the local transport network could be accommodated within the existing transport
services and infrastructure.

Transport modes
Cycling
Policy
Residential development I required to provide cycle parking in accordance with the
requirements of Policy T5 and Table 10.2 of the London Plan.
Discussion
The proposed courtyard would provide cycle parking facilities for the development
approved under application reference DC/19/112018 and for the proposed development.
With regards to approved development under reference DC/19/112018. Condition 5
(Cycle parking for other uses) required submission of detail for short and long stay cycle
parking for units A, B and C. Condition 6 (Cycle parking for residential use) required
submission of detail of four-cycle parking spaces for unit D and E. Unit E is where the
proposal site is for the two houses. The proposal shows eight communal cycle parking
spaces north-east part of the site. The cycle storage would be safe, accessible, fully
enclosed and it would have green roof. Whilst commercial and residential cycle parking
would be mixed given the site constraints, in this instance this is not objectionable.
With regards to the proposed development two cycle parking spaces would be provided
close to the entrance to each house. The cycle storage would be safe, accessible, fully
enclosed and it would have green roof.
Private cars
Policy
LP Policy T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a
restrained approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent
Page 257

excessive car parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport
use.
LP Policy T6.1 and Table 10.3 states that maximum residential parking for sites in PTAL
5 and above should be car free.
Discussion
The proposal would provide two on site car parking spaces. It is noted that the refused
planning application or the Planning Inspector decision did not raised issues with the
proposed car parking. The applicant’s reason for the provision of the car parking spaces
is the fact that the courtyard was used for parking historically. Concerns have been
raised about creation of parking pressure in the local area. The space on site can only
accommodate two car parking spaces. The cars currently leave and exit the site without
a turn-table. To make the site more usable the applicant is proposing to install a
turntable. This would be an improvement on the existing situation. The responsibility to
maintain the turntable would lie with future occupies of the two houses proposed.

Construction impact
Policy
LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road. Additionally, LPP T7 requires that construction
logistic plans should be development in accordance with TfL guidance.
Discussion
The site constraints, including the narrowness of Tranquil Vale and Collins Street and
the lack of space on the site for storage of materials and receiving deliveries, impose
practical concerns for the construction phase of the development. Therefore, a detailed
Construction Logistics Management Plan (“CLMP”) is required to confirm that all vehicles
can approach, pull into and out of the designated loading area without overriding any
kerbs or blocking the highway. A traffic management plan and further details of
protection and temporary arrangements for pedestrians, including access to
neighbouring properties would also be required within the plan. A site plan showing the
location of storage for materials would be required. These details would be secured
within the CLMP, to be agreed prior to the commencement of any works on site,
including any site clearance or demolition.

Transport impact conclusion
The proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on the
surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the conditions
recommended above.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
The properties most likely to be impacted by the proposal are Nos 29-35 Tranquil Vale
and No 1 Collins Street. Other properties are considered sufficiently far from the site, or
situated in such a way relative to the site, that no harm would arise.
Enclosure, Outlook and Privacy
Policy
Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Page 258

Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.
DMLP Policy 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation of 21m between
directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
Discussion
Nos 29-35 Tranquil Vale
The proposed buildings would be between 10-12m away from the rear elevations of Nos
33-35 Tranquil Vale and between 18-13m away from the rear elevations Nos 29-31
Tranquil Vale. The location, mass and height of the buildings would mean that it would
be in view from the ground floor flat. While the outlook from this flat would change, it
would not be significantly different in terms of overbearing impact and outlook from the
existing situation.
The outlook from the proposed houses has been designed to be south, towards the rear
gardens. The majority of the habitable rooms have been orientated to the rear façade
and fenestration to avoid and reduce overlooking from the front elevation to properties
on Tranquil Vale. The impact in terms of overlooking and privacy is considered
acceptable.
No 1 Collins Street
The proposed building would project past the rear elevation of the two-storey rear
extension at No 1 Collins Street. The first floor of the proposed houses is stepped away
from the site and it is not as deep as the ground floor part. In light of this, officers
consider that the proposed property would have no overbearing impact or harmful effect
on the outlook from those windows.
There would be no windows in the side elevations facing this property. Accordingly, there
would be no overlooking and loss of privacy issues to the residents occupying No 1
Collins Street.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy
The NPPF does not express particular standards for daylight and sunlight.
DMP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of natural lighting for
its neighbours.
Discussion
The scale and position of the proposed dwelling relative to neighbouring properties’
habitable rooms and their amenity spaces is such that no adverse impact on their
daylight or sunlight is likely to arise. This is supported by the sun path diagrams included
in the Design and Access Statement on pages 23 to 25.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

Page 259

PPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create additional
noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic
environment.
Discussion
The introduction of new residential properties within a residential area is not considered
to result in any significant long-term material impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.
The construction phase of development is likely to introduce short-term disturbances to
the surrounding properties, however Officers do not consider that to be a material
planning consideration in this case due to the modest scale of development. Hours of
noisy work are controlled by other legislation.

Impact on neighbour's conclusion
In light of the above, the proposed development would not have unacceptable impact on
neighbouring amenity.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Energy and Environmental Sustainability
Policy
LP Policy SI2 required development to minimise greenhouse gas emissions.
Discussion
The proposed development has been designed to be energy and water efficient through
the implementation of high-level insulation, integrated solar panel system blended into
the roof material, rainwater harvesting, and use of appropriate heating and ventilation
system. Given the scale of the proposed development the energy strategy is considered
acceptable.

Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy
LPP SI13 expects development to achieve greenfield run-off rates in accordance with
the sustainable drainage hierarchy.
CSP 10 requires applicants demonstrate that the most sustainable urban drainage
system that is reasonably practical is incorporated to reduce flood risk, improve water
quality and achieve amenity and habitat benefits.
Discussion
The proposal includes permeable paving, green roofs on the cycle, refuse and ground
floor extension. The proposed SuDS plan was reviewed by Council SuDS team who
confirmed that the proposal is acceptable.
Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion
The proposal is acceptable in terms of Sustainable development, subject to obligation
and conditions.

Page 260

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy
Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning.
The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.
The NPPF at para 180 states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as
the sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.
Green spaces and trees
Policy
NPPF para 170 expects development to contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment.
LP Policies G5 and G7, CS Policy 12, and DMLP Policy 25 seeks to protect natural
environment and improved it where possible.
Discussion
The proposal would remove two C grade trees. In addition, the stumps of six trees would
be removed. All other trees on site will be retained and protected during the works. To
mitigate the loss of trees, replacement planting is anticipated within the gardens of the
new properties.
The proposal also includes plans for planting and soft landscaping. The Council’s
Ecological Regeneration Manager reviewed the application documents and plans
advising that the proposal is acceptable subject to condition that would secure green
roof detail, bird and bat boxes, sensitive lighting and revised detail for soft landscaping
as there is room for further improvements on native/wildlife friendly species.

Natural Environment conclusion
The proposal is acceptable in terms of Natural Environment, subject to conditions.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.
The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

Page 261

£19,400 Lewisham CIL and £11,640 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this application,
subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant has completed
the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.
The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance
Page 262

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.
Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.
This application has the legitimate aim of providing new buildings for residential use. The
rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1, Article 1
considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.
The principle of developing the site for additional residential dwellings in a sustainable
urban location is acceptable and in accordance with the Development Plan, and weight
is given to this planning merit.
The proposed development is acceptable in terms of its scale, form, design, material and
impact on heritage assets including the conservation area, the NDHA and nearby listed
buildings.
The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbours in terms of overlooking,
loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance. It was also considered that the proposal
would not negatively impact on the local transport network or parking.
In light of the above, it is recommended that this planning permission is approved subject
to conditions and informative.

Page 263

RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informative:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans and drawings hereby approved and as detailed below:


G218-100; G218-101; G218-121; G128-122; G218-130; G218-131; G218140; G218-141; G218-142; G218-143; G218-203; G218-204; G218-220;
G218-301; G218-302; G218-303; G218-401; G218-402; G218-403; G218404; G218-406; G218-950; G218-951; G218-953 received on 20 May
2021.



G218-102; G218-120 Rev A received on 2 July 2021.



Planting Design Proposal; 01 Rev A3; AS1218 01 Rev A4; G218-201 Rev
B; G218-202 Rev A; G218-210 Rev A; G218-221 Rev A received on 13
July 2021.



G218-405 Rev A and End of terrace treatment in surrounding area study
received on 2 August 2021.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning.
3)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN
Notwithstanding the submitted Construction Management Plan prepared by Gruff,
prior to commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or
demolition, the Construction Management and Logistic Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include the
following:a) Confirmation that vehicles that would be used during construction of the
development can approach, pull into and out of the designated loading
area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the highway
b) A site plan showing:
a.
security fencing/hoardings;
b.
site access points;
c.
office / welfare accommodation;
Page 264

d.
e.
f.
g.

c)
d)
e)
f)

g)
h)

where vehicle loading will occur;
storage of materials;
storage of Waste / skips;
detail of scaffolding
Dust mitigation measures
The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts
which shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii)
Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction relates activity.
(iii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement including any
temporary arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring
properties
Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).
Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction
Management Plan requirements and any Environmental Management
Plan requirements (delete reference to Environmental Management Plan
requirements if not relevant).

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to
comply with Policy SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing
and construction of the London Plan (March 2021).
4)

MATERIALS
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, a sample panel showing brick type,
reconstituted precast stone, bond, pointing colour and profile shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
any superstructure works commencing on site.
b) The scheme shall be constructed in those materials as approved under
part (a) of this condition.
Reason: To ensure that the design is delivered in accordance with the details
submitted and assessed so that the development achieves the necessary high
standard and detailing in accordance with Policies 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.

5)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development beyond the
superstructure shall commence until details of refuse and recycling
facilities including food waste bin have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
b) The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding

Page 265

the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).
6)

GREEN ROOF DETAIL
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, detail of the green roofs shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
any superstructure works commencing on site. The detail for green roofs
shall be:
(i) Biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80150mm);
(ii) Include detail on the proposed type and number of plant species to
be used; and
(iii) Include maintenance schedule.
b) The green roofs shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
detail under part (a) of this condition and shall thereafter be permanently
retained and maintained.
c) The green roofs shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any
kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential
maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency.
Reason: To comply with Policy G5 Urban greening in the London Plan (March
2021), Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

7)

SOFT LANDSCAPING
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, furthers detail of the soft landscaping
that would provide more native and wildlife friendly species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
any superstructure works commencing on site.
b) The soft landscaping design approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be carried out strictly in plans and shall thereafter be permanently retained
and maintained.
c) All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the landscaping scheme
hereby approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding
seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner. Any trees or plants which within a
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed
or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.

8)

BOUNDARY TREATMENT AND HARD LANDSCAPING

Page 266

(a)

(b)

Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to superstructure works full
detail and drawings showing hard landscaping and boundary treatment
of any part of the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the
permeability of hard surfaces and manufacturer’s literature to show the
materials clearly) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme
under part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the
development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.
9)

WILDLIFE BOXES
a) Detail of four bird nesting boxed, four bee bricks and two bat rooting boxes
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site.
b) The wildlife boxes and bricks as approved under part (a) of this condition
shall be incorporated in the construction of the development hereby
permitted.
Reason: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision
towards creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity.

10)

TURNTABLE
Details of the how turn-table would operate and be maintained shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to any
superstructure works commencing on site. The works shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the cars can safety egress the site and we would not
approve a reverse gear manoeuvre.

11)

CYCLE STORAGE
The cycle parking facilities shall be provided in accordance with plans G218-201
Rev B, AS1218 01 Rev A03 received on 13 July 2021 and be made available for
use prior to occupation of the development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy
14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

12)

TREES PROTECTION
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with all the
recommendation included in the submitted of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment
(prepared by Tree Radar UK LTD, reference TRUK 0149, dated 30/04/2021
Reason: To comply with Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of the
Core Strategy (June 2011) and policies DM 25 Landscaping and trees and 30
Page 267

Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
13)

SATELLITE DISHES
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), no satellite dishes shall be installed on elevations or the roofs of the
buildings hereby approved.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

14)

PLUMBING AND PIPES
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), no plumbing or pipes, including other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed
on the external faces of the buildings hereby approved.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

15)

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINT
(a)
Details of the number and/or location of electric vehicle charging points to
be provided and a programme for their installation and maintenance shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
construction of the above ground works.
(b)
The electric vehicle charging points as approved shall be installed prior to
occupation of the Development and shall thereafter be retained and maintained in
accordance with the details approved under (a).
Reason: To reduce pollution emissions in an Area Quality Management Area in
accordance with Policy T6 Car parking in the London Plan (March 2021), and DM
Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).

16)

HIGHWAYS WORKS
(a) No development above ground shall commence until the applicants has
entered into S278 agreement with Highway Authority and details of the following
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:
i. Measures to minimise conflict between pedestrians accessing / egressing the
site and vehicles manoeuvring in Collins Street (including changes to surface (on
Collins Street) to delineate the area where pedestrians will access / egress the
site and share the space with vehicles);
ii. Measures to prevent surface water running off onto the public highway;
iii. Reinstatement works to the highway as a result of the removal of part of the
boundary wall; and
iv. Any paint markings on the road.

Page 268

(b) Prior to occupation, the works required under (a) must be completed and
evidence of its completion submitted and approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory means of access is provided, to
ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of traffic or
conditions of general safety along the highway and to comply with Policy 14
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). This is a
pre-commencement condition because the Local Planning Authority needs to be
satisfied that the proposed and required highways works necessary to facilitate
the development can be satisfactorily designed before development starts.
17)

REMOVAL OF PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS (EXTENSIONS)
No extensions or alterations to the building(s) hereby approved, whether or not
permitted under Article 3 to Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting
or modifying that Order) of that Order, shall be carried out without the prior written
permission of the local planning authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted,
the local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of
any further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011).

18)

REMOVAL OF PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS (WINDOWS)
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), no windows (or other openings) shall be constructed in any elevation of
the buildings other than those expressly authorised by this permission.
Reason: To enable the local planning authority to regulate and control any such
further development in the interests of amenity and privacy of adjoining properties
in accordance with DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings
including residential extensions, DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space
standards, and DM Policy 33 Development on infill sites, backland sites, back
gardens and amenity areas of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
1)

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT
The Council engages with all applicants in a positive and proactive way through
specific pre-application enquiries and the detailed advice available on the
Council’s website. On this particular application, positive and proactive
discussions took place with the applicant prior to the application being submitted
through a pre-application discussion. Further positive discussions took place
during the determination which resulted in further information being submitted.

2)

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Page 269

As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form'
to the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must
be submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure
to follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on
CIL is available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/applyfor-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/CommunityInfrastructure-Levy.aspx
3)

STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING
The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site.

4)

DISCHARGE OF CONDITION ON OTHER APPLICATION
The applicant is reminded that Condition 4 (Refuse and Recycling); Condition 5
(Cycle parking for other uses); Condition 6 (Cycle parking for residential use);
Condition 7 (Soft landscaping); and Condition 11 (Rear Courtyard) attached to
planning permission reference DC/19/112018 need to be fully discharged.

5)

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS
The applicant is advised that:
 Condition 3 require submission of detail prior to commencement of any
works on site, including any site clearance or demolition.
 Conditions 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 15 and 16 require submission of detail prior
to any superstructure works commencing on site.

6)

FUTURE MAINTENANCE
The applicant must ensure that any construction and subsequent maintenance
can be carried out to any proposed buildings or structures without adversely
affecting the safety of/or encroaching upon Network Rail’s adjacent land and air
space. Therefore, any building are required to be situated at least 2m from
Network Rail’s boundary

7)

PLANT AND MATERIALS
All operations, including the use of cranes or other mechanical plant working
adjacent to Network Rail’s property, must at all times be carried out in a “fail safe”
manner such that in the event of mishandling, collapse or failure, no plant or
materials are capable of falling within 3.0m of the boundary with Network Rail

Page 270

Note
Do not scale from this drawing.

Dimensions given in mm unless otherwise stated.
All dimensions to be checked on-site.
Any discrepancies to be reported to the architect
before any work commences.

0

10

25

50

75

1:1250 @A3

Rev

Chk By

Reason

Date

-

RM

Planning issue

May 2021

3

1

1a

2

6

1

7

58
18

11

16

5
6

50

14

46

1

4
5

7
4

3
4

36

3

33

29

2

31

34

27
25

23
3

8

3
1

26

13

7

8

REET
NSST
I
L
COL

11

3
2

7

1

20

5

2

3

4
1

18

4
1
a
7
1

1

9
1
16

REET
NSST
I
L
COL

Client
n
o
i
t
a
hSt
t
a
e
h
k
c
a
Bl

BUTCHER CURNOW & CO
Project

8a

29-35 TRANQUIL VALE
Title
8

Page 271

35

30

2

1

o4
1t

TR
AN
QU
I
LV
AL
E

SITE LOCATION PLAN

01: SITE LOCATION PLAN
SCALE 1:1250

Date

Drawn by

April 2021

RM

Scale @ A3

Purpose

1:1250 @ A3

P

Number

Rev

G218-100

-

Unit D Emperor House
020 8692 9130
London SE4 2FL

This page is intentionally left blank

29-35 Tranquil Vale, London, SE3 0BU
Page 273

Application No. DC/21/121861

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.

This is an application for:

Page 274

Demolition of existing office building (Use Class E) and
construction of two three-storey semi-detached houses
(Use Class C3) with associated parking and landscaping
at the rear of 29-35 Tranquil Vale SE3 with access onto
Collins Street.

Application proposal

Page 275

Site location

Page 276

Site location and wider area

Page 277

Photograph of the building to be demolished

Page 278

Proposed front elevation

Page 279

Proposed rear elevation

Page 280

Proposed rear elevation in view

Page 281

Proposed soft and hard landscaping

Page 282

Proposed ground floor plan

Page 283

Proposed first and second floor plan

Key material planning consideration:

Page 284

• Principle of development (loss of employment space
and provision of residential accommodation)
• Urban Design and impact on heritage assets
• Impact on neighbour amenity
• Transport and Highway (highway, car parking, refuse,
construction)
• Sustainability
• Natural environment
Planning considerations

Page 285

THE END

Page 286

Refused and dismissed scheme – proposed front elevation

